
 

 
Cambridge City Council 

 

 
 

 

www.cambridge.gov.uk/meetings  

Community Services Scrutiny Committee 
 
 
Scrutiny Committee Members: Councillors Kightley (Chair), Kerr (Vice 
Chair), Al Bander, Blackhurst, Brown, Sanders, Shah, Todd-Jones and Walker 
Alternate: Councillors Newbold and Brierley 
 
Non-voting co-optees: Diane Best, Anna Vine-Lott and Brian Haywood 
(Tenant/Leaseholder Reps) 
 
PCT Representative: Tom Dutton (Assistant Director of Strategic Planning) 
 
Executive Councillors: 
Executive Councillor for Arts and Recreation: Cllr Cantrill 
Executive Councillor for Housing (and Deputy Leader): Cllr Smart 
Executive Councillor for Community Development and Health: Cllr Bick 
 
Date: Thursday, 14 October 2010 
Time: 1.30 pm 
Venue: Committee Room 1 & 2 - Guildhall 
Contact:  Glenn Burgess Direct Dial:  01223 457169 
 
1    Apologies 

  
 To receive any apologies for absence.  

 
2    Minutes                                                                        (Pages 1 - 20) 

 
 To approve the minutes of the meeting on 1 July 2010.   

 
3    Declarations of Interest 

  
 Members are asked to declare at this stage any interests that they 

may have in an item shown on this agenda. If any member of the 
Committee is unsure whether or not they should declare an interest 
on a particular matter, they should seek advice from the Head of 
Legal Services before the meeting. 

4   Public Questions (See information below) 
  
 

Public Document Pack



 

www.cambridge.gov.uk/meetings  

Items for decision by the Executive Councillor, without debate 
 
These Items will already have received approval in principle from the 
Executive Councillor. The Executive Councillor will be asked to approve the 
rrecommendations as set out in the officer’s report. 
 
There will be no debate on these items, but members of the Scrutiny 
Committee and members of the public may ask questions or comment on the 
items if they comply with the Council’s rules on Public Speaking set out 
below. 
 Items for debate by the Committee and then decision by the Executive 
Councillor 
 
These items will require the Executive Councillor to make a decision after 
hearing the views of the Scrutiny Committee.    
 
There will be a full debate on these items, and members of the public may 
ask questions or comment on the items if they comply with the Council’s rules 
on Public Speaking set out below. 
 
Decisions of the Executive Councillor for Housing 
 
Items for debate by the Committee and then decision by the Executive  
Councillor 
 
Exclusion of the Press and Public 
Item 5 contains confidential appendixes, which are deemed to be confidential. 
If this information is likely to be discussed the Scrutiny Committee is 
recommended to exclude members of the public from the meeting on the 
grounds that, if they were present, there would be disclosure to them of 
information defined as exempt from publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended by 
the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006.  
  
5   Seymour Court Scheme Approval 

 (Pages 21 - 42) 
 

6   Private Sector Leasing (PSL) Procurement 
 (Pages 43 - 46) 
 

7   LAA Performance Report 2009/10: Community Wellbeing 
Partnership 
 (Pages 47 - 52) 
 

 



 

www.cambridge.gov.uk/meetings  

Decisions of the Executive Councillor for Community Development and 
Health 
 
Items for decision by the Executive Councillor, without debate
8    Appointment to outside body 

  
 The Scrutiny Committee is requested to recommend a change in the 

appointment to the outside body listed below.    
  
The Executive Councillor for Community Development & Health, will 
be asked to agree the appointments.  
 
Addenbrooke’s Board of Governors (1) 
Nomination: Cllr Swanson  
  

9   Review of Safer City Grants 
 (Pages 53 - 68) 
 

Items for debate by the Committee and then decision by the Executive 
Councillor 
Items for debate by the Committee and then decision by the Executive 
10 LAA Performance Report 2009/10: Cambridgeshire Children's 

Trust board 
 (Pages 69 - 76) 
 

11 LAA Performance Report 2009/10: Safer and Stronger 
Partnership 
 (Pages 77 - 86) 
 

 
Decisions of the Executive Councillor for Arts and Recreation 
 
 
Items for decision by the Executive Councillor, without debate 
12 Contracts for the supply of production Services to the Folk 

Festival in financial years 2011-2013 
 (Pages 87 - 90) 
 

 
Items for debate by the Committee and then decision by the Executive 
Councillor 
13 Proposals for the improvement and enhancement of Cherry 

Hinton Hall 
 (Pages 91 - 200) 
 



 

www.cambridge.gov.uk/meetings  

14 Cambridge Allotments – A Management Policy 
 (Pages 201 - 214) 
 

15 Project Appraisal - Kelsey Kerridge Climbing wall project: 
Additional funding request 
 (Pages 215 - 220) 
 

16 Project Appraisal - Canoe Club extension: Additional funding 
request 
 (Pages 221 - 226) 
 

17 Cambridge Corn Exchange Review 
 (Pages 227 - 232) 
 



 

www.cambridge.gov.uk/meetings  

 
 
Information for the public 
The next scheduled meeting of the Scrutiny Committee is on 16 March 2010 
Public attendance: You are welcome to attend this meeting as an observer, 
although it may be necessary to ask you to leave the room during the 
discussion of matters which are described as confidential.  
 
Filming, photography and recording is not permitted at council meetings.  Any 
request to do so must be put to the committee manager at least 24 hours 
before the start time of the relevant meeting. 
 
Public Speaking: You can ask questions on an issue included on either 
agenda above, or on an issue which is within this committee’s powers. 
Questions can only be asked during the slot on the agenda for this at the 
beginning of the meeting, not later on when an issue is under discussion by 
the committee. If you wish to ask a question related to an agenda item 
contact the committee officer (listed above under ‘contact’) before the 
meeting starts. If you wish to ask a question on a matter not included on this 
agenda, please contact the committee officer by 10.00am the working day 
before the meeting. Further details concerning the right to speak at committee 
can be obtained from the committee section.  
 
Emergency Evacuation: In the event of a fire or other emergency you will 
hear a continuous ringing alarm. You should leave the building by the nearest 
exit and proceed to the assembly point in St Mary’s Passage on the left hand 
side of Great St Mary’s churchyard.  
 
Do not attempt to use the lifts. Do not attempt to re enter the building until 
given the all clear by a member of the City Council Staff. City Council staff will 
provide assistance with leaving the building. 



This page is intentionally left blank



Community Services Scrutiny Committee 
Thursday, 1 July 2010 

1

COMMUNITY SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 1 July 2010
1.30  - 4.20 pm 

Present:

Executive Councillors: 
Cllr Cantrill, Executive Councillor for Arts and Recreation
Cllr Bick, Executive Councillor for Community Development and Health 
Cllr Smart, Executive Councillor for Housing

Scrutiny Committee Members:
Councillors Kightley (Chair), Kerr (Vice-Chair) Al Bander, Blackhurst, Brown, 
Sanders, Todd-Jones and Walker 

Non-voting co-optees:
Diane Best and Brian Haywood
(Tenant/Leaseholder Representatives)

Officer Present:  
Liz Bissett (Director of Community Services) 
Debbie Kaye (Head of Active Communities) 
Chris Humphris (Principal Accountant) 
Julia Hovells (Finance and Business Manager) 
Jas Lally (Head of Environmental Services) 
Ian Ross (Recreational Services Manager)  
Alistair Wilson (Green Spaces Manager) 
Bob Hadfield (Head of Technical Services) 
Alastair Roberts (Safer Communities Manager) 
Ken Hay (Head of Community Development)
Jackie Hanson (Operations and Resources Manager) 
Paul Bishop (Children and Young People Service Manager) 
Alan Cater (Head of Strategic Housing)
Glenn Burgess (Committee Manager) 

FOR THE INFORMATION OF THE COUNCIL 

10/38/CS Apologies 

Apologies were received from Tenant Representative Anna Vine-LottMinutes

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



Community Services Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 1 July 2010 

2

A slight correction was made to the minutes of 25 March 2010. Under 
‘Declaration of Interest’ it should have been noted that Councillor Walker was a 
Governor of St Matthews School. With this minor correction the minutes were 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 

The minutes of the Special Meeting held on 27 May 2010 were approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair. 
Declarations of Interest 

Councillor Item Interest
Walker Governor of St Matthews School

10/41/CS Public Questions (See information below) 

None

10/42/CS Key Decision - 2009/10 Revenue & Capital Outturn, Carry 
forward requests and significant variances 

Matter for decision: The report presented a summary of the 2009/10 outturn 
position compared to the final budget for the year, the position for revenue and 
capital and variances and requests to 
carry forward funding into 2010/11.

Decision of Executive Councillor for Arts and Recreation:

!" Agreed the carry forward requests, totaling £112,400 as detailed in 
Appendix C of the officers report, to be recommended to Council for 
approval.

!" Sought approval from Council to carry forward capital resources to fund re-
phased net capital spending of £472,000 from 2009/10 into 2010/11, as 
detailed in Appendix D of the officers report. 

Reason for the Decision: This decision was required as part of the Council’s 
budget setting process. 

Any alternative options considered and rejected: As set out in the officer’s 
report.

Page 2



Community Services Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 1 July 2010 

3

Scrutiny Considerations:  
The Principal Accountant introduced the report to members. 

In response to a question from Councillor Todd-Jones, it was confirmed that 
there were a variety of reasons for budget underspends and the resulting carry 
forward requests. These could include projects not being completed on time, 
additional public consultation and outside pressures such as ongoing legal 
negotiations. However it was noted that, whilst there was no formal policy, the 
Council did take a very prudent approach to carry forward requests. 

Councillor Walker asked for further information on the Green Spaces carry 
forward request of £22,610, and the Head of Active Communities confirmed 
that this was due to additional income generated through grazing fees.  

In response to further questions from Councillor Walker the Director of 
Community Services confirmed that: 

- the under achievement in the Corn Exchange marketing income was as a 
result of the current economic downturn.

- the carry forward request for the Community Development Area 
Committee Grant Budgets was due to the activities organised in the Easter 
period crossing over into the new financial year. This money had now 
been spent in full.

The Scrutiny Committee considered and endorsed the recommendations in the 
report by 6 votes to 0 

The Executive Councillor for Arts and Recreation approved the 
recommendations.

Conflicts of interest declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
dispensations granted): None

10/43/CS Non-Key Decision - Cambridge Sport Network 2012 Olympic 
Action Plan 

Matter for decision: To endorse the Cambridge Sport Network 2012 Groups 
Action Plan and agree the role of Cambridge City Council in the run up to the 
2012 Olympics.

Decision of Executive Councillor for Arts and Recreation:

Page 3



Community Services Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 1 July 2010 

4

!" Endorse the proposed stakeholder action plan and actively promote 
opportunities for participation as widely as possible

!" Approved elements specific to Cambridge City Council

Reason for the Decision: To highlight activities and the role of Cambridge 
City Council and key stakeholders in the run up to the 2012 Olympics.

Any alternative options considered and rejected: As set out in the officer’s 
report.

Scrutiny Considerations:  
The Head of Active Communities introduced the report to members. 

In response to a question from Councillor Sanders, it was confirmed that both 
primary and secondary schools and further education colleges had 
programmes in place to help promote and encourage participation in sports in 
the run up to the 2012 Olympics. It was also confirmed that the Schools Sports 
Partnership was involved in the Cambridge Sport Network. 

Councillor Brown asked about opportunities to further promote tourism during 
the Olympics and it was confirmed that the City Centre Manager was currently 
working with County Council colleagues on this issue.

The Executive Councillor for Arts and Recreation highlighted that the City 
Council was a key supporter of sports in Cambridge – providing both 
resources and facilities throughout the city. It was felt that the 2012 Olympics 
would be a good opportunity to celebrate and promote all the good work of the 
City Council.

Councillor Walker proposed a slight amendment to recommendation 2.1 of the 
officer’s report, to read: 

- Endorse the proposed stakeholder action plan and actively promote 
opportunities for participation as widely as possible 

Members agreed this amendment. 

The Scrutiny Committee considered and endorsed the recommendations in the 
report by 8 votes to 0 votes (unanimously)

The Executive Councillor for Arts and Recreation approved the 
recommendations.

Page 4



Community Services Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 1 July 2010 

5

Conflicts of interest declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
dispensations granted): None

10/44/CS Non-Key Decision - Project Appraisal: Works to improve the 
skatepark at Jesus Green 

Matter for decision: Approval of a project to provide a more up to date skate 
facility on Jesus Green.

Decision of Executive Councillor for Arts and Recreation:

!" Recommended the capital scheme (which was not included in the 
Council’s Capital Plan) for approval by Council, subject to resources 
being available to fund the capital cost associated with the Scheme, and 
relevant planning permissions are obtained. The total capital cost of the 
project was estimated to be £65,000, this was to be funded from Informal 
Open Spaces S106. There were no additional revenue implications 
arising from the project. 

!" Added the project to the Capital Plan. 

Reason for the Decision: As set out in the officer’s report.

Any alternative options considered and rejected: As set out in the officer’s 
report.

Scrutiny Considerations:  
The Recreational Services Manager introduced the report to members and 
gave a short powerpoint presentation on the proposed improvements to Jesus 
Green Skate Park. 

In response to a question from Councillor Sanders, it was confirmed that 
options regarding the coloured surfaces had formed part of the consultation 
document, and would need to be formally agreed through planning conditions. 
The Jesus Green Residents Association were keen that any elevated surfaces 
should be designed to blend in with the surrounding area and this was also 
being considered.

The Executive Councillor for Arts and Recreation confirmed that further 
consultation would take place through the planning application process, but felt 
that this was a good example of stakeholders working together towards a 
successful end project. 

Page 5



Community Services Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 1 July 2010 

6

The Scrutiny Committee considered and endorsed the recommendations in the 
report by 8 votes to 0 (unanimously)  

The Executive Councillor for Arts and Recreation approved the 
recommendations.

Conflicts of interest declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
dispensations granted): None

10/45/CS Non-Key Decision - Performance Management Framework for 
Parks and Open Spaces 

Matter for decision: Report on work to date using the Performance 
Management Framework (PMF), an update on the six previously agreed sites 
and recommendations for the future use of the PMF. 

Decision of Executive Councillor for Arts and Recreation:

!" Noted progress to date 
!" Instructed Officers to continue gathering data for comparison purposes 
!" Instructed Officers to identify improvements and incorporate them into 

management plans 
!" Approved the timescales for the replacement planting of the six previously 

approved priority sites 
!" Agreed to engage with stakeholders 

Reason for the Decision: As set out in the officer’s report.

Any alternative options considered and rejected: As set out in the officer’s 
report.

Scrutiny Considerations:  
The Green Spaces Manager introduced the report to members.

In response to a question from Councillor Walker, it was confirmed that whilst 
this report gave an update on just six of the sites, further reports and updates 
would be coming back to this committee.  

Councillor Kightley raised concern that the very dry weather conditions may 
affect the replanting plans, but was reassured that plant selection would be 
looked at carefully to combat this. 

Page 6



Community Services Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 1 July 2010 

7

The Scrutiny Committee considered and endorsed the recommendations in the 
report by 8 votes to 0 (unanimously)  

The Executive Councillor for Arts and Recreation approved the 
recommendations.

Conflicts of interest declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
dispensations granted): None

10/46/CS Key Decision - Response to Communities and Local 
Government (CLG) Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Consultation 'A 
Real Future' 

Matter for decision: Following the CLG Consultation, ‘Reform Council 
Housing Finance’ issued in July 2009, a subsequent detailed consultation 
paper was issued on 24th March 2010, entitled ‘Council Housing: A Real 
Future’. The current consultation confirms the intention to move from the 
current HRA Subsidy regime to a system of self-financing for local authority 
housing. The Executive Councillor is asked to approve a response after 
considering views.  

Decision of Executive Councillor for Housing:

!" Considered the views of Housing Management Board and Community 
Services Scrutiny Committee members and tenant / leaseholder 
representatives.

!" Approved the proposed response to the consultation, at Appendix B of the 
officers report, to be sent to the CLG by 6th July 2010, pending final 
ratification by Council on 22nd July 2010

Reason for the Decision: As set out in the officer’s report.

Any alternative options considered and rejected: As set out in the officer’s 
report.

Scrutiny Considerations:  
The Finance and Business Manager introduced the report to members. 

As Chair of the Housing Management Board, Councillor Blackhurst welcomed 
the report and the recommended consultation response. 

Page 7



Community Services Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 1 July 2010 

8

Councillor Walker question whether the situation had changed since the 
election, and the Finance and Business Manager confirmed that early 
indications were that the new coalition government recognised that the current 
system was no longer fit for purpose and recognised the potential benefits of 
the scheme. Whilst it would depend on the outcomes of the consultation, it 
seemed that there was general support for change. 

The Executive Councillor stated that the new coalition government had 
indicated that they felt the current system was inadequate but again it would 
depend on the consultation outcomes. 
The Scrutiny Committee considered and endorsed the recommendations in the 
report by 8 votes to 0 (unanimously)  

The Executive Councillor for Housing approved the recommendations.

Conflicts of interest declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
dispensations granted): None

10/47/CS Key Decision - 2009/10 Revenue & Capital Outturn, Carry 
forward requests and significant variances 

Matter for decision: The report presented a summary of the 2009/10 outturn 
position compared to the final budget for the year, the position for revenue and 
capital and variances and requests to carry forward funding into 2010/11. 

Decision of Executive Councillor for Housing:

!" Agreed the carry forward requests, totaling £135,470 as detailed in 
Appendix C of the officers report, to be recommended to Council for 
approval.

!" Sought approval from Council to re-phase capital expenditure of £96,000 in 
respect of Management Orders and the Landlord Accreditation Scheme into 
2010/11, as detailed in Appendix D of the officers report. 

!" Sought approval from Council to re-phase capital expenditure of £25,000 in 
respect of investment in private sector housing grants and loans into 
2010/11 and recognised the use of £41,000 more resource in 2010/11 than 
anticipated, in respect of the Assessment Centre, as detailed in Appendix E 
of the officers report and the associated notes. 

!" Sought approval from Council to carry forward capital resources to fund re-
phased net capital spending of £1,389,000 between 2009/10 and 2010/11, 
in relation to investment in the Housing Revenue Account stock, as part of 

Page 8



Community Services Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 1 July 2010 

9

the Housing Capital Investment Plan, as detailed in Appendix E of the 
officers report and the associated notes. 

!" Confirmed inclusion of £500,000 in 2010/11, £815,000 in 2011/12 and 
£60,000 in 2012/13 in respect of the redevelopment works at Roman Court 
in the Housing Capital Investment Plan, as approved by Community 
Services in March 2010. 

!" Confirmed inclusion of £236,000 in 2010/11, to meet the decant costs of 
Seymour Court in the Housing Capital Investment Plan, as approved by 
Community Services in March 2010.

Reason for the Decision: This decision was required as part of the Council’s 
budget setting process. 

Any alternative options considered and rejected: As set out in the officer’s 
report.

Scrutiny Considerations:  
The Finance and Business Manager introduced the report to members. 

In response to a question from Councillor Walker regarding the Bed and 
Breakfast budgets, the Head of Strategic Housing confirmed that, as this was 
needs led, it was very difficult to budget for. A new approach was being trailed 
by the Housing Options Team in order to offer accommodation within the 
Councils own services, and it was hoped that this would reduce costs and 
minimise the need to place families outside of Cambridge 

In response to a question from Councillor Walker regarding the RSL 
Partnership Project, the Finance and Business Manager confirmed that this 
funding had been for specific strategic work. The funding was requested to be 
carried forward to either resurrect this work in 2010/11 or to allow it to be 
returned to the RSL contributors.

In response to a question from Councillor Walker regarding Jimmy’s Night 
Shelter, the Finance and Business Manager confirmed that the overspend was 
as a result of the phasing of the project within each year and did not represent 
an anticipated overspend in totality.  

The Scrutiny Committee considered and endorsed the recommendations in the 
report by 6 votes to 0 

The Executive Councillor for Housing approved the recommendations.

Page 9



Community Services Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 1 July 2010 

10

Conflicts of interest declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
dispensations granted): None Exclusion of press and the public 

Before considering the next item the Chair asked that members of the public 
be excluded from the meeting on the grounds that, if they were present, there 
would be disclosure to them of information defined as exempt from publication 
by virtue of paragraph 1, 2 & 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 as amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information) (Variation) Order 2006. 
Key Decision - ANNUAL REVIEW OF 3-YEAR AFFORDABLE HOUSING 

PROGRAMME 

Matter for decision: A 3-year rolling programme of Housing owned sites, for 
consideration for development, redevelopment or disposal, was approved by 
the Executive Councillor for Housing in June 2009. This report provided an 
annual review of the programme and sought approval of a revised 3-year 
rolling programme, which includes 9 sites to be investigated in year 2010/11.

Decision of Executive Councillor for Housing:

!" Noted progress of schemes approved for consideration for development, 
redevelopment or disposal in 2009/10 

!" Approved the revised 3 Year rolling programme for 20010/11 to 2012/13 

Reason for the Decision: As set out in the officer’s report.

Any alternative options considered and rejected: As set out in the officer’s 
report.

Scrutiny Considerations: The Head of Strategic Housing introduced the 
report and answered members questions on the proposed Investigations 
Programme as included in the confidential appendix to the officers report. 

The Scrutiny Committee considered and endorsed the recommendations in the 
report by 8 votes to 0 (unanimously)  

The Executive Councillor for Housing approved the recommendations.

Page 10



Community Services Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 1 July 2010 

11

Conflicts of interest declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
dispensations granted): None Non-Key Decision -Retrospective 
approval of Project Appraisal for Landlord Accreditation Energy Grant 
scheme

Matter for decision: East of England Regional Assembly (EERA) invited local 
authorities to bid for grant funding from the regional Housing Pot to support the 
Private Sector Renewal, Regeneration and mixed communities programme. In 
consultation with Executive 
Councillor for Housing, a bid was made to provide financial assistance to those 
private sector landlords who are committed to improving the standard of their 
properties and are members of the Councils Landlord Accreditation scheme. 
The bid was successful and the Council received a grant of £50,000 for 
2009/10 and £50,000 for 2010/11 from East of England Regional Assembly. 
Although the project documentation was included in the Council’s capital plan, 
Officers had not gained approval from Asset Management Team and the 
Executive Councillor for Housing. To address this, Officers have taken a report 
to Asset Management Team and are now seeking approval from the Executive 
Councillor for Housing. 

Decision of Executive Councillor for Housing:

!" Retrospectively approved the project appraisal for Landlord Accreditation 
Energy Grant Scheme, which was included in the Council’s Capital Plan 

Reason for the Decision: 

Any alternative options considered and rejected: As set out in the officer’s 
report.

Scrutiny Considerations:  
The Head of Environmental Services introduced the report to
members.

In response to a question from Councillor Walker, it was confirmed that the 
scheme was being promoted to all landlords.  

The Executive Councillor for Housing did however acknowledge the difficulty of 
promoting the scheme as landlords were required to cover the initial costs, 
whilst it was their tenants that received the benefits.  

Page 11



Community Services Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 1 July 2010 

12

The Scrutiny Committee considered and endorsed the recommendations in the 
report by 8 votes to 0  (unanimously)  

The Executive Councillor for Housing approved the recommendations.

Conflicts of interest declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
dispensations granted): None

10/51/CS Key Decision - 2009/10 Revenue & Capital Outturn, Carry 
forward requests and significant variances 

Matter for decision: The report presented a summary of the 2009/10 outturn 
position compared to the final budget for the year, the position for revenue and 
capital and variances and requests to 
carry forward funding into 2010/11.

Decision of Executive Councillor for Community Development and 
Health:

!" Considered the variances reported as detailed in Appendix B of the officers 
report subject to the final outturn position. 

!" Agree forward requests, totaling £ 37,110 as detailed in Appendix C, of the 
officers report, be recommended to Council for approval. 

!" Sought approval from Council to rephase net capital spending of £237,000 
from 2009/10 into 2010/11 as detailed in Appendix D of the officers report.

Reason for the Decision: This decision was required as part of the Council’s 
budget setting process. 

Any alternative options considered and rejected: As set out in the officer’s 
report.

Scrutiny Considerations:  
The Principal Accountant introduced the report to members. 
In response to a question from Councillor Walker, the Head of Community 
Development confirmed that the underspend in the Community Centres budget 
was as a result of an overachievement in income for the last quarter at the 
Meadows Community Centre and Buchan St in particular. 

Page 12



Community Services Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 1 July 2010 

13

Councillor Walker also asked for further information on the Green Spaces 
carry forward request of £22,610, and the Head of Active Communities 
highlighted a number of contributory factors and agreed to provide more detail 
in writing.

In response to a question from Councillor Walker, the Head of Technical 
Services confirmed that the cremation income was significantly lower than 
budgeted partly due to increased competition in the local area. This would be 
taken into account when budgeting for future years. 

The Scrutiny Committee considered and endorsed the recommendations in the 
report by 6 votes to 0

The Executive Councillor for Community Development and Health approved 
the recommendations.

Conflicts of interest declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
dispensations granted): None

10/52/CS Key Decision - Mercury abatement Contract payments 

Matter for decision: In 2005 a decision was taken for the crematorium run by 
the Council to seek to reduce mercury omissions, and therefore to install plant 
that would achieve this.  A constitutional waiver would be required in order to 
make advance contractual payments for the equipment.

Decision of Executive Councillor for Community Development and 
Health:

!" Sought permission via Full Council to allow a constitutional waiver in 
that, officers be allowed to make advance contractual payments as 
outlined in the officers report at 3.7.1, so as to ensure that the project 
procurement process may proceed and the project completed within 
required timescales. 

Reason for the Decision: By 2012 all councils would be required either to 
reduce mercury emissions from crematoria by 50%, or to pay into a national 
penalty scheme of abatement credits, which would operate like carbon 
offsetting.

Page 13



Community Services Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 1 July 2010 

14

Any alternative options considered and rejected: As set out in the officer’s 
report.

Scrutiny Considerations:  
The Head of Technical Services introduced the report to members. 

In response to a question from Councillor Walker, it was confirmed that 
services would be maintained throughout the installation of the new 
equipment.

The Scrutiny Committee considered and endorsed the recommendations in the 
report by 8 votes to 0  (unanimously)  

The Executive Councillor for Community Development and Health approved 
the recommendations.

Conflicts of interest declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
dispensations granted): None

10/53/CS Non-Key Decision - Operational Guidance s. 30 Dispersal 
Orders.

Matter for decision: The report sets out the Operational Guidance on the use 
of Dispersal Powers by Cambridgeshire Constabulary in the City of Cambridge 
under sections 30 – 36 of the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 (more commonly 
referred to as “section 30”). 

Decision of Executive Councillor for Community Development and 
Health:

!" Noted the content of the report and the Operational Guidance attached 
to the officer’s report. 

!" Noted the process for considering applications from the police and, in 
particular, where it was necessary for the local authority to decide quickly 
whether or not it would grant consent.  This “fast track” process was 
shown graphically in the flowchart on page 14 of the officers report.   

!" Requested that a further report on the operation of the fast track 
mechanism be brought back to this committee in twelve months time. 

Reason for the Decision: As set out in the officer’s report.

Page 14



Community Services Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 1 July 2010 

15

Any alternative options considered and rejected: As set out in the officer’s 
report.

Scrutiny Considerations:  
The Safer Communities Manager introduced the item to members. 

Councillor Walker welcomed the officer’s report and highlighted the need to 
publicise the revised S30 process to the public.  

Councillor Brown echoed these points, and highlighted that local residents had 
become frustrated with the current process. She sought clarity on what police 
action would come out of a report of anti-social behaviour. 

In response, Inspector Kerridge highlighted the need for the public to report all 
incidents of anti-social behaviour. This should be done via the 0345 number 
and all individual cases would then be investigated, with the data used to 
inform the S30 process. 

The Executive Councillor for Community Development and Health highlighted 
that, from 2 July, there would be no S30 Dispersal Orders in the City and this 
was down to the good work of the police and other agencies. He welcomed the 
clearer process proposed in the officers report. 

In response to a request from Councillor Walker for a further report on the 
success of DPPO’s in other cities, the Executive Councillor felt that the priority 
should be to look at root causes and prevention measures. A further report on 
these issues would be brought to a future West/Central Area Committee and it 
was agreed that this would be shared with all members.

The Scrutiny Committee considered and endorsed the recommendations in the 
report by 8 votes to 0 (unanimously)  

The Executive Councillor for Community Development and Health approved 
the recommendations.

Conflicts of interest declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
dispensations granted): None

10/54/CS Non-Key Item - New Town Capital Grant Programme 

Page 15



Community Services Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 1 July 2010 

16

Matter for decision: To provide funding and grant aid for capital projects that 
would improve community provision, services and development for residents 
living in the New Town area of the city. 

Decision of Executive Councillor for Community Development and 
Health:

!" Noted the progress and achievements to date of the New Town Capital 
Grant Programme.

!" Included a bid of £125,000 to be considered in the Medium Term Strategy 
process to extend the programme to 2013 in accordance with the remit.

Reason for the Decision: As set out in the officer’s report.

Any alternative options considered and rejected: As set out in the officer’s 
report.

Scrutiny Considerations: The Head of Community Development introduced 
the report to members. 

Councillor Blackhurst welcomed the report and highlighted the benefits of local 
communities working together to identify funding priorities. 

In response to a question from Councillor Walker regarding the proposed 
community room, the Head of Community Development confirmed that space 
had been allocated on the Cambridge University Press site and it was hoped 
that this could be integrated with the New Town area. 

The Scrutiny Committee considered and endorsed the recommendations in the 
report by 8 votes to 0 (unanimously)  

The Executive Councillor for Community Development and Health approved 
the recommendations.

Conflicts of interest declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
dispensations granted): None

10/55/CS Non-Key Decision Big Lottery  /  Urban Adventure Play 
Project Appraisal 

Page 16



Community Services Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 1 July 2010 

17

Matter for decision: The report accompanied the retrospective appraisals for 
the Urban Adventure Play Base at Cherry Hinton Hall and Bramblefields Play 
Installation, for additional S106 funding to be released to cover the cost of 
MCA certification for the ChYpPS Community Play Boat and a separate project 
appraisal for the Play Trails at Cherry Hinton Hall. 

Decision of Executive Councillor for Community Development and 
Health:

!" Approved the Big Lottery Urban Adventure Play Portfolio Project Appraisal 
!" Approved the Big Lottery Play Trails Project Appraisal 
!" Approved an additional £35k from section 106 resources from Community 

Development to enable the ChYpPS Community Play boat to comply with 
MCA certification requirements 

Reason for the Decision: As set out in the officer’s report.

Any alternative options considered and rejected: As set out in the officer’s 
report.

Scrutiny Considerations:  
The Children and Young Peoples Service Manager introduced the report to 
members.

The Scrutiny Committee considered and endorsed the recommendations in the 
report by 8 votes to 0 (unanimously)  

The Executive Councillor for Community Development and Health approved 
the recommendations.

Conflicts of interest declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
dispensations granted): None

10/56/CS Non-Key Decision - Funding for the Cambridge Refugee and 
Migrant Support Service 

Matter for decision: To provide funding on a month-by-month basis for the 
Cambridge Refugee and Migrant Support Service.  

Decision of Executive Councillor for Community Development and 
Health:

Page 17



Community Services Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 1 July 2010 

18

!" To fund the Cambridge Ethnic Community Forum to host and run the 
Cambridge Refugee and Migrant Support Service on a month by month 
basis until a maximum period to 31st March 2011, at a cost of £1,900 a 
month.

Reason for the Decision: The Cambridge Refugee and Migrant Support 
Service was only funded up to the end of June 2010 by the Cambridge Local 
Strategic Partnership through a LPSA reward grant in recognition of the 
important contribution this service makes to economic migrants, refugees and 
asylum seekers in the City. 

Any alternative options considered and rejected: As set out in the officer’s 
report.

Scrutiny Considerations: The Operations and Resources Manager 
introduced the report to members.

Councillor Walker questioned whether officers were confident that the 
Cambridge Ethnic Community Forum (CECF) had the human resources to 
continue with the project. In response the Operations and Resources Manager 
confirmed an extensive review had been undertaken over the last year and it 
was felt that CECF were very well placed to continue the service. It was also 
noted that CECF worked closely with other agencies to bring in specialist 
advice and, as the funding was proposed on a month-by-month basis, the 
Council would continue to monitor its progress.   

The Scrutiny Committee considered and endorsed the recommendations in the 
report by 8 votes to 0 (unanimously)  

The Executive Councillor for Community Development and Health approved 
the recommendations.

Conflicts of interest declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
dispensations granted): None

The meeting ended at 4.20 pm 

Page 18



Community Services Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 1 July 2010 

19

CHAIR 

Page 19



Page 20

This page is intentionally left blank



Cambridge City Council Item

To: Executive Councillor for Housing 

Report by: Director of Customer and Community Services 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

COMMUNITY SERVICES 14/10/10

Wards affected: Romsey

SEYMOUR COURT SCHEME APPROVAL
Key Decision 

NOTE – Appendices NOT FOR PUBLICATION: These relate to items 
during which the public is likely to be excluded from the meeting by 
virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 as amended by the Local Government (Access 
to Information) (Variation) Order 2006.

1. Executive summary

The report is about how Seymour Court could be redeveloped with new  
Affordable Housing being retained by the Council and managed by City 
Homes. In order to do this in a way that is viable for the Council, a mixed 
tenure scheme would need to be agreed with a house-builder/developer 
partner and an appropriate disposal of land or flats to the partner agency will 
need to be approved. 

A special meeting of the Community Services Scrutiny Committee is 
proposed to be held in November to approve a final scheme for the 
redevelopment of Seymour Court. The report also requests that the Director 
be given delegated authority in respect of the procurement process.

2. Recommendations 

The Executive Councillor is recommended: 

!" To approve the redevelopment of Seymour Court as a mixed tenure 
development with the Affordable Housing to be retained by the 
Council and managed by City Homes, noting the comments of the 
Housing Management Board held on 28 September 2010. 

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 5

Page 21



Report Page No: 2 

!" To only pursue the current approval to sell Seymour Court to a 
housing association under a long lease, if a mixed tenure 
development with the Affordable Housing to be retained by the 
Council and managed by City Homes is not financial viable.    

!" To approve that delegated authority be given to the Director of 
Customer and Community Services following consultation with the 
Director of Resources and the Head of Legal Services to sign a 
Development Agreement with a single house-builder/developer 
partner in respect of a scheme to redevelop Seymour Court. That this 
approval is subject to the approval of a scheme at a special meeting of 
the Community Services Committee in November 2010.    

3. Background 

Seymour Court as part of the Sheltered Housing Modernisation 
Programme

At the Community Services Committee on the 17 November 2005 the 
Executive Councillor for Housing & Health approved the sale of Seymour 
Court under a long lease to a housing association for redevelopment for 
Affordable Housing. This decision was made as part of the Council’s overall 
programme to modernise its sheltered housing. The longstanding aim has 
been to find alternative accommodation for tenants of Seymour Court by the
end December 2010 (this process is well underway) in order to sell the land 
for Seymour Court by the end of March 2011.

At the time, the redevelopment of Seymour Court by a housing association 
was the only viable option to deliver new Affordable Housing. Over the last 
eighteen months, the financial environment within which Council’s operate 
has begun to change to allow serious consideration to the redevelopment of 
Seymour Court with new Affordable Housing being retained by the Council 
and managed by City Homes.

Approval is currently being sought through the September and October 
Committee cycle from Housing Management Board and the Community 
Services Scrutiny Committee to pursue the redevelopment of Seymour 
Court with new Affordable Housing being retained by the Council and 
managed by City Homes as the preferred option.  

Page 22



Report Page No: 3 

Recent Changes and the Affordable Housing Development Partnership 

At the Community Services Scrutiny Committee on 25 March 2010 the 
Executive Councillor for Housing approved that an Affordable Housing 
Development Partnership be set up to provide new Affordable Housing on 
Council owned sites.

As part of this process it was approved that, in the event of changes to the 
financial environment, delegated authority be given to the Director of 
Community Services following consultation with the Director of Finance and 
the Head of Legal Services to complete a procurement process to select 
and appoint two developer/house-builder partners to join the Affordable 
Housing Development Partnership to progress new Council house-building 
(subsequent procurement law advice has steered officers towards selecting 
one partner not two). Approval was also given to procure the services of a 
professional property consultant to assist with the assessment of the 
financial viability of schemes. Further, it was noted that should the financial 
environment change (including further capital grant becoming available), 
schemes for new Council house building on Council owned sites will be 
brought back to Committee for scheme specific approval.

The March 2010 Committee Report indicated that it was a possibility the 
Council may be able to bid for further grant from the Homes and 
Communities Agency (HCA) to deliver more schemes itself, but at that time 
it was not certain that there would be the opportunity. To ensure the Council 
is best placed to bid for grant however, officers set up a tender process to 
select a preferred developer/house-builder with which to work up a scheme 
at Seymour Court. The tender evaluation process was completed on 2 
September and a single preferred partner has been selected.

At the beginning of August 2010 the HCA announced that there would be a 
bidding round for grant (the first and probably only round in 2010/11) and 
that a bid from the Council in respect of Seymour Court would be 
considered. The deadline for bids was 31 August with decision expected by 
the end of September. Therefore officers needed to move quickly and an 
indicative bid was submitted but can be changed or withdrawn subject to 
Committee scrutiny and approval.  Due to the grant funding changes 
outlined above there is this opportunity for the Council not to transfer the 
Seymour Court land to a housing association but to re-develop the site with 
our developer/house-builder partner and for the Affordable Housing to be 
retained and managed by City Homes.

Page 23



Report Page No: 4 

To bid for grant a Baseline Scheme was established and its viability 
assessed by our professional property consultant, Cyril Sweett. In order to 
achieve a financially viable scheme for the Council that was competitive to 
secure HCA grant, the Baseline Scheme needs an element of market 
housing to cross-subsidise the Affordable Housing 

In summary the Baseline Scheme is as follows 

Scheme Mix   

Affordable Housing  

2 No 1 bed apartments 
19 No 2 bed apartments 

Market Housing  

9 No 2 bed apartments

!" The Affordable Housing to be for people aged 55 and over 
!" 2 of the 2 bed Affordable Housing units to be fully wheelchair 

accessible, the remainder to meet Lifetime Homes Standard 
!" All units to meet Level 4 of the Code for Sustainable Housing 
!" The Market Housing would be built and sold at the developer/house-

builder partners risk. The Council would not be able to buy any of the 
Market Housing back at any stage if they did not meet our standards. 

Appendix 1 shows how the Baseline Scheme would be funded including the 
bid for grant.

Through the tender process our selected partner has indicated that 
significant improvements can be made to the Baseline Scheme to a point 
where, should it be possible to increase the number of market housing, 
much less HCA grant or City Council capital investment would be required 
to deliver the same number of Affordable Housing. Alternatively, more 
Affordable Housing may be achievable for less HCA grant and City Council 
capital investment. Appendix 2 provides a comparison of the viability of the 
Baseline Scheme with two other scenarios that either improve the viability of 
the scheme for the Council and/or increase the numbers of Affordable 
Housing. The figures in Appendix 2 should be treated with caution as they 
are still to be validated by officers and Cyril Sweett, but are provided for 
illustrative purposes.

Page 24



Report Page No: 5 

The Baseline Scheme at the grant level bid for is at the limit of what would 
be considered viable for the Council in terms of established financial 
measures. Further details are provided in Appendix 1. In terms of ‘value for 
money’ the grant per unit and cost per unit of the Affordable Housing are 
comparable with housing association scheme costs. These financial 
indicators need to be considered alongside the value of maintaining City 
Homes stock at sufficient levels to ensure enable the continuing delivery of 
and efficient housing service.        

Negotiations with the partner house-builder/developer are progressing to 
agree a final scheme that is satisfactory to the Housing Service and is 
financially viable to for the Council. Planning approval will be required and 
an appropriate level of grant may be required to make the scheme viable. 
The complexity of the scheme and the timing of negotiations will mean that 
a special Community Services Scrutiny Committee will be required in 
November to approve a final scheme.  

Appendix 3 provides a more detailed summary of the scheme using the 
Council’s standard project appraisal format.

Appendix 4 is a summary of the key milestones of the Project to achieve a 
Start on Site by the end of March 2011.

Key Points on the Proposed Disposal of Land

The final scheme currently being negotiated with the house-
builder/developer partner will potentially involve either the disposal of 
freehold plots where Market Housing is proposed and/or disposal under 
long leases where Market Apartments are involved. The Council will retain 
the freehold of land upon which the Affordable Housing is provided and the 
freehold of land should Market Apartments be provided.  

The Council is not committed to working with our preferred partner unless 
they are able to deliver the Baseline Scheme summarised above, or an 
improved scheme, and conditional on other requirements that it is the 
intention to control and procure by way of a Development Agreement and a 
standard form of JCT Design and Build contract to cover the building works. 
Full draft agreements have been produced with internal legal advice 
together with external legal input and advice from Cyril Sweett.

In summary, the key points of the draft Development Agreement are as 
follows;

Page 25



Report Page No: 6 

!" The contractual arrangements with the house-builder/developer are 
conditional on the achievement of a satisfactory planning permission. 

!" They are also conditional on the Council confirming it has secured 
sufficient funding for the Project. 

!" The Council must approve a scheme prior to the house-
builder/developer submitting a planning application. 

!" The house-builder/developer must submit a planning application 20 
working days after exchanging the Development Agreement. 

!" The cost to the Council is capped at 10% above a cost of a final 
scheme agreed with the house-builder/developer to allow for any 
onerous conditions that may be applied through the planning process 
(this is within the limits allowed by the Council’s Contract Procedure 
Rules).

!" Once a satisfactory planning permission is achieved (and subject to 
funding being in place), the building contract must be completed within 
10 working days. 

!" Any subsequent completion of leases of land or flats to the house-
builder/developer will take place 20 working days following Practical 
Completion as defined in the build contract. 

4. Background papers 

None

5. Appendices 

Appendix 1: Scheme Finance 
Appendix 2: Financial Appraisal Information 
Appendix 3: Project Appraisal and Scrutiny Committee Recommendation 
Report
Appendix 4: Project Key Milestones

6. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: Alan Carter
Author’s Phone Number: 01223 – 457948
Author’s Email: alan.carter@cambridge.gov.uk 

Page 26



Page 27

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 30

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 31

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 32

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 33

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 40

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 41

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 42

This page is intentionally left blank



Cambridge City Council Item

To: Executive Councillor for Housing 

Report by: Director of Customer and Community Services 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Community Services Scrutiny 
Committee

14th October 
2010

Wards affected: All Wards 

Private Sector Leasing (PSL) Scheme 
Key Decision 

1. Executive summary

1.1 The Council has been commissioning a private sector leasing scheme 
via a Registered Social Landlord (RSL) partner since the early 1990s. 
The primary function of the PSL scheme has been to help the Council 
discharge its duty to provide homeless households with temporary 
accommodation under part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 (sections 188 
and 193). The Council is now required by its Contract Procedure 
Rules to put this service out to tender. If a contract is subsequently 
entered into, the Council wishes to switch the primary focus of the 
service to provide accommodation to prevent, rather than respond to 
homelessness. Members are asked to support the proposal in this 
report and accept the officer recommendation that it offers the best 
value-for-money option for the Council. 

2. Recommendations 

The Executive Councillor is recommended: 

2.1 To authorise officers to enter into a contract with a PSL provider in 
2011, subject to a tender process, for a period of five years with an 
option to extend the contract for a further two years 

3. Background 

3.1 Since the early 1990s the Council has formed a partnership with King 
Street Housing Society (KSHS) to provide leased properties in the 
private rented sector. 

3.2 The properties provided under this PSL scheme have enabled private 
landlords in Cambridge and its surrounds to lease properties to KSHS 
for an agreed period of time (usually several years) for an agreed fee 

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 6

Page 43



Report Page No: 2 

based on KSHS taking on the management and maintenance of the 
property, depending on the lease agreement. 

3.3 The Council then has the opportunity to nominate households to 
occupy the property in order to discharge its duty to provide homeless 
households with temporary accommodation under part 7 of the 
Housing Act 1996 (sections 188 and 193). 

3.4 The Council has used the PSL scheme to augment its own temporary 
housing stock. 

3.5 In recent years the Government Department now known as 
Communities and Local Government (CLG) has set a target of a 50% 
reduction in the use of temporary accommodation for homeless 
households, to be achieved by December 2010. 

3.6 When the target was set in January 2005 the baseline figure for 
households in temporary accommodation in Cambridge was 140.  

3.7 While the figures do fluctuate, at 30th June 2010 the Council had 
exactly 70 households in temporary accommodation and much of this 
reduction has been delivered by increased efficiency in turnover of 
households into permanent accommodation. 

3.8 Over the last few years the Council has significantly reduced its PSL 
portfolio with KSHS. This is partly due to the need to meet the 
temporary accommodation target, but also in preparation for the 
requirement to re-tender the service. The Council now only has 4 PSL 
properties with KSHS. 

3.9 In preparation for a PSL procurement a small piece of research on 
local authority approaches to PSL schemes was completed and the 
results of the findings have influenced this report and are cited as a 
background paper 

3.10 From this piece of work officers have concluded that we should aim to 
procure a PSL scheme, or similar, at zero cost to the local authority – 
it is clear that schemes of this nature do exist elsewhere and that 
providers can recover costs through the rents alone without seeking 
additional funds from the local authority. 

3.11 Given the ongoing need to meet and potentially exceed the temporary 
accommodation target, the Council is primarily looking to use PSL 
properties to prevent homelessness and reduce the pressure on the 
Council in terms of homeless applications and demand for temporary 
accommodation.

Page 44



Report Page No: 3 

3.12 The development of an Assessment Centre for rough sleepers in 
Cambridge with a limited stay means that the Council is also looking 
to assist voluntary agencies providing homelessness accommodation 
services in the City to extend the range of move on options for service 
users – the PSL scheme may also provide additional options here. 

3.13 The Council’s Strategic Procurement Adviser has assessed this 
venture as a ‘relevant contract’ under clause 3.1 of the Council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules because, although it is being sought at zero 
cost to the local authority, it has a ‘money’s worth’ value to the 
provider and, therefore, should be exposed to a competitive process. 

4. Implications 

4.1 In recommending a long-term contract for the PSL scheme officers 
would ask Members to consider the following:

a) If a successful tender process takes place the service will be 
contracted at zero cost to the local authority

b) There are practical difficulties in building up a large portfolio of 
properties in a short period of time – the Council is looking for a 
minimum portfolio of at least 100 properties and this could take up to 3 
years to deliver. Therefore, there will be a requirement for contracts to 
overlap to allow for a sufficient supply of properties and to allow 
providers to wind down existing leasing arrangements with landlords 
in the event of a change of contractor. 

4.2 In assessing the ‘money’s worth’ value of a seven year contract a 
calculation has been made based on the number of properties that 
may be provided per annum, the range of sizes of property required 
by the Council and the rent the provider would charge the tenant. 

4.3 On the basis of the above the annual turnover (not profit) for a 
provider is calculated to be in the region of £232,750, which translates 
to a total contract value of £1,629,250. 

4.4 There are no discernable risks to the Council in entering into a 
contract of this nature but the supply of properties may be at risk if the 
Government chose to introduce a formal link between RSL rents and 
the Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates in Cambridge. The contract 
will provide for some flexibility on property locations to mitigate against 
this risk. 

Page 45



Report Page No: 4 

5. Background papers 

These background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 

Private Sector Leasing – Evaluating the way forward for Cambridge

6. Appendices 

None

7. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: David Greening 
Author’s Phone Number: 01223 457997 
Author’s Email: david.greening@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 46



Cambridge City Council Item

To: Community Services Scrutiny Committee 

Report by: Executive Councillor for Community Development 
and Health – Cllr. Tim Bick and the Executive 
Councillor for Housing – Cllr Catherine Smart 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Community Services Scrutiny 
Committee

Wards affected: All Wards 

Draft: LAA Performance Report 2009/10 - COMMUNITY WELLBEING 
PARTNERSHIP

Not a Key Decision 

1. Executive summary

1.1 The City Council is a key partner in Cambridgeshire Together. This 
partnership had overall responsibility for negotiating the Local Area 
Agreement (LAA) for Cambridgeshire and is overseeing its delivery. 

1.2 Cambridgeshire Together has delegated responsibility for delivery of 
targets within the LAA to 6 thematic strategic partnerships.  The 
Leader sits on Cambridgeshire Together and an Executive Councillor 
from the City Council sits on each of the thematic strategic 
partnerships.

1.3 It was agreed that they should present an annual report on 
performance against their partnership’s LAA targets to the relevant 
City Council Scrutiny Committee. This paper relates to the LAA targets 
delegated to the Community Wellbeing Partnership under the theme 
of Equality and Inclusion. The Executive Councillor for Housing 
represents the City Council on this partnership. The member function 
in the Supporting People Partnership has recently transferred to the 
Community Wellbeing Partnership and the lead for the Council for this 
is area is the Executive Councillor for Housing.

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 7

Page 47



Report Page No: 2 

2. Recommendations 

The Scrutiny Committee is recommended to: 

2.1 Consider the 2009/10 year-end performance against the LAA 
indicators that have been assigned to the Community Wellbeing 
Partnership.

2.2 Advise the Executive Councillors of any issues or suggestions for 
further action that the partnership should consider to improve 
performance against the indicators.  

3. Background 

3.1 An approach to our involvement in, and reporting on, county-wide 
thematic strategic partnerships was agreed by the Leader at Strategy 
and Resources scrutiny committee on 19 January 2009. Executive 
Councillors, nominated by the Council, now sit on the Cambridgeshire 
Together Board alongside other key public service stakeholders in the 
county and are involved in each of its six thematic strategic 
partnerships.

3.2 It was agreed that they should present an annual report on 
performance against their partnership’s LAA targets to the relevant 
City Council Scrutiny Committee. This paper relates to the LAA targets 
‘owned’ by the Community Wellbeing Partnership under the theme of 
Equality and Inclusion.

4. Introduction to the Community Wellbeing Partnership 

4.1 Councillor Catherine Smart (Supporting People) and Councillor Tim 
Bick represent the City Council on this partnership. 

4.2 The Community Wellbeing Partnership is one of the two Thematic 
Strategic Partnerships that support the Cambridgeshire Together 
Vision theme of ‘Equality and Inclusion’.  The other Partnership 
supporting this theme is Cambridgeshire Children’s Trust. 

4.3 The overarching purpose of the Community Wellbeing Partnership 
(CWP) is to ensure that different local agencies work together 
effectively to improve the health and wellbeing of Cambridgeshire 
residents and to improve outcomes for adults with health and care 
needs. This incorporates preventive services, support for independent 
living, and provision of health and social care. 

Page 48



Report Page No: 3 

4.4 Since the previous report of some of the underlying partnerships 
supporting the CWP have been modified. The Health and Wellbeing 
Officer Group and the Adult Care Transformation Group have now 
merged and the Supporting People Partnership has become a 
Supporting People Officer Commissioning Group, with the Member 
function has passing to the CWP. 

4.5 The CWP links directly with local Improving Health Partnerships and 
other sub-groups, allowing alignment of district and county level 
initiatives.  The CWP also has links with a number of county-wide 
groups including the Older People’s Partnership Board, other Adult 
Care Partnership Boards, the Adult Safeguarding Board, the Tobacco 
Control Alliance, the Obesity Strategy Group and the county-wide 
Homelessness Executive. 

4.6 During the past year the CWP has focussed on the following areas: 
!" ‘Shaping Our Future – A Framework for Action: Transforming Adult 

Social Care in Cambridgeshire through Personalisation’.  
!" The Supporting People Impact Assessment and the revised 

Supporting People Strategy have both been discussed at the CWP 
and the importance of building Supporting People into a wide range 
of relevant strategies and work streams has been emphasised.

!" The CWP is the lead Partnership for the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA).  

!" The CWP is the lead partnership for the Cambridgeshire Strategy 
and Action Framework to Tackle Health Inequalities and it will 
monitor ongoing implementation of the Strategy and Action 
Framework, against an agreed set of metrics. 

!" The CWP has overseen performance monitoring of the following 
LAA targets: 

o NI 56 Reducing childhood obesity (year 6) 
o NI 70 Hospital admissions for children/young people for 

intentional and non-intentional injuries 
o NI 120 All age all cause mortality in the 20% most deprived 

areas of Cambridgeshire
o NI 123 Age 16+ smoking prevalence (smoking quitters) 
o NI 125 Achieving independence for older people through 

rehabilitation and intermediate care 
o NI 131 Delayed transfers of care from hospital
o NI 135 Carers receiving needs assessment, review or other 

services 
o NI136 People support to live independently through social 

services 
o NI 141 Numbers of vulnerable people achieving independent 

living

Page 49



5.0 Performance against LAA targets  

5.1 Overall the majority of performance indicators in this area were 
thought to be on target. The following LAA indicator, overseen by this 
partnership, had missed its target at the end of the second year. 

NI Description Baseline Current
Performance

Target
2009/10

NI 131 
Equality & Inclusion 
Delayed transfers of care from 
hospitals

43 per
100,000

14.9 per 
100,000

9.5 per 
100,000

5.2 The recent dip in performance for the transfer of care from hospitals
 in Cambridgeshire seems to have arisen as a result of problems in 
 intermediate care settings and the sourcing of domiciliary care from 
 independent service providers in the southern part of the county rather 
 than the City. This indicator is felt to be at risk of not improving the end 
 of the LAA.

5.3 The LAA target for smoking cessation is also felt to be at risk of not 
 being achieved by the end of the LAA, as performance is below the 
 trajectory expected.  692 people quit smoking in the City during 
 2008/09 against a target of 879 people. Actions to bring about 
 improvement have been put in place with assistance from the National 
 Support Team (NST) for Smoking Cessation and Tobacco Control. 
 Support is also being given to CAMQUIT to maintain improvements.

5.4 Cambridge Local Strategic Partnership, when it considered the issue 
 in November 2009, encouraged partners to promote CAMQUIT 
 services to their employers and the City Council has circulated notices 
 from CAMQUIT with each payslip. 

6.0 Local issues affecting performance of LAA targets  

6.1 The actions from the Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire Improving 
Health Plan have been incorporated into a number of strategies 
throughout the Council including the Sport Strategy and Parks and 
Open Spaces Strategy. 

6.2 Funding for a Health Improvement Officer has been awarded, 
unfortunately this post has not been filled. Officers have been working 
in partnership with Anglia Ruskin University Public Health Department 
to appoint a Public Health Post Graduate (associate) to carry out 
some project work, which will contribute to these LLA targets. Projects 
will include working with CAMQUIT to train all frontline staff to level 1 

Report Page No: 4 Page 50



Report Page No: 5 

osts.

training and developing a monitoring system to evaluate the number of 
referrals that have been made due to the intervention of the Council’s 
frontline staff. At present this project has been suspended because 
Reward Grant is no longer available. 

6.3 Environmental Health Officers have received the training for brief 
interventions from CAMQUIT. During their inspections of businesses 
they have been promoting the service. Currently Officers have not had 
feedback from CAMQUIT to see how many referrals were due to their 
intervention. 

6.4 Officers are part of the tobacco control alliance, the locality obesity 
group, and the health trainer programme, where they contribute to a 
number of other projects, which affect LLA performance. 

6.5 Designated sports development officers contribute to the local and 
county obesity groups, deliver weight management interventions 
primarily via the City’s exercise referral schemes, work in partnership 
with Cambridge School Sports Partnership to deliver weight 
management programmes to children and young people and 
contribute to the delivery of the Community Health Improvement 
programme (CHIP), as co-ordinated by NHS Cambridgeshire 

6.6 Officers have been part of the commissioning board who developed 
the Safer Homes Scheme and Handy Person Scheme to contribute to 
older people being able to live in their own home independently. 

6.7 The Supporting People Commissioning Body is the partnership group 
 responsible for decisions around the commissioning of Supporting 
 People funded housing related support services in Cambridgeshire, 
 commissioning a range of services that support vulnerable people to 
 achieve independent living. Supporting People in Cambridgeshire is in 
 the process of shifting the emphasis from residential based services, 
 to providing more floating support services in the wider community. 
 Significant financial pressures mean that some difficult decisions will 
 need to be made on where to target resources to meet required
 outcomes. This includes the need to review the cost of administering 

the service following the removal a separate central government grant
to cover these c

7. Implications 

7.1 The LAA sets out shared priorities and agreed targets for partners 
across the County, including Cambridge City Council. Failure to meet 
these targets will have an impact on the quality of life of County 
residents.

Page 51



Report Page No: 6 

Financial

7.2 Failure to meet all the LAA targets at the end of the 3 year period 
(2008/09 – 2010/11) will reduce the amount of grant awarded to 
Cambridgeshire Together, assuming this is allocated. 

Staff

7.3 A considerable number of City Council staff from all departments are 
working with partners to deliver the LAA. 

Equal Opportunities

7.4 Equality and Inclusion is a key strand of the LAA 

Community Safety 

7.5 Safer and Stronger Communities is a key strand of the LAA 

8. Background papers 

These background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 

Cambridgeshire Area Self Assessment – May 2010 
Local Area Agreement, Year End Performance Report  - May 2010 
Proposals for a New Model of Partnership Working – May 2010 
Cambridge LSP, Performance Management Report – January 2010 

9. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: 
Author’s Phone Number:
Author’s Email:

Page 52



Cambridge City Council Item

To: Councillor Tim Bick, Executive Councillor for 
Community Development and Health 

Report by: Liz Bisset, The Director of Customer and 
Community Services

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Community Services Scrutiny 14 October 
2010

Wards affected: All Wards

Review of Safer City Grants  
Not a key decision  

1. Executive summary

1.1 The Safer City grant programme is in its fifteenth year and was set up 
to reduce crime and the fear of crime, and anti-social behaviour. For 
most of that time the grant pot was made up of the equivalent of 
£37,000 revenue and £50,000 capital for each financial year.  The 
capital element of the grant was usually agreed for periods of three 
years at a time.  The revenue element formed part of the base 
community safety budget.

1.2 The current capital programme for Safer City grants finished in March 
2010.  It was agreed at Strategy and Resources Committee in January 
2010 and July 2010 that unspent funding totalling  £22,000 from 
2009/10 could be carried forward into 2010/11 and form the grant pot 
for that year.  It was also agreed that a bid for further capital funding 
for 2011/12 be prepared with a view to inclusion in the Medium Term 
Strategy or budget process for 2011/12.  

1.3 In view of the current government cuts and the general review of all 
City Council grant pots, both revenue and capital grants have been 
reviewed for the period 2007/2010.  The outcomes are reported here 
to assist in making a decision about the future of the Safer City grant 
programme.

1.4 The report provides an overview of the applications for revenue and 
capital 2007/2010 and their outcomes and project details are attached 
at Appendix A. 

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 9

Page 53



Report Page No: 2 

2. Recommendations 

The Executive Councillor is recommended: 

2.1 To support the continuation of the Safer City Grants programme in 
both capital and revenue.

2.2 To continue to fund both Safer City capital and revenue grant 
programmes, but at a reduced level of £12,000 for capital and £24,000 
per annum for revenue ( which was the actual revenue spend for last 
year).    

3. Background 

3.1 The Safer City Grant programme is in its fifteenth year, the grants 
were set up to reduce crime and the fear of crime and anti-social behaviour.   

3.2 The primary purpose of Safer City grants is to support small scale 
community projects up to £5,000. Customers are discouraged from applying 
for grants greater than £5,000 but if they do  the application is considered by 
the Community Services Scrutiny Committee at the usual committee cycle.  
Applications up to £5,000 are considered on a monthy basis by the 
Executive Councillor for Community Development and Health.

3.3 The current capital programme for Safer City grants finished in March 
2010.  It was agreed at Strategy and Resources Committee in January 2010 
that unspent funding for 2009/10 could be carried forward to 2010/11and 
that a bid for further capital funding for 2011/12 be prepared with a view to 
inclusion in the Medium Term Strategy.

3.4 In view of the current government cuts and the general review of all 
City Council grant pots, both revenue and capital grants have been 
reviewed for the 3 year period 2007/2010.  The outcomes are reported here 
to assist in making a decision about the future of the Safer City grant 
programme.

3.5 Usuallly the Safer City Fund has £37,000 for revenue grants and 
£50,000 for capital grants, the capital element  was reduced to 
£12,000  for 2010 (£22,000 including carry forward of commitments)as 
applications for capital grants had fallen off.  The table below shows 
the budget and actual spend for the three years under review.

Page 54



Report Page No: 3 

2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010 to date  
Capital
Budget £50k + £25k 

c/o*
£50k + £42k 
c/o*

£38k £12k + £10k 
c/o*

Actual
Spend

£33.4k £61.1k £27k £15k
committed to 
date

Revenue
Budget £36.8k £31.4k £36.7k £37.1k
Actual
Spend

£36.6k £31.0k £24.3k £19.1k to date 

*It is often necessary to request carry over for capital projects, especially 
those that have been approved towards the end of the finanacial year as 
they often take longer to complete than revenue projects.

3.6 The details of all approved and rejected grants can be found at 
Appendix A.  In summary the grants funded included projects tackling, youth 
related anti-social behaviour, hate crime, domestic abuse, cycle crime, 
alcohol and drug related crime and issues affecting older people.  Capital 
projects tackled enviornmental improvements including better lighting, 
CCTV and repairs to fencing.

3.7 The criteria for granting applications is set out on the City Council 
website and states that the project should be community based with 
evidence supplied for the need of the project.  The aims should be defined 
and the cost realistic.  The project should also fall within the priorities of the 
Cambridge Community Safety Patenership.  Monitoring and evaluation 
should have been considered.   Officers from the Community Safety Team 
advise applicants on how to demonstrate that the project is meeting the 
criteria.

3.8 There were 83 applications in the period with 19 of these being 
rejected.  We have received 35 evaluations so far and 11 are pending as 
applicants have 6 months after the completion of the project to submit an 
evaluation.  The remaining projects were not evaluated mainly due to 
changes in project management personnel.  A lot of the evaluations are not 
of a high quality, mainly due to lack of experience in evaluating on the part 
of the project managers. We have run training sessions in the past on 
making applications and evaluating projects but although the sessions were 
reasonably well attended they did not improve the evaluations received. 

Page 55



Report Page No: 4 

3.9 19 applications were rejected during the review period because they 
did not meet the criteria for approval for the following reasons: 

!" The project would be duplicating work already being done by City 
Council or partnership organisations 

!" There was insufficient funds to approve all grants submitted and 
projects are considered on merit. 

!" There was no evidence to support the need for the project 
!" The application was made by an individual or profit making 

organisation 
!" The application sought running costs for an existing project 
!" The project was not realistically costed 
!" The project had not got the agreement of all residents to go ahead, 

e.g. where the intention was to gate a privately owned allleyway 
!" The project was not aimed at reducting cirme and disorder and/or anti-

social behaviour 
!" The project was considered to be part of the core business of an 

organisation 

Where applications are rejected the applicants are given the reason for 
the rejection. 

3.10 The Cambridge Community Safety Partnership has been successul in 
reducing crime and disorder and anti-social behaviour in the past three 
years, with crime overall down by 11.3% and criminal damage offences 
down by 19.6% in 2009/10.  Safer City projects are very much part of the 
actions to achieve this.  The projects often tackle the areas of more local 
concern and areas where Safer and Stronger Community funding would not 
be granted due to the difficulty of linking outcomes to hard crime reduction 
targets and National Indicator outcomes.   

The kind of outcomes that we have had from Safer City Grants are: 

Reduction in fear and positive perceptions around the reduction of anti-
social behaviour, including anti-social driving 

Reduction in cycle crime although the projects funded were aligned to a 
bigger campaign run by the police.

Reported changes in the attitude of young people to anti-social behaviour 
and its effects on others and more positive approaches to community 
cohesion

Arrests due to the implementation of CCTV.

Page 56



Report Page No: 5 

Significant particiapation of children and young people in diversionary 
activities particularly sporting activites.     

The outcomes of the projects tend to be more anectodal and are difficult to 
tie to hard crime reduction targets, as they often refer to very small 
geographical areas or intense 1-1 work with small groups.  The evaluations 
suggest that the projects have been successful in reducing the fear of crime 
and in changing perceptions of crime in local areas, particularly with regard 
to environmental improvements.  They have also been successful in 
providing diversionary activities to young people who may otherwise have 
been involved in crime or anti-social behaviour, although how significant the 
prevention aspect  was, is impossible to quantify.   

Discussion with City Council Officers and police colleagues suggest that 
capital applications have fallen off due to lack of staffing resource to help 
community groups in managing the projects.  In the past, Police Community 
Support Officers, Housing Officers and Community Development Officers 
often helped community groups to make applications and supported them in 
the ongoing management and evaluation of the project, this has not been 
happening to the same extent recently.  For the reasons given it is 
recommended that the Safer City Grants programme be continued but at 
reduced levels of funding to reflect recent reductions in applications, 
namely, £12,000 capital and £24,000 revenue.

4. Implications 

Financial Implications – The financial implications of approving the 
continuation of funding for the Safer City Capital and Revenue Programmes 
for a further 3 years from 2011/12 , assuming the level of funding as 
recommended, would be a base budget revenue saving of approximately 
£13,000 per annum and a capital bid of £12,000 per annum  .  If the Safer 
City grant programme is not supported from 2011/12 this source of funding 
for local community safety projects will no longer be available. If approved 
by Strategy & Resources, the financial implications will be picked up as part 
of the 2011/12 budget process, with funding approval sought as part of the 
budget setting report in February 2011.

Staffing Implications – None 

Equal Opportunities Implications – If the Safer City programme is cancelled 
it could mean that some sections of the community do not have any other 
access to funds to tackle crime and anti-social behaviour in their area.     

Procurement Implications  - None  

Page 57



Report Page No: 6 

Environmental Implications – None  

Community Safety Implications – This scheme helps the council fulfil its 
responsibilities under Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act.

5. Background papers 

These background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 
Future Capital funding for Safer City Grant Scheme – report to Strategy and 
Resources Committee – 18/01/2010 
Safer City Applications 2007 to 2010 
Safer City Grant Evaluations 2007 to 2010
Safer City guidelines – can be viewed by visiting: 
http:/www.cambrige.gov.uk/ccm/content/community-and-living/community-
safety/safer-city-grants.en 

6. Appendices 

Appendix A – Safer City grant scheme: Summary of applications  (2007 to 
2010)

7. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: Lynda Kilkelly, Strategy Officer (community safety)
Author’s Phone Number: 01223 - 457045
Author’s Email: Lynda.kilkelly@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 58



S
af

er
 C

it
y 

g
ra

n
t 

sc
h

em
e:

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
s 

(2
00

7 
to

 2
01

0)
A

p
p

en
d

ix
 A

 

Y
ea

r
P

ro
je

ct
A

im
 o

f 
P

ro
je

ct
A

p
p

ro
ve

d
 / 

R
ej

ec
te

d
 (

w
it

h
 r

ea
so

n
)

C
ap

it
al

R
ev

en
u

e
E

va
lu

at
ed

?

20
07

-2
00

8
S

tr
ee

t G
am

es
 2

00
7

E
ng

ag
e 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

 in
 s

po
rt

 a
nd

 d
iv

er
t t

he
m

 fr
om

 
in

vo
lv

em
en

t i
n 

A
S

B
. I

t i
s 

in
te

nd
ed

 to
 e

nc
ou

ra
ge

 y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e 
re

fe
rr

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
A

S
B

 T
ea

m
, p

ol
ic

e 
an

d 
th

e 
S

P
LA

S
H

 p
ro

je
ct

 to
 

be
co

m
e 

qu
al

ifi
ed

 s
po

rt
s 

le
ad

er
s,

 th
us

 d
ev

el
op

in
g 

co
m

m
un

ity
 

sp
or

ts
 h

ub
s 

in
 th

e 
ci

ty
 a

nd
 in

cr
ea

si
ng

 th
e 

vo
lu

nt
ee

r 
ba

se
. T

he
 

ac
tiv

iti
es

 w
ill

 b
e 

ru
n 

in
 1

2 
si

te
s 

id
en

tif
ie

d 
as

 h
ot

sp
ot

 a
re

as
 fo

r 
A

S
B

 a
nd

 w
ill

 r
un

 th
ro

ug
h 

th
e 

su
m

m
er

 m
on

th
s.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£4

,9
00

.0
0

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

01

T
ak

e 
C

on
tr

ol
E

na
bl

e 
a 

gr
ou

p 
of

 8
 y

ou
ng

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
ith

 le
ar

ni
ng

 d
iff

ic
ul

tie
s 

to
 

in
cr

ea
se

 th
ei

r 
co

nf
id

en
ce

 a
nd

 s
el

f e
st

ee
m

, l
ea

rn
 h

ow
 to

 a
ct

 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

ly
 in

 d
iff

er
en

t s
itu

at
io

ns
, m

an
ag

e 
th

ei
r 

an
ge

r 
an

d 
co

ns
id

er
 th

e 
ef

fe
ct

s 
of

 th
ei

r 
be

ha
vi

ou
r 

on
 o

th
er

s.
 T

he
 c

ou
rs

e 
i s

in
te

nd
ed

 a
s 

a 
sp

rin
gb

oa
rd

 to
 o

th
er

 N
ex

t S
te

ps
 c

ou
rs

es
 o

n 
w

or
k 

sk
ils

s 
an

d 
co

nn
ec

tin
g 

w
ith

 th
e 

co
m

m
un

ity
.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£4

,7
13

.0
0

Y
es

 -
 F

ul
l e

va
lu

at
io

n 
do

cu
m

en
t a

va
ila

bl
e 

to
 

vi
ew

, i
f r

eq
ui

re
d

C
ol

um
bu

s 
S

ch
em

e 
D

V
D

P
ro

du
ce

 a
 D

V
D

 th
at

 w
ill

 b
e 

ai
m

ed
 a

t g
iv

in
g 

ad
vi

ce
 a

nd
 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

re
ga

rd
in

g 
th

e 
ha

te
 c

rim
e 

re
po

rt
in

g 
sy

st
em

. I
t i

s 
in

te
nd

ed
 fo

r 
us

e 
w

ith
 o

th
er

 C
ol

um
bu

s 
m

at
er

ia
ls

, s
uc

h 
as

 
sa

fe
ty

 g
ui

de
s,

 p
os

te
rs

 a
nd

 le
ss

on
 p

la
ns

.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£2

,0
00

.0
0

N
o 

- 
S

ta
ff 

ch
an

ge
s 

an
d 

la
ck

 o
f i

nf
or

m
at

io
n 

m
ad

e 
se

ek
in

g 
an

 e
va

lu
at

io
n 

no
t v

ia
bl

e.
W

ul
fs

ta
n 

W
ay

 C
C

T
V

P
re

ve
nt

 h
is

to
ric

 a
nd

 c
ur

re
nt

 A
S

B
 a

nd
 r

el
at

ed
 c

rim
in

al
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

by
 g

ro
up

s 
of

 y
ou

th
 w

ho
 c

on
gr

eg
at

e 
in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f t

he
 W

ul
fs

ta
n 

W
ay

 s
ho

ps
. T

he
 c

am
er

as
 c

an
 b

e 
re

lo
ca

te
d 

at
 a

fu
tu

re
 d

at
e,

 if
 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
 a

nd
 w

ill
 b

e 
m

an
ag

ed
 b

y 
C

H
S

 o
r 

pr
op

er
ty

 s
er

vi
ce

s.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£4

,9
22

.2
0

N
o 

- 
O

rig
in

al
 p

ap
er

s 
m

is
fil

ed
.

P
ru

de
nt

ia
l 4

 Y
ou

th
 -

 C
am

br
id

ge
 !S

ay
 Y

es
! C

ha
lle

ng
e

In
tr

od
uc

e 
th

e 
co

nc
ep

ts
 o

f e
nt

er
pr

is
e 

an
d 

ci
tiz

en
sh

ip
 in

 y
ou

ng
 

pe
op

le
 in

 C
am

br
id

ge
 b

y 
fo

cu
ss

in
g 

on
 A

S
B

 a
nd

 h
ow

 it
 a

ffe
ct

s 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 a

nd
 a

du
lts

. T
o 

in
ve

st
ig

at
e 

th
e 

ca
us

es
 a

nd
 s

oc
ia

l 
im

pa
ct

 o
f A

S
B

 a
nd

 th
ef

t i
n 

an
d 

ar
ou

nd
 th

e 
G

ra
fto

n 
C

en
tr

e,
 a

n d
id

en
tif

y 
po

te
nt

ia
l c

ou
rs

es
 o

f a
ct

io
n 

to
 r

em
ed

y 
cu

rr
en

t A
S

B
 

is
su

es
.

R
ej

ec
te

d 
- 

P
ro

je
ct

 s
ou

gh
t a

 g
ra

nt
 fo

r 
st

ud
en

t h
an

db
oo

ks
, 

la
un

ch
/fi

na
ls

 e
ve

nt
s,

 c
as

e 
st

ud
y 

pr
in

tin
g 

an
d 

pr
iz

es
. C

os
ts

 
de

em
ed

 in
ap

pr
op

ria
te

 a
nd

 to
o 

hi
gh

, g
iv

en
 th

e 
w

or
k 

un
de

rt
ak

en
 b

y 
th

e 
C

om
m

un
ity

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t T
ea

m
 a

nd
 th

e 
po

lic
e.

£4
,2

00
.0

0

N
ex

t G
en

er
at

io
n 

- 
U

rb
an

 M
us

ic
 &

 V
id

eo
 P

ro
je

ct
W

or
k 

w
ith

 y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e,
 m

ai
nl

y 
yo

un
g 

m
en

, t
o 

re
du

ce
 th

ei
r 

in
vo

lv
em

en
t i

n 
co

m
m

on
 a

ss
au

lt,
 A

S
B

 a
nd

 c
yc

le
 th

ef
t b

y 
en

ga
gi

ng
 th

em
 in

 p
os

iti
ve

 d
iv

er
si

on
ar

y 
ac

tiv
ity

, c
en

tr
ed

 a
ro

un
d

m
us

ic
 a

nd
 v

id
eo

 p
ro

du
ct

io
n.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£4

,7
14

.0
0

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

02

C
am

br
id

ge
 B

us
in

es
s 

A
ga

in
st

 C
rim

e 
(C

A
M

B
A

C
)

S
et

 u
p 

co
st

s 
fo

r 
C

A
M

B
A

C
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

co
st

s 
fo

r 
ni

gh
t t

im
e 

di
so

rd
er

 o
ffi

ce
r

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£5

,0
00

.0
0

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

03

C
ity

 W
id

e 
G

irl
s 

W
or

k 
P

ro
je

ct
G

et
 4

 g
irl

 g
ro

up
s 

to
ge

th
er

 a
 p

ro
du

ce
 a

 c
al

en
da

r 
on

 ta
ck

lin
g 

is
su

es
 th

at
 fa

ce
 y

ou
ng

 w
om

en
 in

 C
am

br
id

ge
.

R
ej

ec
te

d 
- 

U
nc

er
ta

in
 h

ow
 s

uc
ce

ss
fu

l t
he

 o
ut

co
m

e 
of

 th
e 

pr
oj

ec
t w

ou
ld

 b
e.

£2
,6

25
.0

0

W
in

te
r 

E
sc

ap
e

O
rg

an
is

e 
an

d 
ru

n 
2 

x 
3-

da
y 

re
si

de
nt

ia
ls

 fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n 

an
d 

yo
un

g
pe

op
le

 o
n 

th
e 

th
em

e 
of

 c
om

m
un

ity
 c

oh
es

io
n

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£4

,0
00

.0
0

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

04

C
ol

um
bu

s 
S

ch
em

e 
In

fo
 P

ac
ks

P
ro

du
ce

 a
ro

un
d 

5,
00

0 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
gu

id
es

 fo
r 

fo
re

ig
n 

st
ud

en
ts

 
on

 a
 w

id
e 

ra
ng

e 
of

 c
om

m
un

ity
 s

af
et

y 
to

pi
cs

, i
nc

lu
di

ng
 

pe
rs

on
al

 s
af

et
y 

tip
s,

 e
m

er
ge

nc
y 

co
nt

ac
t n

um
be

rs
 a

nd
 a

dv
ic

e 
lin

es
.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£1

,3
80

.0
0

N
o 

- 
S

ta
ff 

ch
an

ge
s 

an
d 

la
ck

 o
f i

nf
or

m
at

io
n 

m
ad

e 
se

ek
in

g 
an

 e
va

lu
at

io
n 

no
t v

ia
bl

e.
C

on
tr

ib
ut

io
n 

to
 D

V
 C

o-
or

di
na

to
r 

P
os

t
C

on
tr

ib
ut

or
y 

am
ou

nt
 to

 th
e 

C
ou

nt
y 

C
ou

nc
il'

s 
D

V
 P

ro
je

ct
 

C
oo

rd
in

at
or

 p
os

t f
or

 2
00

7/
08

.
A

pp
ro

ve
d

£6
,0

00
.0

0
N

o 
- 

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
 n

ow
 

fa
ct

or
ed

 in
to

 m
ai

ns
tr

ea
m

 
fu

nd
in

g.

Page 59



S
ki

lls
 4

 S
po

rt
D

ev
el

op
 ‘f

re
e 

to
 jo

in
’ m

ul
ti-

sp
or

t c
lu

bs
 a

t f
ou

r 
si

te
s 

(M
an

or
, 

N
et

he
ra

ll,
 S

t B
ed

es
 a

nd
 th

e 
Le

ys
 S

po
rt

s 
C

en
tr

es
) 

ar
ou

nd
 th

e 
C

ity
 fo

r 
12

-1
5 

ye
ar

 o
ld

s,
 b

ei
ng

 th
e 

ta
rg

et
 a

ge
 g

ro
up

 fo
r 

th
e 

ne
w

ly
 fo

rm
ed

 C
am

br
id

ge
 S

po
rt

 N
et

w
or

k.
 T

he
 p

ro
je

ct
 w

ou
ld

 
of

fe
r 

sp
or

ts
 c

oa
ch

in
g,

 b
y 

tr
ai

ne
d 

co
ac

he
s 

an
d 

yo
ut

h 
w

or
ke

rs
, 

at
 a

 ti
m

e 
of

 d
ay

 w
he

n 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 a

re
 c

au
si

ng
 a

nt
i-s

oc
ia

l 
be

ha
vi

ou
r 

(A
S

B
).

 T
he

re
 w

ill
 b

e 
40

 w
ee

ks
 o

f c
oa

ch
in

g 
pe

r 
ye

ar
 

pe
r 

si
te

. I
t i

s 
ex

pe
ct

ed
 th

at
 a

ro
un

d 
40

 y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e 
pe

r 
si

te
 

ea
ch

 w
ee

k 
w

ill
 a

tte
nd

. T
he

 fu
nd

in
g 

is
 a

 c
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n 
to

w
ar

ds
 

th
e 

co
st

s 
of

 th
e 

sp
or

ts
 c

oa
ch

es
 a

nd
 fa

ci
lit

y 
hi

re
.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£4

,9
50

.0
0

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

05

R
av

en
sw

or
th

 G
ar

de
ns

 F
en

ci
ng

 Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

In
cr

ea
se

 h
ei

gh
t o

f f
en

ce
 a

nd
 g

at
es

 a
ro

un
d 

R
av

en
sw

or
th

 
G

ar
de

ns
 r

ec
re

at
io

n 
ar

ea
.

R
ej

ec
te

d 
- 

W
ith

dr
aw

n 
by

 a
pp

lic
an

t p
rio

r 
to

 c
on

si
de

ra
tio

n,
 

du
e 

to
 la

ck
 o

f q
uo

te
s 

an
d 

th
ou

gh
t p

ut
 in

to
 a

pp
lic

at
io

n.
 

£1
6,

00
0.

00

R
av

en
sw

or
th

 G
ar

de
ns

 C
C

T
V

P
re

ve
nt

 a
bu

se
 o

f t
he

 R
av

en
sw

or
th

 G
ar

de
ns

 a
re

a 
at

 n
ig

ht
 fr

om
 

an
ti-

so
ci

al
 b

eh
av

io
ur

, i
nc

lu
di

ng
 u

nd
er

ag
e 

dr
in

ki
ng

 a
nd

 r
ou

gh
 

sl
ee

pi
ng

, a
nd

 th
e 

va
nd

al
is

m
 o

f p
la

y 
eq

ui
pm

en
t b

y 
th

e 
in

st
al

la
tio

n 
of

 a
 ‘s

ta
nd

 a
lo

ne
’ C

C
T

V
 c

am
er

a.
 A

 m
ob

ile
 C

C
T

V
 

sy
st

em
 te

m
po

ra
ril

y 
as

si
gn

ed
 to

 c
ov

er
 R

av
en

sw
or

th
 G

ar
de

ns
 

re
su

lte
d 

in
 a

 s
ig

ni
fic

an
t d

ro
p 

in
 th

e 
nu

m
be

r 
of

 r
ep

or
te

d 
in

ci
de

nt
s.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£5

,0
00

.0
0

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

06

Y
ou

th
 S

er
vi

ce
 M

ot
or

bi
ke

 P
ro

je
ct

H
av

e 
a 

po
si

tiv
e 

im
pa

ct
 o

n 
yo

un
g 

“h
ar

d 
to

 r
ea

ch
” 

pe
op

le
 in

 th
e 

13
–1

7 
ag

e 
gr

ou
p 

in
vo

lv
ed

 in
 a

nt
i-s

oc
ia

l b
eh

av
io

ur
, b

y 
pr

ov
id

in
g 

a 
ha

nd
s-

on
 m

ec
ha

ni
cs

 c
ou

rs
e 

fo
cu

ss
in

g 
on

 
m

ot
or

bi
ke

s,
 a

s 
w

el
l a

s 
le

ga
l i

ss
ue

s 
an

d 
pe

rs
on

al
 

re
sp

on
si

bi
lit

y.
 T

he
 c

ou
rs

e 
w

ou
ld

 le
ad

 to
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
 

ce
rt

ifi
ca

tio
n 

an
d 

ac
cr

ed
ita

tio
n.

 T
he

 p
ro

je
ct

 w
ill

 a
ls

o 
co

nt
rib

ut
e 

to
w

ar
ds

 r
ed

uc
in

g 
ve

hi
cl

e-
re

la
te

d 
of

fe
nd

in
g 

w
ith

in
 th

is
 a

ge
 

gr
ou

p 
by

 o
ffe

rin
g 

sa
fe

 a
nd

 s
up

er
vi

se
d 

ac
ce

ss
 to

 m
ot

or
bi

ke
s,

 
al

th
ou

gh
 th

e 
pr

oj
ec

t w
ou

ld
 n

ot
 in

cl
ud

e 
th

e 
rid

in
g 

of
 

m
ot

or
bi

ke
s,

 s
av

e 
fo

r 
a 

on
e-

of
f s

es
si

on
 to

 th
e 

G
au

nt
le

t M
ot

or
 

P
ro

je
ct

 a
t R

am
se

y.
 L

an
d 

us
e 

at
 a

 fa
rm

 in
 H

ild
er

sh
am

 h
as

 
al

re
ad

y 
es

ta
bl

is
he

d 
an

d 
th

is
 p

ar
t o

f t
he

 P
ro

je
ct

 h
as

 a
lre

ad
y 

be
en

 b
ro

ug
ht

 u
p 

to
 C

am
br

id
ge

sh
ire

 C
ou

nt
y 

C
ou

nc
il 

st
an

da
rd

s 
w

ith
 r

eg
ar

ds
 s

af
et

y 
an

d 
in

su
ra

nc
e.

 T
he

 fu
nd

in
g 

so
ug

ht
 w

ill
 

pu
rc

ha
se

 a
 c

re
w

ca
b 

va
n 

w
ith

 s
ea

tin
g 

fo
r 

si
x 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

 a
nd

 
tw

o 
st

af
f, 

as
 w

el
l a

s 
a 

se
pa

ra
te

 s
ec

ur
e 

lo
ad

 a
re

a 
fo

r 
tr

an
sp

or
tin

g 
m

ot
or

bi
ke

s 
an

d 
pr

ov
id

e 
ru

nn
in

g 
co

st
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

fir
st

 
ye

ar
.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£6

,0
00

.0
0

£1
,6

00
.0

0
Y

es
 -

 S
ee

 A
pp

en
di

x 
07

C
he

rr
y 

H
in

to
n 

H
ig

h 
S

tr
ee

t C
C

T
V

In
st

al
l a

 C
C

T
V

 c
am

er
a 

in
 th

e 
C

he
rr

y 
H

in
to

n 
H

ig
h 

S
tr

ee
t a

nd
 

lin
k 

th
is

 in
 w

ith
 th

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

 C
ity

 C
ou

nc
il 

C
C

T
V

 C
on

tr
ol

 
R

oo
m

 in
 o

rd
er

 to
 ta

ck
le

 a
nt

i-s
oc

ia
l b

eh
av

io
ur

 in
 th

e 
ar

ea
. T

he
 

pr
oj

ec
t w

ill
 b

e 
co

-s
po

ns
or

ed
 w

ith
 C

am
br

id
ge

 C
ity

 C
ou

nc
il,

 
T

es
co

 a
nd

 L
lo

yd
s-

T
S

B
 a

nd
 fu

nd
in

g 
is

 s
ou

gh
t a

s 
a 

on
e-

th
ird

 
co

nt
rib

ut
io

n 
to

w
ar

ds
 th

e 
£1

0,
60

0 
ca

pi
ta

l c
os

ts
 o

f t
he

 c
am

er
a 

an
d 

th
e 

an
nu

al
 £

1,
00

0 
ru

nn
in

g 
co

st
. 

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£3

,5
33

.0
0

£3
33

.0
0

N
o 

- 
B

ut
 s

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

08
 -

 C
am

br
id

ge
 N

ew
s 

ite
m

 2
0/

07
/2

00
9

T
he

 H
ys

te
ria

 S
to

ry
A

 g
ro

up
 o

f y
ou

ng
 w

om
en

 w
ill

 g
et

 to
ge

th
er

 to
 p

ro
du

ce
 a

 fi
lm

 
re

fle
ct

in
g 

an
d 

ex
pl

or
in

g 
th

ei
r 

cu
ltu

ra
l i

de
nt

ity
.

R
ej

ec
te

d 
- 

In
su

ffi
ci

en
t r

ev
en

ue
 fu

nd
s 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
ap

pr
ov

al
 o

f 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 d

ur
in

g 
pr

ev
io

us
 r

ou
nd

 o
f b

id
s.

 D
ue

 to
 n

at
ur

e 
an

d 
tim

in
g 

of
 p

ro
je

ct
, i

t c
ou

ld
 n

ot
 a

w
ai

t f
ol

lo
w

in
g 

ye
ar

's
 

bu
dg

et
 a

llo
ca

tio
n.

£4
,1

71
.0

0

Page 60



S
af

et
y 

at
 L

ife
cr

af
t D

oo
r 

Lo
ck

R
ed

uc
e 

th
e 

ris
k 

of
 v

io
le

nt
 in

ci
de

nt
s,

 c
rim

e 
an

d 
A

S
B

 in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f B
at

h 
H

ou
se

 o
n 

M
ill

 R
oa

d 
an

d 
to

 p
ro

te
ct

 L
ife

cr
af

t 
m

em
be

rs
, e

qu
ip

pi
ng

 th
em

 w
ith

 th
e 

kn
ow

le
dg

e 
an

d 
sk

ill
s 

to
 

en
ab

le
 th

e 
to

 d
ea

l w
ith

 a
gg

re
ss

iv
e 

be
ha

vi
ou

r.
  L

ife
cr

af
t 

pr
ov

id
es

 s
up

po
rt

 a
nd

 c
ou

ns
el

lin
g 

to
 a

du
lts

 w
ith

 m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 
ne

ed
s.

  T
he

 g
ra

nt
 s

ou
gh

t w
ill

 p
ro

vi
de

 a
 r

em
ot

e 
do

or
 r

el
ea

se
 

m
ec

ha
ni

sm
 fo

r 
th

e 
fr

on
t d

oo
r 

of
 B

at
h 

H
ou

se
.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£6

25
.0

0
N

o 
- 

T
ha

nk
 y

ou
 e

-m
ai

l 
fr

om
 L

ife
cr

af
t d

at
ed

 
08

/1
0/

20
08

C
am

br
id

ge
 C

yc
le

 P
ar

ki
ng

 G
ui

de
P

ro
vi

de
 a

 s
im

pl
e 

8-
12

 p
ag

e 
gu

id
e 

fo
r 

de
ve

lo
pe

rs
 a

nd
 e

xi
st

in
g 

si
te

 o
w

ne
rs

 a
bo

ut
 h

ow
 to

 p
ro

vi
de

 s
ec

ur
e 

cy
cl

e 
pa

rk
in

g,
 to

 
en

co
ur

ag
e 

th
em

 to
 d

o 
so

 w
he

re
 th

er
e 

ar
e 

no
 e

xi
st

in
g 

fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
or

 to
 u

pg
ra

de
 in

ad
eq

ua
te

 fa
ci

lit
ie

s.
  D

ev
el

op
er

s 
ar

e 
cu

rr
en

tly
 

fa
ili

ng
 to

 m
ee

t C
yc

le
 P

ar
ki

ng
 S

ta
nd

ar
ds

 a
nd

 e
xi

st
in

g 
gu

id
es

 
ar

e 
of

te
n 

ov
er

-c
om

pl
ex

 o
r 

no
t C

am
br

id
ge

-s
pe

ci
fic

.  
T

he
 g

ui
de

 
co

ul
d 

be
 u

se
d 

by
 th

e 
C

ity
 C

ou
nc

il 
an

d 
po

lic
e.

  T
he

 g
ra

nt
 

so
ug

ht
 w

ou
ld

 c
ov

er
 r

es
ea

rc
h,

 p
ho

to
gr

ap
hy

, l
ay

ou
t, 

pr
in

tin
g 

an
d 

di
st

rib
ut

io
n.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£3

,5
00

.0
0

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

09

H
om

er
to

n 
C

hi
ld

re
n'

s 
C

en
tr

e 
Li

gh
tin

g
P

ur
ch

as
e 

4/
5 

lo
w

-le
ve

l ‘
P

IR
’ s

ty
le

 li
gh

ts
 a

nd
 in

st
al

l t
he

m
 a

lo
ng

 
th

e 
pa

th
w

ay
 le

ad
in

g 
to

 th
e 

H
om

er
to

n 
C

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
C

en
tr

e 
in

 
or

de
r 

to
 p

ro
vi

de
 s

af
e 

ac
ce

ss
 to

 th
e 

C
en

tr
e 

fo
r 

us
er

s 
of

 th
e 

C
en

tr
e 

(in
cl

ud
in

g 
pa

re
nt

s 
an

d 
ch

ild
re

n)
 a

nd
 th

e 
de

ta
il 

an
ti-

so
ci

al
 b

eh
av

io
ur

, c
rim

e 
an

d 
th

e 
fe

ar
 o

f c
rim

e.
  T

he
 C

en
tr

e 
w

ill
 

w
or

k 
w

ith
 th

e 
C

ity
 C

ou
nc

il 
on

 th
e 

in
st

al
la

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
lig

ht
s 

an
d 

w
ill

 m
ai

nt
ai

n 
th

em
 in

de
pe

nd
en

tly
.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£4

,8
57

.0
0

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

10

R
ed

uc
in

g 
C

yc
le

 C
rim

e 
in

 C
am

br
id

ge
P

ur
ch

as
e 

pe
da

l c
yc

le
s 

an
d 

G
P

S
-b

as
ed

 c
ov

er
t t

ra
ck

in
g 

eq
ui

pm
en

t i
n 

or
de

r 
to

 h
el

p 
id

en
tif

y 
th

ie
ve

s 
an

d 
ha

nd
le

rs
 o

f 
st

ol
en

 p
ed

al
 c

yc
le

s.
  F

ul
l d

et
ai

ls
 o

f t
he

 a
pp

lic
at

io
n 

ca
nn

ot
 b

e 
gi

ve
n 

du
e 

to
 th

e 
co

ve
rt

 n
at

ur
e 

of
 th

e 
op

er
at

io
n 

(O
pe

ra
tio

n 
C

yc
lo

ne
).

  A
 g

ra
nt

 o
f £

5,
00

0 
pr

ov
id

ed
 u

nd
er

 th
e 

20
07

/0
8 

S
af

e r
&

 S
tr

on
ge

r 
C

om
m

un
iti

es
 F

un
d 

to
 p

ur
ch

as
e 

si
m

ila
r 

eq
ui

pm
en

t 
sa

w
 a

 1
0 

%
 r

ed
uc

tio
n 

in
 p

ed
al

 c
yc

le
-r

el
at

ed
 c

rim
e 

w
ith

in
 6

 
w

ee
ks

.  
T

hi
s 

pr
oj

ec
t w

ill
 c

on
tr

ib
ut

e 
to

w
ar

ds
 th

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

 
C

om
m

un
ity

 S
af

et
y 

P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

’s
 s

ea
so

na
l t

ar
ge

te
d 

ca
m

pa
ig

n 
to

 r
ed

uc
e 

pe
da

l c
yc

le
 th

ef
t, 

w
hi

ch
 is

 p
la

nn
ed

 fo
r 

20
08

/0
9.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£4

,7
90

.0
0

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

11

H
ul

at
t R

oa
d 

Li
gh

tin
g 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

P
ur

ch
as

e 
a 

lig
ht

in
g 

co
lu

m
n 

fo
r 

th
e 

H
ul

at
t R

oa
d 

ar
ea

 in
 o

rd
er

 
to

 p
ro

vi
de

 a
dd

iti
on

al
 li

gh
tin

g 
an

d 
re

du
ce

 th
e 

cr
im

e 
an

d 
th

e 
fe

a r
of

 c
rim

e 
fo

r 
th

e 
el

de
rly

 r
es

id
en

ts
 in

 th
e 

ar
ea

.  
C

am
br

id
ge

sh
ire

 
C

ou
nt

y 
C

ou
nc

il 
ha

ve
 a

lre
ad

y 
ag

re
ed

 to
 fu

nd
 5

0%
 o

f t
he

 
pu

rc
ha

se
 o

f t
he

 c
ol

um
n 

an
d 

fu
nd

 th
e 

m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 c
os

ts
.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£1

,1
00

.5
5

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

12

A
ns

te
y 

W
ay

 Im
pr

ov
ed

 S
ec

ur
ity

In
cr

ea
se

 th
e 

le
ve

l o
f t

he
 fe

nc
in

g 
ar

ou
nd

 a
 p

re
vi

ou
sl

y 
in

st
al

le
d 

si
x-

fo
ot

 ir
on

 g
at

e 
le

ad
in

g 
to

 th
e 

re
ar

 o
f A

ns
te

y 
W

ay
, w

he
re

 
el

de
rly

 r
es

id
en

ts
 li

ve
.  

T
he

 C
am

br
id

ge
sh

ire
 C

on
st

ab
ul

ar
y’

s 
C

om
m

un
ity

 S
af

et
y 

U
ni

t h
as

 r
ai

se
d 

th
e 

cu
rr

en
t f

en
ci

ng
 a

s 
an

 
is

su
e.

  T
he

 C
ity

 C
ou

nc
il 

ha
s 

al
re

ad
y 

ag
re

ed
 to

 fu
nd

 th
e 

m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 c
os

ts
 fo

r 
th

e 
fe

nc
in

g.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£6

95
.0

0
Y

es
 -

 S
ee

 A
pp

en
di

x 
13

Page 61



B
ox

in
g 

fo
r 

Li
fe

P
ur

ch
as

e 
bo

xi
ng

 e
qu

ip
m

en
t f

or
 u

se
 b

y 
13

-1
8 

ye
ar

 o
ld

s 
in

vo
lv

ed
 in

 v
io

le
nc

e 
an

d 
an

ti-
so

ci
al

 b
eh

av
io

ur
 r

el
at

in
g 

to
 

al
co

ho
l a

nd
 d

ru
gs

 m
is

us
e,

 in
 o

rd
er

 to
 c

ur
b 

vi
ol

en
t b

eh
av

io
ur

.
It 

is
 a

nt
ic

ip
at

ed
 th

at
 2

0 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 w

ill
 b

e 
tr

ai
ne

d 
in

iti
al

ly
 

du
rin

g 
th

e 
fir

st
 y

ea
r.

  R
om

se
y 

M
ill

 s
ta

ff 
in

vo
lv

ed
 w

ill
 b

e 
lia

is
in

g 
w

ith
 th

e 
Ic

en
i B

ox
in

g 
C

lu
b 

in
 H

ar
dw

ic
k.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£5

68
.0

0
Y

es
 -

 S
ee

 A
pp

en
di

x 
14

U
rb

an
 M

us
ic

P
ur

ch
as

e 
ad

di
tio

na
l m

ic
ro

ph
on

es
 a

nd
 a

ss
oc

ia
te

d 
au

di
o 

eq
ui

pm
en

t f
or

 th
e 

st
ud

io
 a

t R
om

se
y 

M
ill

.  
T

he
 s

tu
di

o 
is

 u
til

is
ed

 
by

 y
ou

ng
 m

en
 a

nd
 w

om
en

 a
ge

d 
14

-2
0 

w
ho

 h
av

e 
a 

hi
st

or
y 

of
 

an
ti-

so
ci

al
 a

nd
 v

io
le

nt
 b

eh
av

io
ur

, t
o 

ch
an

ne
l t

he
ir 

fr
us

tr
at

io
n 

th
ro

ug
h 

ly
ric

s 
an

d 
m

us
ic

, i
nc

re
as

in
g 

th
ei

r 
lit

er
ac

y 
sk

ill
s 

an
d 

se
lf-

es
te

em
.  

It 
is

 a
nt

ic
ip

at
ed

 th
at

 u
p 

to
 3

0 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 a

 
ye

ar
 w

ill
 b

en
ef

it 
fr

om
 th

is
 fu

nd
in

g.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£4

29
.0

0
Y

es
 -

 S
ee

 A
pp

en
di

x 
15

20
08

-2
00

9
S

um
m

er
 E

sc
ap

e
O

rg
an

iz
e 

an
d 

ru
n 

4 
x 

3-
da

y 
ca

m
pi

ng
 r

es
id

en
tia

ls
 (

in
cl

ud
in

g 
ex

er
ci

se
s 

an
d 

w
or

ks
ho

ps
) 

fo
r 

ap
pr

ox
im

at
el

y 
48

 9
-1

5 
ye

ar
 o

ld
s 

w
ho

 li
ve

 in
 ta

rg
et

ed
 A

S
B

 h
ot

sp
ot

 a
re

as
, o

n 
th

e 
th

em
e 

of
 

“B
ei

ng
 S

af
e”

 (
i.e

. h
ow

 th
ei

r 
be

ha
vi

ou
r 

im
pa

ct
s 

up
on

 th
em

 a
nd

 
th

e 
pe

op
le

 a
ro

un
d 

th
em

).

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£4

,9
50

.0
0

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

16

A
bb

ey
 F

oo
tb

al
l O

ut
re

ac
h

E
ng

ag
e 

14
-1

9 
ye

ar
 o

ld
s 

fr
om

 th
e 

A
bb

ey
 W

ar
d 

in
 o

ut
re

ac
h 

/ 
di

ve
rs

io
na

ry
 w

or
k 

in
vo

lv
in

g 
fo

ot
ba

ll 
(5

-a
-s

id
e 

fo
ot

ba
ll 

se
ss

io
ns

 
at

 th
e 

M
U

G
A

 n
ea

r 
A

bb
ey

 P
oo

l) 
an

d 
ot

he
r 

sp
or

ts
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

 
(p

os
si

bl
y 

in
vo

lv
in

g 
a 

re
si

de
nt

ia
l t

rip
).

R
ej

ec
te

d 
- 

P
ro

je
ct

 c
on

fli
ct

ed
 w

ith
 o

th
er

 s
im

ila
r 

C
ou

nc
il 

pr
oj

ec
ts

 a
nd

 th
er

e 
w

as
 a

 la
ck

 o
f e

va
lu

at
io

n 
of

 p
re

vi
ou

s 
pr

oj
ec

ts

P
in

k 
F

es
tiv

al
 -

 T
he

at
re

 W
or

ks
ho

ps
 &

 P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

P
ro

vi
de

 a
 s

er
ie

s 
of

 th
ea

tr
e 

w
or

ks
ho

ps
 c

ul
m

in
at

in
g 

in
 a

 to
pi

ca
l 

th
ea

tr
e 

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 o
n 

al
co

ho
l-r

el
at

ed
 v

io
le

nc
e,

 a
s 

pa
rt

 o
f t

he
 

P
in

k 
F

es
tiv

al
 2

00
8.

R
ej

ec
te

d 
- 

P
ro

je
ct

 s
ou

gh
t c

os
ts

 th
at

 d
id

 n
ot

 m
ee

t S
af

er
 C

ity
 

cr
ite

ria
 a

nd
 w

as
 b

et
te

r 
so

ug
ht

 th
ro

ug
h 

sp
on

so
rs

hi
p

P
in

k 
F

es
tiv

al
 -

 S
te

w
ar

di
ng

C
re

at
e 

a 
sa

fe
 e

nv
iro

nm
en

t a
t t

he
 P

in
k 

F
es

tiv
al

 2
00

8 
th

ro
ug

h 
S

IA
-r

eg
is

te
re

d 
st

ew
ar

di
ng

 a
nd

 d
rin

k-
aw

ar
e 

pr
om

ot
io

ns
.

R
ej

ec
te

d 
- 

S
te

w
ar

di
ng

 c
os

ts
 n

ot
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
 to

 S
af

er
 C

ity
 

gr
an

t s
ch

em
e

S
af

et
y 

at
 L

ife
cr

af
t W

or
ks

ho
ps

P
ro

vi
de

 a
 s

er
ie

s 
of

 tr
ai

ni
ng

 w
or

ks
ho

ps
 fo

r 
18

 m
em

be
rs

 o
f s

ta
ff 

an
d 

re
gu

la
r 

vi
si

to
rs

 to
 th

e 
ce

nt
re

, i
nc

lu
di

ng
 u

nd
er

st
an

di
ng

 
dr

ug
s 

an
d 

al
co

ho
l, 

pe
rs

on
al

 s
af

et
y,

 d
ea

lin
g 

w
ith

 a
gg

re
ss

iv
e 

be
ha

vi
ou

r.
  T

he
 w

or
ks

ho
ps

 a
im

 to
 r

ed
uc

e 
th

e 
ris

k 
of

 v
io

le
nt

 
in

ci
de

nt
s 

fr
om

 s
tr

ee
t l

ife
 a

nd
 a

dd
ic

ts
 a

nd
 e

qu
ip

 s
ta

ff 
an

d 
m

em
be

rs
 w

ith
 th

e 
kn

ow
le

dg
e 

an
d 

sk
ill

s 
to

 ta
ck

le
 a

gg
re

ss
iv

e 
be

ha
vi

ou
r.

A
pp

ro
ve

d 
- 

A
dm

in
is

tr
at

io
n/

m
an

ag
em

en
t c

os
ts

 d
el

et
ed

£2
,5

00
.0

0
Y

es
 -

 S
ee

 A
pp

en
di

x 
17

E
as

t C
he

st
er

to
n 

A
S

B
 F

or
um

B
rin

g 
to

ge
th

er
 th

e 
co

m
m

un
ity

, p
ol

ic
e,

 C
ity

 C
ou

nc
il 

an
d 

H
ou

si
ng

 A
ss

oc
ia

tio
ns

 a
t m

ee
tin

gs
 a

nd
 p

ro
vi

de
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

 fo
r 

ta
rg

et
ed

 g
ro

up
s 

of
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

an
d 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

.

R
ej

ec
te

d 
- 

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

no
t s

up
po

rt
ed

 b
y 

ev
id

en
ce

 a
nd

 il
l 

th
ou

gh
t o

ut

Ja
ck

 W
ar

re
n 

G
re

en
 C

C
T

V
In

st
al

l C
C

T
V

 a
t J

ac
k 

W
ar

re
n 

G
re

en
R

ej
ec

te
d 

- 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
lo

dg
ed

 b
y 

an
 in

di
vd

ua
l -

 M
at

te
r 

re
fe

rr
ed

 to
 G

ra
nt

a 
H

ou
si

ng

Page 62



M
ed

ia
tio

n 
D

ro
p-

in
 S

es
si

on
s

S
et

 u
p 

M
ed

ia
tio

n 
D

ro
p-

In
 s

es
si

on
s 

ac
ro

ss
 A

bb
ey

 a
nd

 K
in

gs
 

H
ed

ge
s 

w
ar

ds
 to

 g
iv

e 
lo

ca
l r

es
id

en
ts

 e
as

y 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 d

is
pu

te
 

re
so

lu
tio

n 
an

d 
en

co
ur

ag
e 

th
em

 to
 u

se
 C

M
S

; a
nd

 to
 in

cr
ea

se
 

m
ul

ti-
pa

rt
y 

m
ed

ia
tio

n 
op

po
rt

un
iti

es
 in

 b
ot

h 
w

ar
ds

 b
y 

w
or

ki
ng

 
w

ith
 g

ro
up

s 
of

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
ho

 a
re

 e
xp

er
ie

nc
in

g 
an

ti-
so

ci
al

 
be

ha
vi

ou
r 

w
ith

in
 th

ei
r 

ne
ig

hb
ou

rh
oo

d.
  I

nc
re

as
in

g 
pr

oa
ct

iv
e 

w
or

k 
of

 th
e 

m
ed

ia
tio

n 
of

 th
e 

se
rv

ic
e 

to
 im

pr
ov

e 
kn

ow
le

dg
e.

 
C

M
S

 w
ou

ld
 a

ls
o 

us
e 

fu
nd

in
g 

to
 fa

ci
lit

at
e 

m
ul

ti-
pa

rt
y 

m
ee

tin
gs

 
in

 o
rd

er
 to

 id
en

tif
y 

ne
ig

hb
ou

rs
 w

ho
 w

ou
ld

 b
e 

w
ill

in
g,

 w
ith

 th
e 

su
pp

or
t o

f t
he

 m
ed

ia
to

rs
, t

o 
re

pr
es

en
t t

he
 g

ro
up

 a
nd

 to
 m

ee
t 

w
ith

 th
e 

in
di

vi
du

al
 o

r 
th

e 
fa

m
ily

 a
lle

ge
d 

to
 b

e 
ca

us
in

g 
th

e 
A

S
B

.A
pp

ro
ve

d
£4

97
.4

2
£4

,4
96

.5
0

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

18

B
re

ak
in

g 
C

yc
le

s 
of

 D
ep

riv
at

io
n 

P
ro

je
ct

O
ffe

r 
ad

di
tio

na
l c

ou
ns

el
lin

g,
 fa

m
ily

 th
er

ap
y 

an
d 

gr
ou

p 
w

or
k 

se
ss

io
ns

 to
 id

en
tif

ie
d 

cl
ie

nt
s 

w
ho

 p
re

se
nt

 w
ith

 h
is

to
rie

s 
of

 
of

fe
nd

in
g 

or
 v

ic
tim

s 
of

 d
om

es
tic

 v
io

le
nc

e.

R
ej

ec
te

d 
- 

P
ro

je
ct

 c
on

fli
ct

ed
 w

ith
 s

er
vi

ce
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

by
 V

ic
tim

 
S

up
po

rt

C
am

 S
ig

ht
 S

ec
ur

ity
 P

ro
je

ct
E

re
ct

 a
 g

at
e 

at
 th

e 
en

tr
an

ce
 to

 th
e 

dr
iv

e 
le

ad
in

g 
to

 C
am

 
S

ig
ht

’s
 p

re
m

is
es

 a
nd

 it
s 

ca
r 

pa
rk

.  
A

s 
th

e 
ca

r 
pa

rk
 is

 p
ar

tly
 

se
cl

ud
ed

, i
t h

as
 b

ee
n 

no
te

d 
th

at
 A

S
B

 o
cc

ur
s 

as
 w

el
l a

s 
th

ef
t o

f
le

ad
 fr

om
 th

e 
ro

of
 o

f t
he

ir 
pr

em
is

es
.  

B
ot

h 
th

ei
r 

in
su

ra
nc

e 
co

m
pa

ny
 a

nd
 C

am
br

id
ge

sh
ire

 C
on

st
ab

ul
ar

y 
ha

ve
 s

ug
ge

st
ed

 
th

at
 g

at
in

g 
th

e 
dr

iv
e 

m
ay

 le
ad

 to
 th

e 
re

du
ct

io
n 

of
 c

rim
e 

an
d 

A
S

B
 o

n 
th

e 
pr

em
is

es
.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£8

70
.4

4
£1

62
.1

2
Y

es
 -

 S
ee

 A
pp

en
di

x 
19

S
m

al
l P

rin
t C

yb
er

 B
ul

ly
in

g 
P

ro
je

ct
D

es
ig

n 
an

d 
pr

od
uc

e 
5,

00
0 

“S
m

al
l P

rin
t”

 g
ui

de
s 

on
 C

yb
er

 
B

ul
ly

in
g 

ai
m

ed
 a

t 1
0-

14
 y

ea
r 

ol
ds

.  
It 

is
 p

la
nn

ed
 to

 la
un

ch
 th

e 
gu

id
e 

du
rin

g 
A

nt
i-B

ul
ly

in
g 

W
ee

k 
in

 N
ov

em
be

r.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£4

,9
50

.0
0

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

20

N
ex

t S
te

ps
: T

he
 D

ro
p-

In
P

ro
vi

de
 a

 w
ee

kl
y 

fo
ru

m
 p

rim
ar

ily
 fo

r 
pe

op
le

 w
ith

 le
ar

ni
ng

 
di

ffi
cu

lti
es

 in
 o

rd
er

 to
 r

ai
se

 a
w

ar
en

es
s,

 s
oc

ia
liz

e,
 s

ha
re

 
ex

pe
rie

nc
es

 a
nd

 r
ec

ei
ve

 s
up

po
rt

.  
F

ou
r 

vo
lu

nt
ee

rs
 w

ith
 

le
ar

ni
ng

 d
iff

ic
ul

tie
s 

w
ill

 r
un

 th
e 

se
rv

ic
e,

 a
ss

is
te

d 
by

 s
up

po
rt

 
st

af
f, 

an
d 

pr
ov

id
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 fo
r 

ar
ou

nd
 fi

fte
en

 p
eo

pl
e 

ea
ch

 
w

ee
k.

 T
he

m
ed

 “
D

ro
p-

In
s”

 w
ill

 c
ov

er
 th

os
e 

P
rio

rit
ie

s 
ad

vi
se

d,
 

w
ith

 h
el

p 
fr

om
 lo

ca
l c

om
m

un
ity

 g
ro

up
s 

an
d 

ag
en

ci
es

, s
uc

h 
as

 
th

e 
po

lic
e 

an
d 

C
ity

/C
ou

nt
y 

C
ou

nc
ils

.  
T

he
 g

ra
nt

 w
ill

 p
ay

 fo
r 

pr
oj

ec
t w

or
ke

r 
co

st
s,

 v
ol

un
te

er
 T

&
S

, v
ol

un
te

er
 tr

ai
ni

ng
, 

ex
te

rn
al

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
na

ls
 a

nd
 m

at
er

ia
ls

, v
en

ue
 h

ire
, o

ffi
ce

 
ad

m
in

is
tr

at
io

n,
 o

th
er

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l f
ee

s,
 a

nd
 m

an
ag

em
en

t a
nd

 
su

pe
rv

is
io

n 
co

st
s.

R
ej

ec
te

d 
- 

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

so
ug

ht
 r

un
ni

ng
 c

os
ts

 fo
r 

an
 e

xi
st

in
g 

pr
oj

ec
t

S
af

er
 H

om
es

, S
af

er
 R

oa
ds

In
iti

at
e 

a 
N

ei
gh

bo
ur

ho
od

 W
at

ch
 (

N
H

W
) 

sc
he

m
e,

 m
ai

nl
y 

fo
r 

th
e 

el
de

rly
 r

es
id

en
ts

 in
 th

e 
ar

ea
, a

nd
 to

 h
el

p 
ad

dr
es

s 
th

e 
an

ti-
so

ci
al

 s
pe

ed
in

g 
by

 m
ot

or
is

ts
 a

lo
ng

 th
e 

ro
ad

 (
us

ed
 a

s 
a 

“r
at

 
ru

n”
).

  T
he

 g
ra

nt
 is

 to
 p

ay
 fo

r 
6 

x 
N

H
W

 s
ig

ns
, 4

 x
 n

ew
sl

et
te

rs
 

an
d 

in
vi

ta
tio

ns
 to

 p
ub

lic
is

e 
lo

ca
l m

ee
tin

gs
 a

nd
 c

am
pa

ig
ns

.  
N

o 
fu

nd
in

g 
is

 s
ou

gh
t f

or
 th

e 
an

ti-
so

ci
al

 s
pe

ed
in

g 
(“

20
’s

 p
le

nt
y”

) 
pl

ac
ar

ds
/p

os
te

rs
.

A
pp

ro
ve

d 
- 

N
H

W
 s

ch
em

e 
al

re
ad

y 
up

 a
nd

 r
un

ni
ng

£8
4.

00
Y

es
 -

 S
ee

 A
pp

en
di

x 
21

Page 63



C
am

br
id

ge
 S

af
e 

&
 L

eg
al

 C
yc

lin
g 

C
am

pa
ig

n
A

ch
ie

ve
 a

 b
al

an
ce

 b
et

w
ee

n 
en

su
rin

g 
th

at
 th

e 
la

w
 is

 e
nf

or
ce

d 
w

hi
le

 p
ro

m
ot

in
g 

sa
fe

 a
nd

 r
es

po
ns

ib
le

 c
yc

lin
g;

 b
y 

pu
rc

ha
si

ng
 

an
d 

di
st

rib
ut

in
g 

cy
cl

e 
lig

ht
s 

in
 a

 s
er

ie
s 

of
 “

ac
tio

ns
 d

ay
s”

. T
he

 
gr

an
t w

ill
 b

e 
us

ed
 to

 p
ur

ch
as

e 
30

0 
lig

ht
s 

at
 £

10
 p

er
 s

et
 

(n
or

m
al

ly
 £

21
.9

9)
. T

he
se

 li
gh

ts
 w

ill
 b

e 
is

su
ed

 a
lo

ng
 w

ith
 a

n 
F

P
N

 fo
r 

th
os

e 
cy

cl
in

g 
af

te
r 

da
rk

 w
ith

ou
t l

ig
ht

s 
on

 th
ei

r 
bi

ke

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£2

,9
78

.7
2

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

22

M
ar

ke
tin

g 
th

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

 C
om

m
un

ity
 A

lc
oh

ol
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 

C
on

tr
ib

ut
e 

to
w

ar
ds

 th
e 

co
st

s 
of

 p
ub

lic
is

in
g 

th
e 

C
A

P
, v

ia
 

le
af

le
ts

, p
os

te
rs

 a
nd

 a
 w

eb
si

te
.  

T
he

 C
A

P
 w

ill
 in

cr
ea

se
 

aw
ar

en
es

s 
am

on
gs

t y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e,
 p

ar
en

ts
 a

nd
 th

e 
ge

ne
ra

l 
co

m
m

un
ity

 o
f t

he
 h

ar
m

s 
to

 h
ea

lth
 a

nd
 s

oc
ie

ty
 o

f u
nd

er
ag

e 
dr

in
ki

ng
.  

F
oc

us
 w

ill
 s

ta
rt

 in
 P

et
er

sf
ie

ld
, R

om
se

y 
an

d 
C

ol
er

id
ge

 w
ar

ds
.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£4

,5
05

.0
0

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

23

B
ig

 Is
su

e 
O

ut
re

ac
h 

&
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

C
on

tr
ib

ut
e 

to
w

ar
ds

 th
e 

co
st

s 
of

 e
st

ab
lis

hi
ng

 jo
in

t w
or

ki
ng

 
be

tw
ee

n 
W

in
te

rc
om

fo
rt

 a
nd

 B
ig

 Is
su

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

a 
fu

nd
in

g 
an

d 
pe

rs
on

ne
l r

es
tr

uc
tu

re
.  

T
he

 g
ra

nt
 o

f £
3,

00
0 

is
 to

w
ar

ds
 th

e 
£2

6,
61

0 
co

st
s 

fo
r 

W
in

te
rc

om
fo

rt
 R

ec
ep

tio
n 

(3
7.

5h
rs

/w
ee

k)
 

an
d 

a 
B

ig
 Is

su
e 

O
ut

re
ac

h 
W

or
ke

r 
(1

4h
rs

/w
ee

k)
.  

P
ro

je
ct

 is
 

ba
ck

ed
 b

y 
C

am
br

id
ge

 C
ity

 C
ou

nc
il 

an
d 

C
am

br
id

ge
sh

ire
 

C
on

st
ab

ul
ar

y.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£3

,0
00

.0
0

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

24

T
ax

i M
ar

sh
al

 P
ro

je
ct

P
ay

 fo
r 

a 
pi

lo
t s

ch
em

e 
us

in
g 

th
re

e 
se

cu
rit

y 
st

af
f (

pr
ov

id
ed

 b
y 

H
yl

in
e 

S
ec

ur
ity

) 
to

 p
at

ro
l t

he
 S

t. 
A

nd
re

w
’s

/S
id

ne
y 

S
tr

ee
t t

ax
i 

ra
nk

 a
nd

 im
m

ed
ia

te
 a

re
a 

du
rin

g 
th

e 
ru

n 
up

 to
 C

hr
is

tm
as

 a
nd

 
N

ew
 Y

ea
r.

  T
hi

s 
ar

ea
 (

es
pe

ci
al

ly
 th

e 
ta

xi
 r

an
k)

 is
 k

no
w

n 
as

 a
 

ho
t s

po
t f

or
 a

lc
oh

ol
-r

el
at

ed
 v

io
le

nc
e 

du
rin

g 
th

is
 p

er
io

d 
an

d 
is

 
no

t a
de

qu
at

el
y 

co
ve

re
d 

by
 p

ol
ic

e 
an

d/
or

 C
C

T
V

.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£2

,4
91

.3
0

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

25

C
am

br
id

ge
 S

tr
ee

t P
as

to
rs

D
es

ig
n,

 la
un

ch
 a

nd
 m

an
ag

e 
a 

S
tr

ee
t P

as
to

rs
 s

ch
em

e 
in

 
C

am
br

id
ge

.  
T

ra
in

in
g 

vo
lu

nt
ee

rs
 w

ill
 p

ro
vi

de
 a

 r
ea

ss
ur

in
g 

pr
es

en
ce

 o
n 

th
e 

st
re

et
s 

du
rin

g 
th

e 
ni

gh
t a

nd
 p

ro
vi

de
 h

el
p 

an
d 

ad
vi

ce
 to

 y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e.
  T

he
 g

ra
nt

 w
ill

 c
on

tr
ib

ut
e 

to
w

ar
ds

 th
e 

co
st

s 
of

 u
ni

fo
rm

s 
an

d 
eq

ui
pm

en
t (

ca
pi

ta
l) 

an
d 

pu
bl

ic
ity

 a
nd

 
tr

ai
ni

ng
 (

re
ve

nu
e)

.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£3

,2
47

.0
0

£1
,7

53
.0

0
N

o 
- 

F
ul

l e
va

lu
at

io
n 

of
 

sc
he

m
e 

du
e 

S
ep

te
m

be
r 

20
10

H
ul

at
t R

oa
d 

S
ec

ur
ity

 D
oo

rs
Im

pr
ov

e 
se

cu
rit

y 
an

d 
re

du
ce

 c
rim

e 
an

d 
th

e 
fe

ar
 o

f c
rim

e 
am

on
gs

t t
he

 e
le

ve
n 

el
de

rly
 r

es
id

en
ts

 o
f H

ul
at

t R
oa

d 
by

 
re

pl
ac

in
g 

th
e 

pa
rt

-g
la

ze
d 

fr
on

t d
oo

rs
 w

ith
 m

or
e 

so
lid

 d
oo

rs
.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£2

,0
76

.2
5

N
o 

- 
E

va
lu

at
io

n 
du

e 
S

ep
te

m
be

r 
20

10

C
U

S
U

 C
yc

le
 S

af
et

y 
C

am
pa

ig
n

O
ffe

r 
fr

ee
 c

yc
le

 le
ss

on
s 

to
 fr

es
he

rs
 o

r 
an

y 
ot

he
r 

st
ud

en
ts

 w
ho

 
fe

el
 th

e 
ne

ed
 (

36
 s

tu
de

nt
s 

ha
ve

 a
lre

ad
y 

ex
pr

es
se

d 
in

te
re

st
).

 
A

ls
o,

 r
ai

se
 a

w
ar

en
es

s 
of

 s
af

er
 c

yc
lin

g 
th

ro
ug

h 
po

st
er

s 
an

d 
fly

er
s.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£1

,1
10

.4
5

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

37

C
oc

ke
re

ll 
R

oa
d 

S
he

ds
 S

ec
ur

ity
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
M

ak
e 

a 
ra

ng
e 

of
 s

ec
ur

ity
 im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 to

 s
he

ds
 u

se
d 

by
 

re
si

de
nt

s 
of

 3
0 

to
 1

72
 C

oc
ke

re
ll 

R
oa

d,
 w

hi
ch

 a
re

 s
ub

je
ct

ed
 to

 
fr

eq
ue

nt
 v

an
da

lis
m

.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£4

,7
26

.4
1

£1
20

.0
0

N
o 

- 
D

ue
 to

 s
ta

ff 
ch

an
ge

s 
in

 C
H

N
 -

 
H

ow
ev

er
, n

o 
re

po
rt

ed
 

A
S

B
, e

tc
 in

 a
re

a
Li

tc
hf

ie
ld

 R
oa

d 
R

ec
re

at
io

na
l I

m
pr

ov
em

en
ts

In
st

al
l a

 g
oa

l p
os

t s
ys

te
m

 o
n 

th
e 

pl
ay

in
g 

ar
ea

 in
 L

itc
hf

ie
ld

 
R

oa
d,

 e
nc

ou
ra

gi
ng

 b
al

l p
la

y 
w

ith
in

 th
e 

bo
un

da
rie

s 
of

 th
e 

pa
rk

.
A

pp
ro

ve
d

£2
,0

00
.0

0
Y

es
 -

 S
ee

 A
pp

en
di

x 
26

La
m

m
as

 L
an

d 
C

C
T

V
 U

pg
ra

de
U

pg
ra

de
 th

e 
ex

is
tin

g 
C

C
T

V
 s

ys
te

m
 b

y 
ad

di
ng

 th
re

e 
ex

tr
a 

ca
m

er
as

 a
nd

 r
ep

la
ci

ng
 th

e 
re

co
rd

er
.

R
ej

ec
te

d 
- 

W
ith

dr
aw

n 
as

 n
ot

 s
up

po
rt

ed
 b

y 
w

ar
d 

co
un

ci
llo

rs

Page 64



Is
la

m
 &

 E
xt

re
m

is
m

 C
on

fe
re

nc
e

H
ol

d 
a 

co
nf

er
en

ce
 g

iv
in

g 
ba

si
c 

Is
la

m
ic

 k
no

w
le

dg
e 

to
 

pr
ac

tit
io

ne
rs

 a
nd

 o
th

er
s,

 e
xp

lo
rin

g 
th

e 
w

or
d 

“ji
ha

d”
 a

nd
 it

s 
m

ea
ni

ng
, l

oo
ki

ng
 a

t w
ha

t i
s 

lin
ki

ng
 Is

la
m

 w
ith

 e
xt

re
m

is
m

 a
nd

 
se

ek
in

g 
to

 c
la

rif
y 

Is
la

m
’s

 s
ta

nc
e 

on
 s

uc
h 

ac
ts

.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£6

52
.5

0
Y

es
 -

 B
rie

f r
ep

or
t f

ro
m

 
Ja

m
es

 M
cW

ill
ia

m
s

C
ov

en
t G

ar
de

n 
G

at
e

E
re

ct
 a

 g
at

e 
at

 th
e 

en
tr

an
ce

 o
f a

 s
ha

re
d 

dr
iv

ew
ay

 o
n 

M
ill

 R
oa

d
to

 p
re

ve
nt

 u
se

 b
y 

st
re

et
-li

fe
, d

ru
g 

de
al

er
s,

 a
nd

 a
s 

a 
to

ile
t.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£5

,0
00

.0
0

N
o 

- 
D

el
ay

s 
in

 fi
na

lis
in

g 
sc

he
m

e 
- 

E
va

lu
at

io
n 

du
e 

N
ov

em
be

r 
20

10

S
af

et
y 

A
t L

ife
cr

af
t C

C
T

V
In

st
al

l t
hr

ee
 C

C
T

V
 c

am
er

as
 o

n 
th

e 
ex

te
rn

al
 w

al
ls

 o
f B

at
h 

H
ou

se
, t

o 
m

on
ito

r 
th

os
e 

ap
pr

oa
ch

in
g 

th
e 

fr
on

t e
nt

ra
nc

e,
 a

nd
 

re
la

te
d 

re
co

rd
in

g 
eq

ui
pm

en
t.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£3

,7
58

.2
0

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

27

S
ec

ur
ity

 Im
pr

ov
em

en
t -

 W
al

po
le

 R
oa

d 
F

la
ts

In
st

al
l a

 d
oo

r 
an

d 
do

or
 e

nt
ry

 s
ys

te
m

 in
 o

rd
er

 to
 d

et
er

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
lo

ite
rin

g 
in

 a
 s

ha
re

d 
co

m
m

un
al

 e
nt

ra
nc

e.
R

ej
ec

te
d 

- 
W

ith
dr

aw
n 

du
e 

to
 la

ck
 o

f f
ul

l a
gr

ee
m

en
t f

ro
m

 
re

si
de

nt
s

M
ill

 R
oa

d 
C

em
et

er
y 

- 
E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l I

m
pr

ov
em

en
ts

F
un

di
ng

 fo
r 

B
rit

is
h 

T
ru

st
 fo

r 
C

on
se

rv
at

io
n 

V
ol

un
te

er
s 

(B
T

C
V

) 
to

 w
or

k 
w

ith
 v

ol
un

te
er

s 
in

 th
e 

lo
ca

l a
re

a 
to

 c
le

ar
 u

p 
ov

er
 g

ro
w

n
ve

ge
ta

tio
n 

an
d 

po
or

ly
 m

an
ag

ed
 s

ec
tio

ns
 o

f M
ill

 R
oa

d 
C

em
et

er
y.

 £
25

0 
is

 th
e 

da
y 

ra
te

 fo
r 

B
T

C
V

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£2

50
.0

0
Y

es
 -

 S
ee

 A
pp

en
di

x 
28

B
ob

by
 F

or
 C

am
br

id
ge

In
tr

od
uc

e 
a 

th
ird

 p
ar

t-
tim

e 
B

ob
by

 b
as

ed
 in

 C
am

br
id

ge
. T

he
 

gr
an

t w
ou

ld
 p

ro
vi

de
 a

 u
ni

fo
rm

 a
nd

 e
ss

en
tia

l e
qu

ip
m

en
t f

or
 a

 
th

ird
 v

an
 a

lre
ad

y 
ow

ne
d 

by
 th

e 
B

ob
by

 S
ch

em
e.

 S
al

ar
y 

co
st

s 
fo

r 
th

e 
th

ird
 B

ob
by

 a
re

 b
ei

ng
 fu

nd
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

po
lic

e,
 th

is
 g

ra
nt

 is
 

fo
r 

ca
pi

ta
l s

ta
rt

 u
p 

co
st

s.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£4

,2
16

.9
1

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

29

S
af

e 
C

hi
ld

re
n 

- 
S

af
e 

S
ta

ff
P

ro
vi

de
 s

ta
ff 

w
ith

 h
ig

h-
vi

si
bi

lit
y 

T
-s

hi
rt

, w
al

ki
e-

ta
lk

ie
s 

an
d 

m
ob

ile
 p

ho
ne

s.
 T

he
 g

ro
up

 p
ro

vi
de

s 
le

is
ur

e 
ac

tiv
iti

es
 fo

r 
ch

ild
re

n 
w

ith
 le

ar
ni

ng
 d

is
ab

ili
tie

s.
  T

he
 T

-s
hi

rt
s 

w
ill

 h
el

p 
id

en
tif

y 
st

af
f t

o 
th

e 
ch

ild
re

n,
 w

hi
ls

t t
he

 w
al

ki
e-

 ta
lk

ie
s 

an
d 

m
ob

ile
 p

ho
ne

s 
w

ill
 k

ee
p 

st
af

f i
n 

co
nt

ac
t w

ith
 e

ac
h 

ot
he

r 
du

rin
g 

ex
cu

rs
io

ns
.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£7

07
.0

0
Y

es
 -

 S
ee

 A
pp

en
di

x 
30

T
he

 J
un

ct
io

n 
F

oy
er

C
on

ve
rt

 p
ar

t o
f t

he
 fo

ye
r 

ar
ea

 in
 T

he
 J

un
ct

io
n 

to
 a

 m
ul

ti-
us

e 
yo

un
g 

pe
rs

on
s 

ar
ea

. F
un

di
ng

 to
 b

e 
us

ed
 fr

om
 th

e 
ab

or
te

d 
"O

ne
 S

to
p 

S
ho

p"
 p

ro
je

ct
 g

ra
nt

ed
 £

10
,0

00
 in

 M
ay

 2
00

4.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£1

0,
00

0.
00

N
o 

- 
D

el
ay

s 
in

 fi
na

lis
in

g 
sc

he
m

e 
- 

E
va

lu
at

io
n 

du
e 

S
ep

te
m

be
r 

20
10

S
tr

ee
t G

am
es

U
nd

er
ta

ke
 1

2 
w

ee
ks

 o
f d

iv
er

si
on

ar
y 

ac
tiv

ity
 a

t t
im

es
 o

f t
he

 d
a y

th
at

 A
S

B
 is

 a
t i

ts
 h

ig
he

st
 le

ve
l.

W
ith

dr
aw

n 
- 

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

so
ug

ht
 fu

nd
s 

fo
r 

ex
is

tin
g 

pr
oj

ec
t -

 
A

ct
iv

e 
C

om
m

un
iti

es
 to

 s
ee

k 
fu

nd
s 

fr
om

 a
lte

rn
at

iv
e 

so
ur

ce
 in

 
fu

tu
re

.
E

as
t B

ar
nw

el
l C

om
m

un
ity

 C
en

tr
e 

C
C

T
V

R
ep

la
ce

 h
ar

d 
dr

iv
e 

fo
r 

C
C

T
V

 s
ys

te
m

.
W

ith
dr

aw
n 

- 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
so

ug
ht

 m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 c
os

ts
 fo

r 
ex

is
tin

g 
S

af
er

 C
ity

 fu
nd

ed
 p

ro
je

ct
 fo

r 
w

hi
ch

 a
 m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 

co
nt

ra
ct

 w
as

 s
up

po
se

d 
to

 b
e 

in
 p

la
ce

.
S

ec
ur

ity
 / 

P
ea

ce
 o

f M
in

d
In

st
al

l s
tr

ee
t l

ig
ht

in
g 

an
d 

C
C

T
V

.
W

ith
dr

aw
n 

- 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
fr

om
 a

n 
in

di
vi

du
al

.

20
09

-2
01

0
M

an
or

 P
la

ce
 C

C
T

V
In

st
al

l a
 C

C
T

V
 s

ys
te

m
 a

t e
nt

ra
nc

es
 to

 M
an

or
 P

la
ce

 to
 c

om
ba

t 
A

S
B

, i
nc

lu
di

ng
 fr

ee
ru

nn
er

s,
 b

ik
e 

th
ie

ve
s 

an
d 

dr
un

ks
 fr

om
 th

e 
lo

ca
l p

ub
.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£5

,0
28

.9
5

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

31

M
aw

so
n 

R
oa

d 
S

ec
ur

ity
 G

at
e

E
re

ct
 a

 s
ec

ur
ity

 g
at

e 
ac

ro
ss

 a
 p

as
sa

ge
w

ay
 b

et
w

ee
n 

tw
o 

te
rr

ac
e 

bl
oc

ks
 o

n 
M

aw
so

n 
R

oa
d,

 to
 p

re
ve

nt
 b

ur
gl

ar
ie

s 
to

 th
e 

16
 e

ffe
ct

ed
 p

ro
pe

rt
ie

s 
(1

2 
on

 M
aw

so
n 

R
oa

d 
an

d 
4 

on
 G

lis
so

n 
R

oa
d)

.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£1

,6
62

.9
0

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

32

Page 65



G
ra

ffi
ti 

W
or

ks
ho

p 
an

d 
D

is
pl

ay
Im

pl
em

en
t t

he
 w

in
ni

ng
 id

ea
 o

f t
he

 S
ay

 Y
es

 C
ha

lle
ng

e 
20

08
 

fr
om

 C
ol

er
id

ge
 C

om
m

un
ity

 C
ol

le
ge

.  
T

he
 id

ea
 is

 b
as

ic
al

ly
 to

 
ha

ve
 m

ob
ile

 ‘w
al

l’ 
on

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
th

s 
ca

n 
ex

pr
es

s 
th

em
se

lv
es

 
us

in
g 

gr
af

fit
i s

af
el

y 
an

d 
le

ga
lly

. T
he

 g
ra

nt
 s

ou
gh

t w
ill

 ‘m
at

ch
 

fu
nd

’ t
ha

t f
ro

m
 T

he
 G

ra
fto

n 
an

d 
w

ill
 c

on
tr

ib
ut

e 
to

w
ar

ds
 

m
at

er
ia

ls
 a

nd
 g

ra
ffi

ti 
ar

tis
t/s

ta
ff 

tim
e.

 T
he

 p
ro

je
ct

 is
 s

up
po

rt
ed

 
by

 th
e 

S
af

er
 C

om
m

un
iti

es
 S

ec
tio

n 
an

d 
C

hY
pP

S
.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£5

00
.0

0
N

o 
- 

E
-m

ai
l f

ro
m

 
P

ru
de

nt
ia

l 4
 Y

ou
th

M
or

tim
er

 R
oa

d 
S

tr
ee

t L
ig

ht
in

g
T

o 
up

gr
ad

e 
th

e 
ex

is
tin

g 
st

re
et

 la
m

ps
 in

 M
or

tim
er

 R
oa

d 
an

d 
in

st
al

l a
 C

C
T

V
 s

ys
te

m
 to

 p
re

ve
nt

 a
tta

ck
s 

on
 lo

ca
l 

re
si

de
nt

s/
st

ud
en

ts
. T

he
 u

pg
ra

di
ng

 o
f t

he
 s

tr
ee

t l
am

ps
 w

ill
 b

e 
un

de
rt

ak
en

 b
y 

th
e 

C
ou

nt
y 

C
ou

nc
il.

P
ar

tia
lly

 a
pp

ro
ve

d 
- 

C
C

T
V

 d
ee

m
ed

 n
ot

 s
ui

ta
bl

e
£1

,7
00

.8
2

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

33

R
av

en
sw

or
th

 G
ar

de
ns

 C
hi

ld
re

n'
s 

P
la

yg
ro

un
d

S
ec

ur
e 

th
e 

ch
ild

re
n’

s 
pl

ay
 a

re
a 

at
 n

ig
ht

 to
 p

re
ve

nt
 A

S
B

 b
y 

m
ea

ns
 o

f r
ai

se
d 

he
ig

ht
 to

 th
e 

ex
is

tin
g 

fe
nc

in
g 

an
d 

th
e 

in
st

al
la

tio
n 

of
 ti

m
ed

 lo
ck

s.

A
pp

ro
ve

d 
- 

O
n 

a 
tr

ia
l p

er
io

d 
of

 2
 y

ea
rs

£7
,9

35
.0

0
N

o 
- 

E
va

lu
at

io
n 

(if
 a

ny
) 

du
e 

A
ug

us
t 2

01
1

O
pe

ra
tio

n 
C

yc
lo

ne
P

ro
vi

de
 s

ix
 h

ig
hl

y 
vi

si
bl

e 
an

d 
m

ar
ke

d 
po

lic
e 

cy
cl

es
 fo

r 
us

e 
by

 
th

e 
C

on
st

ab
ul

ar
y 

as
 p

ar
t o

f “
O

pe
ra

tio
n 

C
yc

lo
ne

”.
R

ej
ec

te
d 

- 
£1

,7
53

 g
ra

nt
 fr

om
 a

bo
rt

ed
 A

lp
ha

 W
ay

 g
at

in
g 

(R
ou

nd
 4

 2
00

5/
06

) 
he

ld
 b

y 
po

lic
e 

to
 b

e 
di

ve
rt

ed
 to

 th
is

 
pr

oj
ec

t
P

ol
ic

e 
In

fo
rm

at
io

n 
K

io
sk

 P
ro

je
ct

E
ns

ur
e 

th
e 

pr
ov

is
io

n 
of

 im
pr

ov
ed

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

an
d 

ac
ce

ss
 to

 
su

pp
or

t s
er

ve
s 

fo
r 

vi
ct

im
s 

by
 p

ro
vi

di
ng

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 a

 w
al

l-
m

ou
nt

ed
 to

uc
h 

sc
re

en
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
po

in
t a

t A
dd

en
br

oo
ke

’s
 

A
&

E
 D

ep
ar

tm
en

t. 
 T

he
 s

ys
te

m
 w

ill
 p

ro
vi

de
 a

cc
es

s 
to

 C
JS

 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n,
 v

ic
tim

 s
up

po
rt

 s
er

vi
ce

s,
 h

ea
lth

 in
te

rv
en

tio
n 

se
rv

ic
es

, a
nd

 w
ill

 p
ro

vi
de

 c
rim

e 
pr

ev
en

tio
n 

m
es

sa
ge

s 
an

d 
po

lic
e 

co
nt

ac
ts

.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£1

,7
43

.3
3

£5
76

.6
7

N
o 

- 
E

va
lu

at
io

n 
du

e 
S

ep
te

m
be

r 
20

10

S
ex

 W
or

ke
rs

 A
dv

is
or

y 
N

et
w

or
k 

(S
W

A
N

)
A

ss
is

t C
D

IP
 w

ith
 th

e 
st

ar
t u

p 
fu

nd
in

g 
of

 th
is

 p
ro

je
ct

 fo
r 

pu
bl

ic
ity

 m
at

er
ia

ls
, a

cc
om

m
od

at
io

n 
(d

ro
p-

in
 c

en
tr

e)
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 
as

so
ci

at
ed

 c
os

ts
.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£3

,0
00

.0
0

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

34

F
ea

r 
of

 Q
ue

er
R

un
 a

 n
um

be
r 

(1
0)

 o
f w

or
ks

ho
ps

 w
ith

 y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e 
to

 e
xp

lo
re

 
ha

te
 c

rim
e 

an
d 

ho
m

op
ho

bi
a,

 a
s 

w
el

l a
s 

w
or

k 
w

ith
 (

an
d 

he
lp

 
pr

om
ot

e)
 th

e 
O

pe
n 

O
ut

 r
ep

or
tin

g 
sc

he
m

e.
  T

he
 r

es
ul

t w
ill

 b
e 

to
 p

ut
 o

ut
 a

 p
os

iti
ve

 im
ag

e 
ca

m
pa

ig
n 

in
 C

am
br

id
ge

.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£4

,3
45

.0
0

N
o 

- 
E

va
lu

at
io

n 
st

ill
 

pe
nd

in
g

Li
fe

 C
oa

ch
in

g 
at

 C
am

br
id

ge
 W

om
en

's
 R

es
ou

rc
e 

C
en

tr
e

T
ea

ch
 li

fe
-c

oa
ch

in
g 

te
ch

ni
qu

es
 to

 th
os

e 
w

om
en

 w
ho

 a
re

 li
ke

ly
 

to
 e

ith
er

 b
e 

vi
ct

im
s 

of
 d

om
es

tic
 v

io
le

nc
e 

or
 li

ke
ly

 to
 r

e-
of

fe
nd

.
A

pp
ro

ve
d

£1
,0

00
.0

0
Y

es
 -

 S
ee

 A
pp

en
di

x 
35

F
er

nw
oo

d 
S

he
lte

re
d 

H
ou

si
ng

 F
en

ci
ng

R
ep

la
ce

 th
e 

ex
is

tin
g 

on
e 

m
et

re
-h

ig
h 

ch
ai

n 
lin

k 
fe

nc
in

g 
w

ith
 

tw
o 

m
et

re
 h

ig
h 

w
oo

de
n 

fe
nc

in
g.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£3

,4
59

.9
8

N
o 

- 
P

ro
je

ct
 m

an
ag

er
 

si
nc

e 
m

ov
ed

 o
n

A
bb

ey
 a

nd
 C

ol
er

id
ge

 A
ct

io
n 

fo
r 

Y
ou

th
R

ed
uc

e 
A

S
B

 in
 th

e 
E

as
t B

ar
nw

el
l a

re
a 

by
 p

ro
vi

di
ng

 a
 r

an
ge

 o
f

di
ve

rs
io

na
ry

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
 fo

r 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 (

tw
o 

gr
ou

ps
 –

 Y
ea

r 
6 

an
d 

Y
ea

rs
 7

-1
1)

.  
F

un
di

ng
 is

 fo
r 

m
ee

tin
g 

ro
om

 h
ire

, y
ou

th
 

pa
rt

ic
ip

at
io

n 
pa

ne
ls

, a
 m

us
ic

 p
ro

je
ct

 a
nd

 a
 s

po
rt

s 
pr

oj
ec

t.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£4

,4
26

.0
0

N
o 

- 
E

va
lu

at
io

n 
st

ill
 

pe
nd

in
g

T
ac

kl
in

g 
P

re
ju

di
ce

E
du

ca
te

 th
e 

ge
ne

ra
l p

ub
lic

, p
ol

ic
e 

an
d 

ot
he

r 
pr

of
es

si
on

al
 

bo
di

es
 a

bo
ut

 th
e 

pr
ej

ud
ic

e 
su

ffe
re

d 
by

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
ith

 d
is

ab
ili

tie
s 

by
 m

ea
ns

 o
f s

pe
ci

al
ly

-f
ilm

ed
 e

pi
so

de
s 

pr
od

uc
ed

 to
 D

V
D

 a
nd

 
w

eb
si

te
s.

R
ej

ec
te

d 
- 

D
ee

m
ed

 m
or

e 
of

 a
n 

ar
ts

 p
ro

je
ct

 a
nd

 n
ot

 w
ith

in
 

th
e 

re
m

it

Page 66



B
ra

ck
yn

 A
nd

 C
or

rie
 R

oa
ds

 L
ig

ht
in

g 
A

nd
 F

en
ci

ng
In

st
al

l a
 s

tr
ee

t l
ig

ht
 o

n 
C

or
rie

 R
oa

d 
/ B

ra
ck

yn
 R

oa
d 

cu
t 

th
ro

ug
h 

an
d 

re
pa

ir 
a 

br
ok

en
 s

ec
tio

n 
of

 w
oo

de
n 

fe
nc

in
g 

by
 th

e 
B

ra
ck

yn
 R

oa
d 

ga
ra

ge
s.

 B
ot

h 
w

ill
 h

op
ef

ul
ly

 le
ad

 to
 a

 r
ed

uc
tio

n 
in

 A
S

B
 in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 a
nd

 a
n 

im
pr

ov
em

en
t i

n 
re

si
de

nt
s 

fe
el

in
gs

 
of

 s
af

et
y 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
a 

ro
bb

er
y 

in
 th

e 
pa

ss
ag

ew
ay

 e
ar

lie
r 

in
 

20
09

.

A
pp

ro
ve

d 
- 

P
ro

je
ct

 p
ar

t f
un

de
d 

fr
om

 S
S

C
F

£4
,1

91
.2

0
N

o 
- 

E
va

lu
at

io
n 

no
t 

ex
pe

ct
ed

 d
ue

 to
 n

at
ur

e 
of

 a
pp

lic
at

io
n 

an
d 

la
ck

 o
f 

pr
oj

ec
t m

an
ag

er

C
ol

um
bu

s 
P

ro
je

ct
P

ro
du

ce
 a

 g
ui

de
 (

x5
,0

00
) 

an
d 

as
so

ci
at

ed
 p

ro
m

ot
io

na
l p

os
te

r 
(x

1,
00

0)
.

R
ej

ec
te

d 
- 

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

so
ug

ht
 fu

nd
s 

fo
r 

ex
is

tin
g 

pr
oj

ec
t

C
am

br
id

ge
 N

ig
ht

 M
ap

P
ro

du
ce

 a
 fo

ld
in

g 
cr

ed
it 

ca
rd

-s
iz

ed
 m

ap
 o

f t
he

 “
ni

gh
t-

tim
e 

ec
on

om
y”

 o
f C

am
br

id
ge

 -
 s

ho
w

in
g 

lo
ca

tio
n 

of
 ta

xi
-r

an
ks

, b
us

 
ro

ut
es

, A
T

M
s,

 e
tc

. a
s 

w
el

l a
s 

im
po

rt
an

t t
el

ep
ho

ne
 n

um
be

r 
- 

fo
r

vi
si

to
rs

, s
tu

de
nt

s 
an

d 
re

si
de

nt
s.

  T
he

 a
im

 o
f t

he
 m

ap
 w

ill
 b

e 
to

 
as

si
st

 v
is

ito
rs

 le
av

in
g 

th
e 

ci
ty

 a
nd

 h
el

p 
st

ud
en

ts
 fe

el
 m

or
e 

co
nf

id
en

t a
nd

 s
af

e 
in

 th
e 

ci
ty

, e
sp

ec
ia

lly
 a

t n
ig

ht
.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£2

,5
00

.0
0

N
o 

- 
E

va
lu

at
io

n 
st

ill
 

pe
nd

in
g

W
ils

on
 C

lo
se

 C
C

T
V

P
ur

ch
as

e 
an

d 
in

st
al

l 4
 C

C
T

V
 c

am
er

as
 a

nd
 a

ss
oc

ia
te

d 
re

co
rd

in
g 

eq
ui

pm
en

t a
lo

ng
 W

ils
on

 C
lo

se
 in

 o
rd

er
 to

 a
dd

re
ss

 
fe

ar
 o

f c
rim

e 
an

d 
A

S
B

 in
 th

e 
ar

ea
.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£4

,9
09

.3
0

N
o 

- 
P

ro
je

ct
 d

el
ay

ed
 d

ue
 

to
 p

ro
bl

em
s 

w
ith

 lo
ca

tio
n 

si
te

 fo
r 

on
e 

of
 th

e 
ca

m
er

as
F

ai
r 

S
tr

ee
t C

ar
 P

ar
k 

G
at

e
E

re
ct

 a
 b

ric
k 

w
al

l a
nd

 w
oo

de
n 

lo
ck

ab
le

 g
at

e 
ac

ro
ss

 a
 

co
m

m
un

al
 b

ac
k 

pa
ss

ag
e 

an
d 

bi
ke

 s
he

d 
th

at
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

th
e 

si
te

 
of

 p
er

si
st

en
t A

S
B

.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£2

,5
41

.0
0

Y
es

 -
 S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

38

N
ig

ht
 F

ev
er

 F
oo

tb
al

l
P

ro
vi

de
 “

su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

lif
e 

sk
ill

s”
 to

 y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e 
in

 n
or

th
 

C
am

br
id

ge
 b

y 
m

ea
ns

 o
f f

re
e 

w
ee

kl
y 

fo
ot

ba
ll 

se
ss

io
ns

 a
nd

 1
-2

-
1 

co
ac

hi
ng

.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£4

,8
35

.0
0

£1
60

.0
0

N
o 

- 
E

va
lu

at
io

n 
du

e 
M

ar
ch

 2
01

1

S
ec

ur
ity

 fo
r 

A
tte

nd
ee

s 
(M

os
qu

e 
S

ec
ur

ity
 L

ig
ht

in
g)

P
ro

vi
de

 s
ec

ur
ity

 to
 th

e 
m

os
qu

e 
an

d 
cu

ltu
ra

l c
en

tr
e 

by
 in

st
al

lin
g

iro
n 

ga
te

s 
an

d 
se

cu
rit

y 
lig

ht
s,

 in
 o

rd
er

 to
 c

om
ba

t A
S

B
.

P
ar

tia
lly

 a
pp

ro
ve

d 
- 

T
he

ft 
of

 ir
on

 g
at

es
 s

ho
ul

d 
be

 c
ov

er
ed

 b
y

in
su

ra
nc

e 
- 

G
ra

nt
 o

nl
y 

fo
r 

lig
ht

in
g

£1
,2

17
.2

4
N

o 
- 

Li
gh

ts
 n

ot
 y

et
 

in
st

al
le

d

P
rim

ar
y 

C
ou

rt
 R

ep
la

ce
m

en
t F

en
ci

ng
R

ep
la

ce
 d

am
ag

ed
 fe

nc
in

g 
by

 P
rim

ar
y 

C
ou

rt
.

R
ej

ec
te

d 
- 

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

m
or

e 
an

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l i
m

pr
ov

em
en

t-
T

o 
be

 fu
nd

ed
 b

y 
S

af
er

 C
om

m
un

iti
es

 S
ec

tio
n

T
ax

i D
riv

er
 C

rim
e 

P
re

ve
nt

io
n 

E
ve

nt
H

ol
d 

a 
on

e-
da

y 
ev

en
t, 

ai
m

ed
 a

t t
ax

i d
riv

er
s,

 fo
cu

ss
in

g 
on

 
co

nf
lic

t m
an

ag
em

en
t, 

le
gi

sl
at

io
n 

an
d 

cr
im

es
 r

el
ev

an
t t

o 
th

e 
ta

xi
-d

riv
in

g 
co

m
m

un
ity

. T
he

 g
ra

nt
 w

ill
 c

ov
er

 v
en

ue
 a

nd
 tr

ai
ne

r 
co

st
s;

 ta
xi

 d
riv

er
s 

w
ill

 c
ov

er
 th

e 
re

fr
es

hm
en

t c
os

ts
.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£7

90
.0

0
Y

es
 -

 S
ee

 A
pp

en
di

x 
36

S
ta

y 
S

af
e!

P
ro

du
ce

, p
ro

m
ot

e 
an

d 
di

st
rib

ut
e 

pe
rs

on
al

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

ca
rd

s 
to

 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 w

ith
 d

is
ab

ili
tie

s,
 in

 o
rd

er
 to

 a
dd

re
ss

 th
e 

co
nc

er
ns

 o
f t

ho
se

 p
eo

pl
e 

in
 r

el
at

io
n 

to
 fe

el
in

g 
vu

ln
er

ab
le

 a
nd

 
be

in
g 

th
e 

vi
ct

im
s 

of
 c

rim
e.

 T
he

 a
im

 o
f S

ta
y 

S
af

e 
is

 to
 m

ak
e 

pe
op

le
 w

ith
 d

is
ab

ili
tie

s 
fe

el
 s

af
er

 g
oi

ng
 o

ut
 in

 C
am

b 
C

ity
 

C
en

tr
e,

 E
qu

ip
 th

em
 w

ith
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
re

qu
ire

d 
to

 g
et

 h
el

p 
in

 a
n 

em
er

ge
nc

y,
 E

nc
ou

ra
ge

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
ith

 d
is

ab
ili

tie
s 

to
 r

ep
or

t 
cr

im
es

, E
nc

ou
ra

ge
 b

us
in

es
se

s 
ar

ou
nd

 th
e 

ci
ty

 to
 w

or
k 

to
ge

th
er

 a
nd

 p
re

ve
nt

 c
rim

es
 a

ga
in

st
 p

eo
pl

e 
w

ith
 d

is
ab

ili
tie

s,
 

R
ed

uc
e 

cr
im

es
 a

ga
in

st
 p

eo
pl

e 
w

ith
 le

ar
ni

ng
 d

iff
ic

ul
tie

s 
in

 
C

am
br

id
ge

 C
ity

 C
en

tr
e

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£2

,3
83

.0
0

N
o 

- 
E

va
lu

at
io

n 
du

e 
O

ct
ob

er
 2

01
0

Page 67



R
ic

hm
on

d 
R

oa
d 

N
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
 S

ec
ur

ity
 S

ch
em

e
P

ro
vi

de
 a

 w
ho

le
 r

an
ge

 o
f s

ec
ur

ity
 im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 to

 p
ro

pe
rt

ie
s 

in
 R

ic
hm

on
d 

R
oa

d,
 in

 o
rd

er
 to

 c
re

at
e 

a 
sa

fe
 a

nd
 s

ec
ur

e 
en

vi
ro

nm
en

t. 
 T

he
 p

ro
pe

rt
ie

s 
w

er
e 

id
en

tif
ie

d 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

co
ns

ul
ta

tio
n 

an
d 

w
or

ki
ng

 w
ith

 C
ity

 R
an

ge
rs

 a
nd

 th
e 

po
lic

e.
R

A
 w

ill
 w

or
k 

in
 c

on
ju

nc
tio

n 
w

ith
 th

e 
se

le
ct

ed
 c

on
tr

ac
to

r,
 

In
fin

ito
.

A
pp

ro
ve

d
£5

,0
00

.0
0

N
o 

- 
N

ot
 y

et
 a

dv
is

ed
 o

f 
co

nc
lu

si
on

 o
f p

ro
je

ct

V
ol

un
te

er
 ID

 B
ad

ge
s

F
un

d 
th

e 
co

st
s 

of
 p

ro
du

ci
ng

 a
nd

 m
ai

lin
g 

ou
t 2

00
 la

m
in

at
ed

 ID
 

ba
dg

es
 to

 C
ru

se
 v

ol
un

te
er

s.
R

ej
ec

te
d 

- 
Is

su
e 

of
 ID

 b
ad

ge
s 

de
em

ed
 p

ar
t o

f n
or

m
al

 
bu

si
ne

ss
T

ac
kl

e 
Li

fe
T

ar
ge

t y
ou

ng
 m

en
 a

ge
d 

19
+,

 w
ho

 h
av

e 
be

en
 o

ut
 o

f w
or

k 
fo

r 
a t

le
as

t 6
 m

on
th

s,
 in

 th
e 

no
rt

h 
of

 th
e 

ci
ty

; w
or

ki
ng

 w
ith

 C
R

C
 to

 
ad

dr
es

s 
la

ck
 o

f s
ki

lls
, q

ua
lif

ic
at

io
ns

 a
nd

 s
el

f e
st

ee
m

 u
si

ng
 

fo
ot

ba
ll 

di
ve

rs
io

na
ry

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
 a

s 
a 

“h
oo

k”
.

R
ej

ec
te

d 
- 

P
ro

je
ct

 c
on

fli
ct

ed
 w

ith
 o

th
er

 C
ou

nt
y 

en
ga

ge
m

en
t 

pr
oj

ec
ts

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
by

 C
Y

P
S

Page 68



Cambridge City Council Item

To: Community Services Scrutiny Committee 

Report by: Executive Councillor for Community Development 
& Health – Cllr. Tim Bick 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Community Services Scrutiny 
Committee

Wards affected: All Wards 

Draft: LAA Performance Report 2009/10 – CAMBRIDGRESHIRE 
CHILDREN’S TRUST 

Not a Key Decision 

1. Executive summary

1.1 The City Council is a key partner in Cambridgeshire Together. This 
partnership has overall responsibility for negotiating the Local Area 
Agreement for Cambridgeshire and making sure it is delivered. 

1.2 Cambridgeshire Together has delegated responsibility for delivery of 
targets within the LAA to 6 thematic strategic partnerships.  
Partnership arrangements are presently being reviewed and it is likely 
that there will be fewer partnership bodies in the future. 

1.3 An Executive Councillor from the City Council sits on Cambridgeshire 
Together and each of the thematic strategic partnerships. It was 
agreed that they present an annual report on performance against 
their partnership’s LAA targets to the relevant City Council Scrutiny 
Committee. This paper is one of six providing this report. 

2. Recommendations 

The Scrutiny Committee is recommended to: 

2.1 Consider the 2009/10 year-end performance against the LAA 
indicators that have been assigned to the Community Wellbeing 
Partnership.

2.2 Advise the Executive Councillor of any issues or suggestions for 
further action that the partnership should consider to improve 
performance against the indicators.  

Agenda Item 10

Page 69



3. Background 

3.1 The Local Area Agreement  (LAA) for Cambridgeshire is an 
agreement between the government and Cambridgeshire County 
Council and its partners for improving selected services and getting 
better outcomes for local people. It contains a number of targets (55) 
and the intention was for the government to appraise performance 
against these, with the possibility of Reward Grant being distributed 
based on their achievement, at the end of a 3 year period (2008/09 to 
2010/11). This grant has now been withdrawn, as a part of the new 
government’s public spending review, and it is unlikely that a 
“refreshed” LAA will be in place after April 2011.

3.2 Cambridgeshire Together is the body responsible for overseeing the 
LAA and acts as the Local Strategic Partnership for Cambridgeshire. It 
has assigned responsibility for developing and delivering actions to 
bring about the improvements in the LAA to 6 thematic strategic 
partnerships, involving elected members, who work with specialist 
officers with responsibility for services contributing to the targets in 
their area. Some of the partnerships existed before the LAA and have 
a wider remit. Partnership arrangements are presently being reviewed 
and it is likely that there will be fewer county-wide partnership bodies 
in the future, especially if there is no LAA to deliver. 

3.3 Many City Council staff are presently involved in partnership work. 
Partnership working, when effective, can have major benefits for the 
City Council. For example, it can help us to deliver our own objectives 
such as sustainable growth and reducing CO2 emissions by 
influencing the priorities of partners and the way in which they deliver 
their services. 

3.4 Cambridge Local Strategic Partnership (LSP) set out a vision for the 
City in its Sustainable Community Strategy. This helped inform the 
Vision for Cambridgeshire, which in turn set the priorities that formed 
the focus of the LAA.  Therefore, if the LAA is successfully delivered, 
the City’s Sustainable Community Strategy will, to a large extent, also 
be delivered. 

3.5 Cambridge LSP has now merged with South Cambridgeshire LSP to 
form a single LSP covering both districts. It continues to monitor the 
performance of the LAA locally and is looking to ensure that local 
partnerships and lead partners are contributing effectively to its 
achievement. One key task for the new LSP over the next year will be 
to prepare a shared Sustainable Community Strategy. This will involve 
consulting partnerships and other stakeholders about local priorities.  
The approach to developing the strategy may need to change, 

Page 70



however, with the emergence of new frameworks and reference points 
from the government. 

3.6 Cambridge City Council has nominated Executive members to each of 
the 6 thematic strategic partnerships, to the Cambridgeshire Together 
Board and Cambridge Local Strategic Partnership. As well as helping 
to facilitate better partnership working and bringing about service 
improvements across partner agencies, the Council agreed that 
Executive members would give an account of the partnerships work to 
their scrutiny committees, so that scrutiny committee members can 
assess progress.

3.7 This report focuses on the performance of indicators, overseen by this 
partnership, that have been assigned LAA targets. 

4. Introduction to Cambridgeshire Children’s Trust 

4.1 The Children and Young People’s Strategic Partnership agreed at 
their meeting of 11 September 2009 to the decommissioning of the 
strategic partnership and the formation of the new Cambridgeshire 
Children’s Trust. This had been required by legislation. 

4.1 The Cambridgeshire Children's Trust is the sum total of co-operative 
arrangements and partnerships between organisations with a role in 
improving outcomes for children and young people. The 
Cambridgeshire Children's Trust Board is the statutory group for 
ensuring that Trust arrangements work in Cambridgeshire. Councillor 
Tim Bick represents the City Council on the Board. 

4.2 The purpose of the Children's Trust Board (“the Board”) is to set the 
strategic direction and commissioning of services in Cambridgeshire in 
order to improve outcomes for children and young people. The way 
this will be done is through the BigPlan2 and Children's Workforce 
Strategy. The Board has a strong relationship with the Local 
Safeguarding Children Board and they support and challenge the 
Board in its work. 

4.3 Supporting the Board in delivering this work are the Children's Trust 
Executive and the Children and Young People's Area Partnerships. 
The area partnership covering the City is the Cambridge and South 
Cambridgeshire Area Partnership, one of the three such area 
partnerships in the county. Area partnerships allow local service 
providers and service users to engage with the Board, bringing 
forward local issues. 

Page 71



4.4 Cambridgeshire Children's Trust has agreed the following four 
priorities for children and young people in Cambridgeshire for the next 
twelve months. 

Priority One:  To help children and young people feel safe and happy 
 in their communities by: 

- Providing safe places to play and access to positive activities 
(including play and sport) 

- Tackling bullying and discrimination 
- Reducing accidents and intentional injuries to children and 

young people 
- Reducing the number of children and young people involved in 

antisocial behaviour and criminal activity 
- Promoting positive images of young people  

Priority Two: To narrow the gap in outcomes for children and young 
 people by: 

- Improving achievement for all and narrowing the gap for specific 
groups of children and young people 

- Improving health for all and narrowing the gap in health 
outcomes for specific groups of children and young people  

Priority Three: To improve outcomes for children and young people 
 with learning difficulties and disabilities and complex needs  

Priority Four: To meet the needs of children and young people in 
 areas of growth or demographic change

4.5 Other key work underway currently is to consider both the needs 
identified in the new Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for children 
and young people and individual organisational requirements in order 
to determine priorities for the Trust for collective and individual agency 
action.This work will be finalised in October. 

 4.6 The Cambridgeshire Children’s Board has overseen the performance 
 monitoring of the following LAA targets: 

o NI 51 - Effectiveness of child and adolescent mental health 
services 

o NI 54 – Services for disabled children 
o NI 69 – Children who have experienced bullying (LOCAL

TARGET)
o NI 70 Hospital admissions for children/young people for 

intentional and non-intentional injuries 
Page 72



o NI 110 – Young people’s participation in positive activities 
o NI 111 – First time entrants to the Youth Justice System 
o NI 112 – Under 18 conception rate 
o NI 117 16-18 in NEET 

5.0 Performance against LAA targets  

5.1 Overall the majority of performance indicators in this area were 
thought to be on target. The following LAA indicators, shown in Table 
1, overseen by this partnership had missed its target at the end of the 
second year. 

Table1:  Underperforming Indicators at end of year 2009/10 

NI Description Baseline
Current

Performan
ce

Target
2009/10

NI 112 Equality & Inclusion 
Under 18 conception rate -16.2% -15% 

(2007/08) -37.7%

NI 117 
Equality & Inclusion 
16-18 Not in Education, Employment 
or Training (NEET) 

5% 5.5% 4.8% 

5.2 The target to reduce the under 18 conception rate in 
Cambridgeshire is hampered by the 14 month delay in the publication 
of the data, due to the way it is collected. In 2007 Cambridgeshire saw 
a small rise in the conception rate (rate per 1,000 girls aged 15 to17), 
which mirrored a national increase in rates. This increase equates to 
only 6 conceptions across the county. Across districts progress has 
been variable and although the City has seen a reduction (just over 
11% against the baseline of 37 per 1,000 girls aged 15 – 17 years old) 
the numbers are relatively low (at 33.1per 1,000 girls aged 15-17 
years old) making targeted action difficult in some places. Teenage 
pregnancy is linked to a wide variety of factors such as deprivation 
levels, educational attainment at schools, involvement in crime, looked 
after children, etc. 

5.3 The Sexual Health and Teenage Pregnancy Partnership is guiding 
work in this area and has implemented a number of projects that will 
make a difference in reducing conceptions. This partnership is only 
guaranteed funding until the end of 2010/11 and there is uncertainty 
about whether the work of the team will continue in the future. If the 
target is not achieved there will still have been significant 

Page 73



improvements from the work, including the improved sexual health of 
young people. 

5.4 The percentage of 16 to 18 year olds who are not in education, 
employment or training (NEET) in the county rose during the course 
of the year reflecting the decrease in employment opportunities for 
young people. This was partially offset by an increase, during the 
same period, of the number of 16 to 18s remaining in learning. 

5.5 At present (prior to the start of the new academic year) it is difficult to 
ascertain performance because many young people haven’t decided 
to take up of their entitlement to an offer of a place in learning yet. The 
position in the City has improved from a peak of 7.4% at the height of 
the recession to just over 6% or 182, 16 – 18 year old people. 
Cambridge LSP partners were encouraged to offer a range of work 
related learning opportunities for young people, particularly 
apprenticeships at a meeting in November 2009. The LSP also agreed 
to re-direct some of its Reward Grant allocation to support work to 
reduce the number of NEETS in the City. 

6.0 Local issues affecting performance of LAA targets  

6.1 The Area Partnership assists with the delivery and review of Big Plan 
2 activities and targets. It also provides a vehicle for researching and 
promoting action on local needs. In 2009 the City and County Councils 
jointly commissioned research into the needs of children and young 
people living in deprivation and at risk of disaffection across South 
Cambs and the City. This research has been used to inform the 
development of a programme of activities prioritising work on bullying, 
access to mental health services and on the provision of social and 
recreation opportunities in isolated or underprovided areas and 
neighbourhoods.

7. Implications 

7.1 The LAA sets out shared priorities and agreed targets for partners 
across the County, including Cambridge City Council. Failure to meet 
these targets will have an impact on the quality of life of County 
residents.

Financial

7.2 Failure to meet all the LAA targets at the end of the 3 year period 
(2008/09 – 2010/11) will reduce the amount of grant awarded to 
Cambridgeshire Together, assuming this is allocated. 

Page 74



Staff

7.3 A considerable number of City Council staff from all departments are 
working with partners to deliver the LAA. 

Equal Opportunities

7.4 Equality and Inclusion is a key strand of the LAA 

Community Safety 

7.5 Safer and Stronger Communities is a key strand of the LAA 

8. Background papers 

These background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 

Cambridgeshire Area Self Assessment – May 2010 
Local Area Agreement, Year End Performance Report  - May 2010 
Proposals for a New Model of Partnership Working – May 2010 
Cambridge LSP, Performance Management Report – January 2010 
Children and Young Living in Deprivation, the Disaffected and at Risk of Disaffection 
– March 2010 

9. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: 
Author’s Phone Number:
Author’s Email:

Page 75



Page 76

This page is intentionally left blank



Cambridge City Council Item

To: Community Services Scrutiny Committee 

Report by: Executive Councillor for Community Development 
and Health - Cllr Tim Bick 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Community Services Scrutiny 
Committee

Wards affected: All Wards 

LAA Performance Report 2009/10 - SAFER AND STRONGER 
STRATEGIC BOARD

Not a Key Decision 

1. Executive summary

1.1 The City Council is a key partner in Cambridgeshire Together. This 
partnership had overall responsibility for negotiating the Local Area 
Agreement (LAA) for Cambridgeshire and is overseeing its delivery. 

1.2 Cambridgeshire Together has delegated responsibility for delivery of 
targets within the LAA to 6 thematic strategic partnerships.  The 
Leader sits on Cambridgeshire Together and an Executive Councillor 
from the City Council sits on each of the thematic strategic 
partnerships.

1.3 It was agreed that they should present an annual report on 
performance against their partnership’s LAA targets to the relevant 
City Council Scrutiny Committee. This paper relates to the LAA targets 
delegated to the Safer and Stronger Strategic Board under the theme 
of Safer and Stronger Communities. The Executive Councillor for 
Community Development and Health represents the City Council on 
this partnership. 

2. Recommendations 

The Scrutiny Committee is recommended to: 

2.1 Consider the 2009/10 year-end performance against the LAA 
indicators that have been assigned to the Safer and Stronger Board. 

2.2 Advise the Executive Councillor of any issues or suggestions for 
further action that the partnership should consider to improve 
performance against the indicators.  

Agenda Item 11

Page 77



3. Background 

3.1 An approach to our involvement in, and reporting on, county-wide 
thematic strategic partnerships was agreed by the Leader at Strategy 
and Resources scrutiny committee on 19 January 2009. Executive 
Councillors, nominated by the Council, now sit on the Cambridgeshire 
Together Board alongside other key public service stakeholders in the 
county and are involved in each of its six thematic strategic 
partnerships.

3.2 It was agreed that they should present an annual report on 
performance against their partnership’s LAA targets to the relevant 
City Council Scrutiny Committee. This paper relates to the LAA targets 
‘owned’ by the Safer and Stronger Board under the theme of Safer 
and Stronger Communities. The Executive Councillor for Community 
Development and Health represents the City Council on this 
partnership.

4. Introduction to Safer and Stronger Strategic Board 

4.1 The Safer and Stronger Strategic Board (“the Board”) grew out of the 
Community Safety Strategic Board and brings together Community 
Safety Partnerships (formerly Crime and Disorder Reduction 
Partnerships), the Domestic Violence Partnership, the Drug and 
Alcohol Action Team, the Road Safety Partnership, Community 
Cohesion, Community Engagement and Third Sector Development. 

4.2 Recent work of the Board has included a commitment to extend an 
integrated Offender Management Programme across Cambridgeshire, 
the development and launch of the a Third Sector Assembly, 
agreement about the allocation of revenue funding to district 
Community Safety Partnerships, Domestic Abuse Unit and Priority 
and Prolific Offender schemes in Cambridgeshire and the 
implementation of new duties to improve the economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness of its sub-partnerships.  

4.3 The Safer Officer Group and the Stronger Officer Group sit beneath 
the Safer and Stronger Strategic Board, bringing together 
representatives from key partner organisations. They provide the main 
operational direction for the two themes (Safer and Stronger) and take 
the lead on managing performance against the National Indicators 
(performance targets agreed with central government). 

Page 78



4.4 The Board oversees the performance of the following LAA targets: 

  To be reduced: 

o NI 16 - serious acquisitive crime (burglary, vehicle crime and 
robbery)

o N I 17 - perception of anti-social behaviour 
o N I 20 - assault with less serious injury 
o NI 21 - dealing with local concerns about antisocial behaviour 

and crime issues by the local council and police (Local 
Target)

o NI 32 - repeat incidents of domestic violence 
o NI 47 - people killed or injured in road traffic accidents 
o NI 115 - substance misuse by young people 

 To be increased: 

o NI 1 - % of people who believe people from different 
backgrounds get on well together

o NI 4 - % of people who feel they can influence decisions in 
their locality 

o  NI 7 - environment for a thriving third sector 

5.0 Performance against LAA targets  

5.1 Overall the majority of performance indicators in this area were 
thought to be on target. The following LAA indicators, shown in Table 
1, overseen by this partnership had missed its target at the end of the 
second year. 

Table1:  Underperforming Indicators at end of year 2009/10 

NI Description Baseline Current
Performance

Target
2009/10

NI 115 
Safer & Stronger 
Substance misuse by young people 11.8 9.6 9.1

5.2 The indicator for substance misuse by young people, the number of 
young people who are thought to be using drugs, is measured at a 
district level through the TellUs41 survey, which was carried in late 
2009. It is also used to inform other national indicators of the views of 
children and young people about their area. The Safer and Stronger 
Strategic Board is seeking to negotiate a more appropriate target with 
GOEast, as it feels this indicator overstates the extent of misuse.

                                           
1

Page 79



Local issues affecting performance of LAA targets

6. Safer Communities 

6.1  2009/10 was generally a successful year in meeting targets for the 
 Cambridge Community Safety Partnership.  However, delays in 
 getting confirmation of Safer and Stronger Funding for 2010/11 and 
 subsequent cuts of 10% in the promised funding have meant that the 
 majority of projects have been hold until July of this year with possible 
 impact on reduction in crime for the first half of this year.  The 
 Community Safety Partnership have now reviewed their spend plan 
 and task group action plans and are working hard to make up for lost 
 time. Local outcomes for indicators that the partnership contributes to 
 are shown below.  

a. NI16 – Serious Acquisitive Crime (SAC) 

6.2 This indicator includes burglary of homes, personal robbery, business 
 robbery and theft from and of vehicles.  In 2009/10 SAC was reduced 
 overall in Cambridge City by 21%, when compared to the previous 
 year.  The Cambridge Community Safety Partnership had burglary 
 and personal robbery as priorities and the Acquisitive Crime Group 
 had an extensive action plan to reduce these crimes.

6.3 Burglary of homes was reduced by 27%. As part of Operation 
 Vigilance – a home office funded initiative – the burglary task group 
 carried out a series of actions, for example:  

!" A small number of suspected prolific offenders were identified and 
 then targeted.   Enforcement activities were organised, planned 
 and executed to disrupt their offending behaviour. 
!" The City Council’s refuse vehicles were used to run an advertising 
 campaign promoting ‘Crimestoppers’ and to encourage the 
 anonymous submission of information regarding offenders. 
!" The Cambridge Community Safety Partnership funded continuation 
 of the focused youth work in the north of the City.  The work was 
 also replicated and extended to the south. Between 8-10 young 
 people were positively engaged in diversionary activities.

6.4 Personal robbery was reduced by 27%.  

 Work includes:   

!" Running a marketing campaign targeting groups most represented 
 as both victims and offenders of personal robbery.

Page 80



!" The Children and Young People’s Services targeting diversionary 
 activities to increase the awareness of the consequences of 
 offending behaviour.   
!" The physical environment of areas identified to be at risk of 
 personal robbery offences were improved through better lighting 
 and fencing.    

6.5 Burglary and Personal robbery remain priorities for the Cambridge 
 Community Safety Partnership for 2010/11.

b. NI17 – Perceptions of anti-social behaviour (ASB)
c. NI21 - Dealing with local concerns about anti-social behaviour and 
crime by the local council and police

6.6 The focus for the Cambridge Community Safety Partnership (CCSP) 
 for 2009/10 was on alcohol related anti-social behaviour, and 
 vehicle/pedal cycle-related ASB. Criminal damage is monitored as the 
 crime most closely related to ASB.  The CCSP priority to reduce these 
 offences below the levels of 2008/09 has been soundly achieved.

6.7 Criminal damage offences (including Threats) were 19.6% lower
 than in 2008/09.  When compared with similar partnerships in its 
 family group, Cambridge is 5th out of 15 partnerships.

 The projects that contributed to the reduction included: 

!" Street surgeries which were held by City Council, Police, Fire and 
 Rescue Service and the Bobby Scheme, promoting community 
 safety messages, distributing forensic property marking fluid and 
 fitting security locks and fire alarms.  Broken fences were mended 
 and garage blocks painted.  Labour was provided under the ‘
 community payback’ scheme and extra policing.   
!" The ‘Sort Your Lights Out’ project aimed to discourage anti-social 
 cycling and encourage safe and legal parking.  Council staff and 
 police held a series of events where 210 fixed penalty notices were 
 issued and 200 sets of lights were fixed.   
!" The Motiv8 Youth project targeted 12-15 year olds on acceptable 
 behaviour contracts (ABCs) or at risk of obtaining ABCs and 
 provided structured activities, The Young people were rewarded by 
 qualifications at the end of the project.  Of the 13 youths who 
 attended only 2 have come to the attention of the police since the 
 end of the project.   

d. N120 – Assault with injury

6.8  The priority for the Cambridge Community Safety Partnership for
 2009/10 was Alcohol Related Violent Crime.  This priority is 

Page 81



 monitored through recorded offences for Assault with Less Serious 
 Injury; these offences were reduced by 13% in 2009/10 when 
 compared with the previous year.  When compared with similar 
 partnerships in its family group, Cambridge is 3rd out of 15 
 partnerships so is performing very well.   

 The Alcohol Related Violent Crime and ASB task group worked on 
 projects including: 

!" Operation Sodium – providing a highly visible police presence in 
 hotspot areas in the City and supporting partner agencies in the 
 nighttime economy on special events during the year such as 
 Christmas and New Year. 
!" Street Pastors, where trained volunteers patrol on Friday and 
 Saturday nights, providing practical assistance to people in difficulty 
 or distress from over-indulgence. 
!" CAMBAC taxi marshalling, the nighttime care facility, training for 
 bar staff and work with Addenbrookes Emergency Department.

6.9 Alcohol related violent crime and anti-social behaviour remain a 
 priority for the Cambridge Community Safety Partnership for 2010/11. 

e. NI32 – Repeat incidence of Domestic Violence 

6.10 The County target for NI32 is that repeat rates should not be higher 
 than 28% has been achieved.  The highest number of referrals to 
 the Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) in the 
 County is from Cambridge, making up 30% of all referrals for the 
 2009/10.  Efficiencies and savings have been made by working 
 closely with other districts on the issue of domestic abuse. It made 
 sense therefore for the City, South and East Domestic Violence task 
 groups to be merged and this has happened.

6.11 The Sanctuary scheme continued to provide victims of domestic 
 abuse with a secure area within a property, allowing them and their 
 dependents to remain in the family home, avoiding homelessness.  5 
 Sanctuaries were provided in Cambridge City last year. Other projects 
 that continued to tackle domestic abuse were the Women’s Freedom 
 programme run by Women’s Aid providing 48 groups sessions and the 
 Young people’s freedom programme run by Romsey Mill aimed at 
 young women who had been subjected to domestic abuse.   

6.12 Domestic Violence remains a priority for the Cambridge Community 
 Safety Partnership for 2010/11.  

f. NI115 - Substance misuse by young people

Page 82



6.13 The Drug and Alcohol Team report that they have exceeded their 
 2009/10 target for the number of clients in effective treatment: the 
 number of Problem Drug Users is 1.187 (118% of the target) and the 
 number of adults is 1,418 (115% of the target).

 Work includes: 

!" A new treatment service the Cambridgeshire Child and Adolescent 
 Substance Use Service (CASUS) is expected to have a positive 
 impact on the amount of work that can be done is this area across 
 the County as staffing levels have increased and links with other 
 service deliverers has improved.   
!" The Prolific and Priority Offenders and the Drug Intervention 
 programmes have been merged and re-located to Parkside Police 
 Station and will now be managed under the Integrated Offender 
 Management initiative.
!" Addaction has been contracted to provide Alcohol Services across 
 the County.  The key feature of the new service is to deliver within 
 the community to raise awareness of the dangers of alcohol abuse 
 and to maximise access to specialist help for “emerging risk” 
 drinkers.   

7. Stronger Communities

7.1 The City’s grant funding contributes to the general aims of the safer 
 and stronger themes and specifically to a number of indicators, for 
 example: 

a. NI 32 - repeat incidents of domestic violence 
 Work includes: 

!" Funding to support the delivery of the Freedom Programme 
 courses. 

b. NI 1% - people who believe people from different backgrounds get 
on well together

 Work includes: 

!" Establishing a new grants budget 2010-11 within Community 
 Developing support for community cohesion projects  
!" Generally Community Development Grants, including Area 
 Committee Grants, support activities and services across the 
 diverse range of communities in local neighbourhoods, across the 
 City and the surrounding area. 
!" Consultation is taking place on combating the threat of violent 
 extremism and building better relations with Muslim communities, in 
 particular.

Page 83



!" Delivering LPSA projects such as Bling-Ya-Ting and the 
 Cambridge Mela. 

c.NI 7 – environment for a thriving third sector
 Work includes: 

!" Developing and raising awareness of the voluntary sector 
 Compact. 
!" The formation of a Compact and Funders Countywide Partnership.  
!" Standardisation of grant forms across the statutory agencies 
!" Infrastructure Organisation’s Review 
!" Joint Monitoring of organisations funded by multiple statutory 
 agencies 
!" Mapping the funding allocated by statutory agencies to third sector 
 organisations countywide.

7. Implications 

7.1 The LAA sets out shared priorities and agreed targets for partners 
across the County, including Cambridge City Council. Failure to meet 
these targets will have an impact on the quality of life of County 
residents.

Financial

7.2 Failure to meet all the LAA targets at the end of the 3 year period 
(2008/09 – 2010/11) will reduce the amount of grant awarded to 
Cambridgeshire Together, assuming this is allocated. 

Staff

7.3 A considerable number of City Council staff from all departments are 
working with partners to deliver the LAA. 

Equal Opportunities

7.4 Equality and Inclusion is a key strand of the LAA 

Community Safety 

7.5 Safer and Stronger Communities is a key strand of the LAA 

Page 84



8. Background papers 

These background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 

Cambridgeshire Area Self Assessment – May 2010 
Local Area Agreement, Year End Performance Report  - May 2010 
Proposals for a New Model of Partnership Working – May 2010 
Cambridge LSP, Performance Management Report – January 2010

9. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: Alan Carter 
Author’s Phone Number: 01223 457948 
Author’s Email: Alan.carter@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 85



Page 86

This page is intentionally left blank



Cambridge City Council Item

To: Executive Councillor for Arts & Recreation - Cllr 
Rod Cantrill 

Report by: Debbie Kaye, Head of Arts & Recreation 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Community Services Scrutiny 
Committee

14/10/2010

Wards affected: None

CONTRACTS FOR THE SUPPLY OF PRODUCTION SERVICES TO THE 
FOLK FESTIVAL IN THE FINANCIAL YEARS 2011-2013
Not a Key Decision 

1. Executive summary

The information in this report will enable Scrutiny Committee and the 
Executive Councillor to decide whether to allow Arts & Recreation to invite 
competitive tenders for production services for forthcoming Folk Festivals.  
The Production services to be tendered comprise: 

£ Pa     Term  Contract value   
Porta Cabins    £34,000 3 years  £102,000 
Toilets & Showers    £69,000 3 years  £207,000  
Sound     £38,000 3 years  £114,000 
Marquees     £77,000 1 year  £  77,000 
TOTAL          £500,000 

2. Recommendations 

The Executive Councillor is recommended: 

2.1 To authorise the Head of Arts and Recreation to tender for a 
contractors to provide services for the Folk Festival.  These services 
comprise marquees, sound, toilets/showers & porta cabins. Total 
value of the contracts is estimated at up to £500,000. 

2.2 To authorise the Head of Arts and Recreation to award the contracts 
to the most favourable tenders, in accordance with pre-determined 
selection criteria. 

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 12

Page 87



Report Page No: 2 

3. Background 

3.1 The current contracts for Folk Festival provision have expired.   

3.2 A contract of only one year is to be offered for marquees to 
accommodate possible changes to the Folk Festival specification, as a 
result of any future re-development of the propagation centre at 
Cherry Hinton Hall.   

3.3 The other contracts (Toliets/showers, sound and porta cabins) will be 
offered on a 3 year basis but with a clause that allows us to end the 
contract after one or two years service if required.  

4. Implications 

(a) Financial Implications. The contracts have a combined value of 
£500,000.  Budgeted provision is available to cover the estimated total 
contract value. If for any reason the cost of the contract is more than 
15% higher than this, following consultation with the Director of 
Finance, the Executive Councillor will be asked to consider a decision 
on the contract award and any such acceptance of a higher offer will 
be reported to the next Scrutiny Committee.  Financial implications are 
also contained in budget papers. 

(b) Staffing Implications.  None. 

(c) Equal Opportunities Implications. All tenders shall be dealt 
within accordance with the Constitution and shall be subject to a team 
evaluation, which shall include an Officer independent of Arts & 
Recreation

(d) Environmental Implications. Environmental performance of 
contract bidders (such as their recycling policy and appropriate 
minimising of power use) will form part of the selection criteria.
Reference will be made to the Council’s Green Procurement 
Guidelines as part of the tendering and selection process.  

(e) Community Safety Implications.  Whilst noting environmental 
implications, those attending our events/parks and residents need to 
be able to see and be safe. 

Page 88



Report Page No: 3 

5. Background papers 

These background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 
Details of costs in 2010 
Budget papers 2010/11 
2008-2010 Invitation to Tender, Form of Tender, Contract Conditions, 
Specification

6. Appendices 

None

7. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: Graham Saxby 
Author’s Phone Number: 01223 - 457553
Author’s Email: Graham.saxby@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 89



Page 90

This page is intentionally left blank



Cambridge City Council 

To: Executive Councillor for Arts & Recreation  

Report by: Head of Streets and Open Spaces 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Community Services Scrutiny 
Committee

14/10/ 2010 

Proposals for the improvement and enhancement of Cherry Hinton Hall  
Key Decision 

1. Executive summary

1.1 In 2009 a series of workshops were carried out with local residents 
and a report commissioned to examine usage, needs, and the likely 
improvements needed at Cherry Hinton Hall.

1.2 Officers have worked with a series of key stakeholders to consider 
the future use of an area previously occupied by the former 
propagation centre in the centre of the Cherry Hinton Hall. In addition 
to this, stakeholders were asked to consider the whole park for 
improvement and enhancement. Both of these approaches have 
influenced the design of the masterplan which is detailed in Appendix 
A.

1.3 On the 13th May 2010, South Area Committee, considered the draft 
masterplan and agreed the inclusion of questions in the consultation 
on the principle of creating a City Farm on the former propagation 
site.  To facilitate these questions  a proposal was submitted by City 
Farm1 as set out in Appendix B. 

1.4 A public consultation has been undertaken on the draft masterplan, 
and a report has been prepared detailing the findings, making 
recommendations and this is attached as Appendix C. 

1.5 There is evidence to support the view that the masterplan has found 
wide acceptance and can be approved on this basis.   

1.6 The City Farm concept, however, has substantial support and cannot 
be ignored just because it did not form part of the initial scoping 
discussions nor feature in the masterplan.    There is, though, limited 
detail on how this may impact on the site and on other Masterplan 
content, and therefore a feasibility study should be undertaken, to 

                                           
1 http://www.cambridge-city-farm.org.uk/ 

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 13

Page 91



Report Page No: 2 

                                           

determine whether a City Farm is viable within a reasonable footprint 
in Cherry Hinton Hall, or indeed whether a different location might be 
preferable. 

2. Recommendations

2.1  The Executive Councillor is recommended to: - 

a) Approve the components of the masterplan set out at 
paragraph 4.5; 

b) To instruct officers to undertake a project appraisal of the 
masterplan for future consideration by Community Services 
Scrutiny Committee; 

c) Authorise officers to deliver the ChYpPS2 Big Lottery funded 
elements of the plan around the pond area; 

d) Support the principle of a City Farm and to instruct officers to 
work with the City Farm Project to prepare a feasibility study; 
and

e) To liaise with the Folk Festival project team to integrate the 
masterplan with operational requirements of the Folk Festival.

3. Background 

3.1 The former propagation centre compound in the centre of the Hall 
grounds has been fallow since its demolition and there have been 
discussions about future land use.

3.2 A report entitled “Understanding usage, needs, and improvements at 
Cherry Hinton Hall” – Appendix D was commissioned in January 
2009 and had the following key objectives: - 

a) To examine how people utilise the park, and to see which 
groups of people are well served, and which are less well 
served, by the park as it currently stands; 

b) To examine which facilities in the park require improvement to 
meet the needs and expectations of those who use the park for 
different purposes;

c) To explore possible future uses of the former propagation 
centre, and to gauge public and stakeholder interest in a range 
of alternative possibilities. 

2 Children and Young Peoples Youth Participation Service 

Page 92



Report Page No: 3 

3.3 The Friends of Cherry Hinton Hall group was established during 2009 
and has been a key stakeholder along with several others.  They met 
regularly and worked with the City Council to develop a clear list of 
priorities for improvements.  This included a stakeholder meeting in 
January 2010 which helped to formulate the overall objectives.  

 3.4 The primary objective is to retain the character of the Park, whilst 
improving its fabric elements of hard and soft landscape to create the 
new layouts and replace the essential public buildings 

3.5 A sketch masterplan was formulated and also included elements of a 
pre-approved (Community Services Scrutiny 01/07/10) ChYpPS 
lottery funded project in the area surrounding the pond (creation of a 
wildflower meadow, seating, interpretation boards, pond dipping 
platform and Kingfisher reflection area).  

4. Consulting on the Masterplan

4.1 Public consultation on the draft masterplan commenced on 24th July 
2010 and closed on 6th September 2010. The consultation was 
publicised prior to the period and following a press release received 
coverage though local media sources.  The Friends of Cherry Hinton 
Hall delivered 2500 leaflets in the Cherry Hinton area, which also 
contained details of the consultation and the masterplan itself.  
Respondents were asked to return using one of the following 
methods: - 

!"Online by visiting the Cambridge City Council web pages; 
!"On site marquee days on 24th July (Cherry Hinton Community 

Fair – Cherry   Hinton Village Centre), 21st August (Pink 
Festival – Cherry Hinton Hall) and 25th August (ChYpPS Big 
Wednesday – Cherry Hinton Hall); 

!"On the new Cherry Hinton Hall notice board (from 16th August - 
date of board installation); 

!"By postal return of requested questionnaire; and 
!"By e:mail. 

A total of 288 responses were received. 

4.2 Consultation feedback
There is strong support for the objectives of the Masterplan, both 
overall in relation to the ethos and nature of the park, and at the more 
detailed level.  Over 90% of respondents agree at least in part with 
what the Masterplan is seeking to achieve, and at least half – usually 
more – agree fully with the stated objectives. 

Page 93



Report Page No: 4 

There is also strong agreement that the Masterplan’s ideas are a 
good way of delivering these objectives.  Between 80 and 90% of 
respondents agree at least partly with the Masterplan’s proposals, 
both at the overall level and at the more detailed level; however, 
support is less strongly voiced in some areas. 

!"There is strong support for the masterplan’s ideas on the pond 
area, services and facilities, and on footpaths;

!"Full support is less forthcoming on the hall and propagation 
site, but the masterplan is at least partly supported by an 
overwhelming majority in all cases; 

!"The overall objective of retaining the character of the park, 
whilst improving its fabric, facilities and in particular biodiversity 
attracts strong support; 

!"Other ideas are forthcoming, in particular a City Farm project 
for which there is strong and enthusiastic support both from 
individuals and organisations. It is at the same time evident that 
this project would not be supported by the Friends Group 
membership; and 

!"Several respondents also mentioned forms of art, or space for 
art, as desirable. 

4.3 Impact of the masterplan on Cambridge Folk Festival
The current layout of the festival is such that both main and behind 
the scenes infrastructure as well as camping and other concession 
stands occupy the whole Park. 

 Since the demolition of the propagation units in 2007 the festival has 
re-configured some of its layout to make use of the current vacant 
space where the glasshouses used to stand.  Whilst it is desirable for 
the Folk Festival to continue the new configuration, one of the main 
aims of the masterplan is to consider this area and bring this part of 
the park back into public use.   

 Arts and Recreation are responsible for the organisation of the 
Festival and is a key stakeholder in the process.  Concerns have 
been raised about the masterplan proposals and potential impact on 
the Event. The main areas of concern relate to the proposals on the 
former propagation site and are as follows: -

!"The proposed events space, orchard, wildflower areas, 
community garden area, adjoining trees, building and yard, will 
have an impact on ability to be able to deliver the Festival, due 
to restricted access and area available within the former 
propagation area and the loss of concrete roadway will result in 
increased annual costs for roadway.

Page 94



Report Page No: 5 

!"The proposed trees planting along boundaries and within main 
field will restrict the placement of certain infrastructure. Trees to 
be planted further into the field will impact on views of stage 
and placement of production facilities. Overall impact will be a 
restriction in Festival capacity.

The Folk Festival project team have raised other concerns, but these 
can be overcome with slight modifications and do not impact on the 
ability to deliver the masterplan. 

4.4 Proposal by City Farm
The inclusion of the City Farm proposals was added to the 
consultation, after drafting of the masterplan, and in response to a 
question raised at South Area Committee on the 13th May 2010.  The 
Masterplan does not therefore include any indication of the size or 
scale of the proposed City farm, and it does not make clear to 
respondents how it would impact on the available space. 

Consultation on the masterplan has shown that whilst there is strong 
evidence to support the principles for the City Farm, Officers have 
reservations that the scale and nature of what is proposed have not 
been made fully clear at this point, and that a better understanding of 
what a City farm may demand in terms of space, environmental 
impact, and sustainability is needed. 

It is therefore suggested that further feasibility work is carried out to 
consider the suitability of Cherry Hinton Hall and that of other sites, to 
accommodate a City Farm, and that Community Services Scrutiny 
Committee considers this at a later date. 

4.5 Proposed masterplan components.
It is recommended that a project appraisal be completed to include: - 

a) The removal of existing planting to the front of the Hall to open up 
views of the building.  A historical arrangement will be restored 
with a gravel forecourt and parterre rose garden; 

b) Restoration of lake area to promote the biodiversity of both the 
water and surrounding fauna; 

c) Incorporation of pond dipping platform, seating, barbecue area 
and kingfisher reflection area which has pre-approved funding via 
the Children’s and Youth Participation Service; 

d) Re-alignment of existing pathways and incorporation of new paths 
to the perimeter to create a circular route; 

e) To open out the central area incorporating into public space 
including a café facility, performance space and soft landscape; 

Page 95



Report Page No: 6 

f) The relocation of the current toilet provision to a more appropriate 
and            accessible position; and 

g) To further consider the current building in the centre compound 
and create a new community facility with the construction more in 
keeping with the Hall building itself. 

5. Implications

5.1 Financial Implications 

5.1.1 The masterplan has been provisionally costed using real 
measurements/ quantities and using current market prices.  The 
masterplan costing are in two stages, full estimated costings are 
provided as Appendix E. 

!"Stage One – Seeks to address overall objective of retaining the 
character of the park, whilst improving its fabric elements of 
hard and soft landscape to create the new layouts and replace 
the essential public buildings 

!"Stage Two – Addresses the current City Council service 
area/yard with the suggestion of a new community building.  
The existing building is currently leased to the Dog Warden 
Service and Cambridge Employment foundation Service. This 
element deemed desirable rather than essential and has 
therefore been costed as a separate item.

5.1.2 It is envisaged that funding for the masterplan will come from a 
number sources including The Heritage Lottery (parks for people), 
WREN (landfill tax), Big Lottery (pre-approved sum available), Urban 
forestry, internal repairs and renewal and Section 106 for which there 
are pre-approved projects for the hall, which sit comfortably with 
some of the landscape elements of the masterplan. These are 
additional tree planting / spring bulbs, lake/Pond restoration, 
manage/enhance existing woodland/pond/watercourses.

 Subject to a fully costed project appraisal the pre-approved section 
106 ideas outlined above can also be delivered.  The internal repairs 
and renewal budget will enable street furniture across the site to be 
installed. 

 It is anticipated that when further funding is secured via grant 
applications other elements such as pathway re-configuration, re-
instatement of Victorian landscape garden frontage/wall and public 
amenity buildings (Café and toilets) can be delivered.  There will also 
be the potential to consider further the larger scale buildings in the 

Page 96



Report Page No: 7 

service yard area which are currently a desirable second phase to 
the project. 

5.2 Staffing Implications
 None currently identified 

5.3 Equal Opportunities Implications 
 An equal opportunities impact assessment will be completed for the 

project.

5.5 Community Safety Implications 
None

6. Background papers

These following background papers were used in the preparation of this 
report:

!"Cherry Hinton Hall Masterplan Consultation by Phil Back Associates, 
September 2010 

!"Understanding Needs and Usage by Phil Back Associates, January 
2009

!"The draft masterplan 

7. Appendices

Appendix A - Masterplan 
Appendix B - Cambridge  City   Farm   and   Community  
Garden proposal
Appendix C – Future of Cherry Hinton Hall – Consultation on the 
Masterplan September 2010 
Appendix D - Key Outcomes from report “Understanding needs & 
usage” January 2009 
Appendix E - Provisional estimates for Masterplan work

8. Inspection of papers

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 
Author’s Name: Alistair Wilson
Author’s Phone Number: 01223 - 457000
Author’s Email: Alistair.wilson@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 97



Page 98

This page is intentionally left blank



La
n

d
sc

a
p

e
 S

ke
tc

h
 P

ro
p

o
sa

l
r

e
f:

 5
1

9
_

0
1

(R
P

)0
0

1
 P

3

M
a

rc
h

 2
0

1
0

C
h

e
r

r
y

 H
in

t
o

n
 H

a
ll

C
a

m
b

r
id

g
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il

Page 99



C
he

rr
y 

H
in

to
n 

H
al

l, 
C

am
br

id
ge

H
is

to
ri

c
 P

la
n

s

1
8

8
8

 H
is

to
ri

c
 P

la
n

1
9

0
3

 H
is

to
ri

c
 P

la
n

1
9

2
7

 H
is

to
ri

c
 P

la
n

1
8

8
8

 H
is

to
ri

c
 P

la
n

 -
 d

e
ta

il
1

9
0

3
 H

is
to

ri
c

 P
la

n
 -

 d
e

ta
il

1
9

2
7

 H
is

to
ri

c
 P

la
n

 -
 d

e
ta

il

Page 100



C
he

rr
y 

H
in

to
n 

H
al

l, 
C

am
br

id
ge

E
x

is
ti

n
g

 S
it

e

Page 101



C
he

rr
y 

H
in

to
n 

H
al

l, 
C

am
br

id
ge

S
k

e
tc

h
 L

a
n

d
sc

ap
e

 M
a

st
e

rp
la

n
 -

 R
e

v
is

io
n

 B
 (

A
p

ri
l 

2
0

1
0

)
S

c
a

le
 1

:1
0

0
0

 @
 A

3

Lo
ng

 g
ra

ss
/b

ul
bs

 w
ild

fl o
w

er
 a

re
as

Vi
st

a 
to

 p
ro

po
se

d 
ar

tw
or

k/
sc

ul
pt

ur
e 

ar
ea

Ex
ist

in
g 

pl
an

tin
g 

re
m

ov
ed

 t
o 

op
en

 v
ie

w
s 

of
 

ho
us

e.
 H

ist
or

ic
 a

rr
an

ge
m

en
t 

re
st

or
ed

, w
ith

 
gr

av
el

 fo
re

co
ur

t 
an

d 
pa

rt
er

re
 o

r 
ro

se
 g

ar
de

n

G
ra

ve
l/h

og
gi

n 
ci

rc
ui

t 
pa

th

Pa
th

s 
re

-a
lig

ne
d 

to
 s

ui
t 

de
sir

e 
lin

es

A
dd

 c
yc

le
 p

ar
ki

ng
 in

 c
ar

pa
rk

Ex
ist

in
g 

po
nd

s 
to

 b
e 

cl
ea

re
d 

ou
t 

an
d 

w
oo

dl
an

d 
im

pr
ov

ed
 b

y 
re

m
ov

in
g 

Iv
y 

fr
om

 t
re

es
, n

ox
io

us
 w

ee
ds

, s
el

ec
tiv

e 
th

in
ni

ng
 o

f t
re

es
 

an
d 

re
-p

la
nt

in
g 

na
tiv

e 
tr

ee
s 

an
d 

un
de

rs
to

re
y 

sh
ru

bs
. R

em
ov

e 
ov

er
ha

ng
in

g 
ve

ge
ta

tio
n 

fr
om

 p
on

ds
 t

o 
re

du
ce

 le
af

 fa
ll 

in
to

 w
at

er
 

(t
o 

be
 a

gr
ee

d 
w

ith
 C

ity
 C

ou
nc

il 
ec

ol
og

ist
).

Po
nd

 d
ip

pi
ng

 
pl

at
fo

rm

Pr
op

os
ed

 n
ew

 s
ea

tin
g

Pr
op

os
ed

 t
re

e 
pl

an
tin

g

Ba
rb

ec
ue

 a
re

a

Pa
th

s 
re

al
ig

ne
d

Pr
op

os
ed

 t
re

es
 a

lo
ng

 b
ou

nd
ar

y

Pr
op

os
ed

 W
C

/C
af

e?

Ex
ist

in
g 

pl
ay

 a
re

a
Pr

op
os

ed
 s

m
al

l 
tr

ee
s 

on
 m

ou
nd

Se
e 

de
ta

ile
d 

dr
aw

in
g

Pr
op

os
ed

 n
ew

 s
to

ne
 b

ri
dg

e 
an

d 
re

la
id

 p
av

in
g 

ar
ou

nd
 p

oo
l.

Th
in

 e
xi

st
in

g 
tr

ee
 p

la
nt

in
g 

to
 

op
en

 u
p 

st
re

am
, i

m
pr

ov
e 

w
at

er
 

cl
ar

ity
 a

nd
 e

nc
ou

ra
ge

 p
on

d 
di

pp
in

g

Tr
ee

 p
la

nt
in

g 
to

 
sc

re
en

 h
ou

se
s

Ex
ist

in
g 

sh
el

te
rb

el
ts

 t
o 

be
 s

el
ec

tiv
el

y 
th

in
ne

d 
(t

o 
be

 a
gr

ee
d 

w
ith

 C
ity

 C
ou

nc
il 

ar
bo

ri
cu

ltu
ri

st
)

C
le

ar
 Iv

y 
an

d 
re

ju
ve

na
te

 h
ed

ge
ro

w

Se
le

ct
iv

el
y 

th
in

 e
xi

st
in

g 
tr

ee
 b

el
ts

 
to

 a
llo

w
 b

es
t 

tr
ee

s 
to

 t
hr

iv
e 

an
d 

un
de

rp
la

nt
 u

nd
er

pl
an

t 
w

ith
 H

az
el

 
an

d 
H

aw
th

or
n 

et
c 

(C
op

pi
ce

).

Ex
ist

in
g T

en
ni

s 
C

ou
rt

D
es

ig
n 

C
on

ce
pt

Th
e 

M
as

te
rp

la
n 

A
im

s:

-  
 T

o 
re

ta
in

 t
he

 e
xi

st
in

g 
ch

ar
ac

te
r 

an
d 

us
es

 o
f t

he
 p

ar
k, 

w
hi

lst
 im

pr
ov

in
g 

its
 fa

br
ic

, f
ac

ili
tie

s 
an

d 
bi

od
iv

er
sit

y. 

-  
 T

o 
re

st
or

e 
th

e 
hi

st
or

ic
 s

et
tin

g 
of

 t
he

 H
al

l b
ui

ld
in

g 
an

d 
     

     
re

cr
ea

te
  t

he
 s

en
se

 o
f a

 r
es

id
en

ce
 w

ith
in

 a
 p

ar
kl

an
d.

 T
o 

im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

vi
sib

ili
ty

 o
f t

he
 H

al
l b

y 
re

m
ov

in
g 

th
e 

de
ns

e 
pl

an
tin

g 
on

 it
s 

So
ut

h 
sid

e,
 a

nd
 r

es
to

re
 s

om
et

hi
ng

 o
f t

he
 

or
ig

in
al

 c
ar

ri
ag

e 
sw

ee
p 

an
d 

fo
rm

al
 p

la
nt

in
g, 

po
ss

ib
ly

 a
 r

os
e 

ga
rd

en
.

 -  
 T

o 
de

ve
lo

p 
th

e 
fo

rm
er

 p
ro

pa
ga

tio
n 

ce
nt

re
 a

re
a 

as
 a

 p
ub

-
lic

 s
pa

ce
 a

t 
th

e 
he

ar
t 

of
 t

he
 p

ar
k, 

in
co

rp
or

at
in

g 
a 

fl e
xi

bl
e 

ev
en

ts
 s

pa
ce

, a
nd

 a
re

as
 o

f o
rc

ha
rd

, w
ild

fl o
w

er
 a

re
as

 a
nd

 
co

m
m

un
ity

 g
ar

de
ni

ng
 s

pa
ce

s 
re

la
tin

g 
to

 t
he

 fo
rm

er
 w

al
le

d 
ga

rd
en

s 
of

 t
he

 H
al

l. 

-  
 T

o 
im

pr
ov

e 
th

e 
qu

al
ity

 o
f t

he
 s

pa
ce

s 
ar

ou
nd

 t
he

 w
ei

r 
an

d 
im

pr
ov

e 
co

nd
iti

on
s 

fo
r 

pa
dd

lin
g, 

po
nd

-d
ip

pi
ng

 e
tc

.  
 

-  
 T

o 
im

pr
ov

e 
se

at
in

g 
an

d 
ac

ce
ss

 t
o 

th
e 

w
at

er
 in

 t
hi

s 
im

po
rt

an
t ‘

hu
b’

 a
re

a. 

-  
 T

o 
co

nn
ec

t 
di

sp
ar

at
e 

pa
rt

s 
of

 t
he

 p
ar

k 
w

ith
 p

at
hs

 a
nd

 
pl

an
tin

g, 
in

cl
ud

in
g 

a 
ci

rc
ui

t 
ro

ut
e 

ar
ou

nd
 t

he
 p

ar
k.

 -  
 T

o 
im

pr
ov

e 
th

e 
le

gi
bi

lit
y 

of
 p

at
hs

 a
nd

 r
ou

te
s, 

ca
te

r 
fo

r 
‘d

es
ire

 li
ne

s’ 
an

d 
sim

pl
ify

 t
he

 p
at

h 
ne

tw
or

k. 

-  
 T

o 
sp

re
ad

 t
he

 p
ro

vi
sio

n 
of

 W
C

s 
an

d 
po

ss
ib

ly
 c

at
er

in
g 

co
nc

es
sio

ns
 a

cr
os

s 
th

e 
sit

e,
 r

es
po

nd
in

g 
to

 t
he

 p
at

te
rn

s 
of

 
us

e.
 -  

 T
o 

im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

st
ru

ct
ur

e,
 q

ua
lit

y 
an

d 
di

ve
rs

ity
 o

f t
he

 e
x-

ist
in

g 
w

oo
dl

an
ds

, h
ed

ge
s 

an
d 

tr
ee

 b
el

ts
, t

hi
nn

in
g 

ou
t 

w
he

re
 

ne
ce

ss
ar

y 
an

d 
ad

di
ng

 u
nd

er
st

or
ey

 p
la

nt
in

g 
an

d 
co

pp
ic

e.

-  
 T

o 
im

pr
ov

e 
th

e 
ec

ol
og

ic
al

 a
nd

 v
isu

al
 c

on
di

tio
n 

of
 t

he
 

po
nd

s 
ar

ea
. T

o 
dr

ed
ge

 t
he

 w
at

er
 b

od
ie

s 
of

 s
ilt

 a
nd

 r
em

ov
e 

ov
er

ha
ng

in
g 

ve
ge

ta
tio

n.
 T

o 
th

in
 a

nd
 r

ep
la

nt
 t

he
 w

oo
dl

an
d 

ar
ea

s 
as

 n
ec

es
sa

ry
 t

o 
re

ta
in

 b
io

di
ve

rs
ity

 a
nd

 s
tr

uc
tu

re
, 

an
d 

re
m

ov
e 

iv
y 

fr
om

 t
re

es
. C

re
at

e 
gl

ad
es

 b
y 

op
en

in
g 

up
 

th
e 

ca
no

py
 in

 p
la

ce
s. 

To
 a

dd
 a

qu
at

ic
 p

la
nt

in
g 

to
 t

he
 p

on
ds

 
to

 im
pr

ov
e 

w
at

er
 q

ua
lit

y 
an

d 
so

fte
n 

th
e 

en
gi

ne
er

ed
 p

on
d 

ed
ge

s. 

-  
 T

o 
ra

tio
na

lis
e 

se
at

in
g 

pr
ov

isi
on

 a
nd

 im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

qu
al

ity
 

of
 b

en
ch

es
. T

o 
im

pr
ov

e 
sig

na
ge

 a
nd

 in
te

rp
re

ta
tio

n 
an

d 
in

st
al

l n
ew

 li
tt

er
 b

in
s, 

a 
de

di
ca

te
d 

ba
rb

ec
ue

 a
re

a 
et

c. 
 

Li
ne

 o
f E

xi
st

in
g 

fe
nc

e/
he

dg
e 

Ya
rd

A
cc

es
s 

to
 r

ec
yc

lin
g 

ce
nt

re

Pr
op

os
ed

 p
at

h 
w

ith
 s

ea
tin

g

Page 102



Proposed trees

Information 
boards

Seat

Timber deck Lake

Cafe/toilets

Mill stone

Stone band

Bound 
gravel

Bound gravel 
promenade

Performance space/
Cafe lawn

Stage

Grass bank

Chalk Wildfl ower

Orchard

Seats

Existing hedge and 
fence removed

Community run vegetable /
fl ower gardens

Yard

Path realigned

Cherry 
Hinton 

Hall

Orchard

Existing toilets removed

Proposed 
planting

Existing Sequoia

Parterre or rose 
garden

Existing planting 
removed

Transplant Beech

Chalk Wildfl ower 
Seats

Path realigned

Proposed hedge

Existing Beech 
hedge

Remove conifer 
hedge

Proposed 
brick wall

Proposed new buildings to replace existing 
and to refl ect historic outbuildings.

Storage/compost area

Local East of England 
fruit varieties

Proposed new 
bridge

Proposed tree 
planting

Page 103



C
he

rr
y 

H
in

to
n 

H
al

l, 
C

am
br

id
ge

Pr
ec

ed
en

t 
Im

ag
es

Page 104



!"#$%&'()*!&+,*-"%#*".'*!/##0.&+,*1"%').*
203+"&."$4)*)'05"+&/.*5%)"+&.(*303+"&."$4)*5/##0.&+,*

6%/7/3"4*
!"#$%#&$'(&)*#"$%#&$&+,-"$'%&$'(&$.%,+#&!,%/&0$"1&$'(&
!)112',%/&3$"(#'&)'&%4#&.2""#'%5/&(,626#(&*")*$7$%,)'&
.#'%"#&6,%#&,'&!4#""/&8,'%)'&8$559&

89"+*:/04'*&+*$)*4&;)<*
• :&61$55;6.$5#&<$"1=&*")+,(,'7&+,6,%)"6&>,%4&%4#&.4$'.#&

%)&)-6#"+#&$'(&,'%#"$.%&>,%4&$',1$56&,'&$&6$<#&
#'+,")'1#'%9&

• ?#1)'6%"$%,)'&7$"(#'6@&.)'%$,'#"6=&6A2$"#;<))%&7$"(#'6=&61$55&7$"(#'6=&$55)%1#'%6=&*")+,(,'7&
#B$1*5#6&$'(&,'6*,"$%,)'&)<&4)>&<))(&.$'&-#&7")>'&$%&4)1#&$'(&5).$55/9&

• !)2"6#6&$'(&>)"C64)*6@&D#7,''#"6&+#7#%$-5#&7")>,'7=&6##(&6)>,'7=&E*5)%&%)&*5$%#F=&.)1*)6%,'7=&
6##(&6$+,'7=&.4,.C#'&"#$",'7&$'(&C##*,'7=&)"7$',.&7$"(#','7=&#%.=&$,1#(&$%&$55&$7#69&

• G.4))56=&/)2%4&7")2*6&$'(&)%4#"&7")2*6&+,6,%,'7&$'(&5#$"','7&$-)2%&<))(&7")>,'7&$'(&)%4#"&
#'+,")'1#'%$5&,662#6&$'(&4#5*,'7&>,%4&%4#&.$"#&)<&%4#&$',1$56&$'(&.")*69&

• :&.)112',%/&+#7#%$-5#&7$"(#'=&<)"&61$55;6.$5#&*")(2.%,)'&)<&<))(&-/&5).$5&"#6,(#'%69&
• !)112',%/&1#$56=&26,'7&*")(2.#&<")1&%4#&7$"(#'9&

89,*&3*!9)%%,*=&.+/.*="44>3*/4'*7%/7"("+&/.*5).+%)*".*&')"4*3&+)<*
H4#&6,%#&,6&>,%4,'&IJ;IK&1,'2%#6&>$5C&)<&L&*",1$"/&6.4))56&$'(&M&6#.)'($"/&6.4))569&
H4#&*$"C&,6&$5"#$(/&$&*)*25$"&(#6%,'$%,)'=&,'&$&"#6,(#'%,$5&$"#$=&6)&%4#"#&$"#&1$'/&*$66,'7&+,6,%)"69&
H4#&6,%#&4$6&$&7))(&-)2'($"/&<#'.#&$'(&,6&$5"#$(/&6#%&$*$"%&<")1&%4#&
"#6%&)<&%4#&*$"C9&
N)6%&)<&%4#&7")2'(&$"#$&,6&6),5&$'(&4$6&')%&-##'&*"#+,)265/&
.)'."#%#(&)"&-2,5%&)'9&
!4#""/&8,'%)'&8$55&$5"#$(/&)<<#"6&#B.#55#'%&+,6,%)"&<$.,5,%,#6&O%),5#%6=&
*5$/&$"#$6=&./.5#&*$"C,'7=&#%.P&6)&%4,6&>)25(&')%&'##(&6#*$"$%#&
*")+,6,)'&,'&%4#&!,%/&0$"19&

=/:*5".*+9&3*$)*"59&)?)'<*
H4#&6,%#&.)25(&-#&%"$'6<)"1#(&)+#"&%4#&.)2"6#&)<&$&<#>&>##C#'(6&
>,%4&QJ;MJ&+)52'%##"6=&>,%4&)'5/&$&+#"/&1)(#6%&<,'$'.,$5&)2%5$/9&H4#&
,',%,$5&>)"C&>)25(&,'+)5+#&.5#$",'7&)<&>##(6&$'(&$&61$55&$1)2'%&)<&6%)"#(&.)2'.,5&#A2,*1#'%=&%4#&(,77,'7&
)+#"&)<&%4#&(#1)'6%"$%,)'&$"#$6&$'(&.)112',%/&7$"(#'&$"#$=&$'(=&(#*#'(,'7&)'&%4#&%,1#&)<&/#$"=&6)>,'7&
6##(6&$'(&*5$'%,'7&<"2,%&%"##6&$'(&-264#69&?2",'7&%4,6&*#",)(&>#&>)25(&$**5/&<)"&7"$'%6&$'(&()'$%,)'6&
<")1&+$",)26&6)2".#6&<)"&%4#&,'6%$55$%,)'&)<&$',1$5&<#'.,'7&$'(&4)26,'7=&$'(&<)"&(#+#5)*,'7&%4#&
#(2.$%,)'$5&$6*#.%6&)<&%4#&*")R#.%9&N#1-#"6&)<&%4#&7")2*6&*")*)6,'7&%4,6&*")R#.%&$5"#$(/&4$+#&5,'C6&>,%4&

5).$5&<$"1#"6=&-26,'#66#6=&/)2%4&7")2*6=&6.4))56=&$'(&*)%#'%,$5&>)"C64)*&
5#$(#"6=&$'(&>#&>)25(&#B*#.%&$6&%4,6&*")R#.%&6%$"%6&%)&.)1#&%)&<"2,%,)'&%4$%&
1$'/&,'(,+,(2$56&$'(&5).$5&7")2*6&>)25(&>$'%&%)&*$"%'#"&>,%4&,%&,'&(,<<#"#'%&
>$/69&

@9)*A0+0%)*
S'&%4#&<2%2"#&OQ;M&/#$"6&<")1&')>P&>#&>)25(&$,1&%)&-#&>)"C,'7&62..#66<255/&
>,%4&7")2*6&$'(&6#"+,.#6&62.4&$6&%4#&#(2.$%,)'&$2%4)",%/=&6).,$5&6#"+,.#6=&
5).$5&6.4))56=&.)55#7#6=&$'(&4)6*,%$56=&#%.9&%)&*")+,(#&$&6$<#&>)"C&#B*#",#'.#&
$'(&4)"%,.25%2"$5&%"$,','7&%)&+25'#"$-5#&1#1-#"6&)<&%4#&.)112',%/9&H4,6&
>)25(&4$+#&%4#&*)%#'%,$5&%)&-#&%4#&1$R)"&<2'(,'7&6)2".#&<)"&%4#&.,%/&<$"19&
T#&$56)&*5$'&%)&5,'C&%4,6&*")R#.%&%)&%4#&7")>,'7&'21-#"&)<&!)112',%/&
G2**)"%#(&:7",.25%2"#&O!G:P&*")R#.%6&,'&$'(&$")2'(&!$1-",(7#=&-)%4&<)"&
*")+,(,'7&5).$55/;7")>'&<))(&%)&%4#&!G:&6.4#1#6=&$'(&#(2.$%,'7&+,6,%)"6&
$-)2%&!G:&6.4#1#6&$'(&5,'C,'7&%4#1&2*&>,%4&$&!G:&6.4#1#&'#$"&%4#19&

EH4#&!)2'.,5&64)25(U(#+#5)*&
,',%,$%,+#6&%4$%&*")+,(#&
)**)"%2',%,#6&<)"&/)2'7&*#)*5#&
,'&%4#&.,%/&%)&4$+#&.)'6%"2.%,+#&
$.%,+,%,#6&%)&%$C#&*$"%&,'F&
!"#$%&'()*!&+,*!-./0&1*2"%34*"/'*56)/*
76"0)4*7+%"+)(,*899:;89<=*

Page 105



T#&$56)&$,1&%)&#(2.$%#&+,6,%)"6&)'&)%4#"&#'+,")'1#'%$5V626%$,'$-,5,%/&,662#6=&
62.4&$6&#'#"7/=&$'(&>)25(&$,1&%)&64)>.$6#&61$55;6.$5#&*")R#.%6&62.4&$6&6)5$"&
*)>#"&7#'#"$%,)'V4#$%,'7=&"$,'>$%#"&4$"+#6%,'7=&$'(&>,'(&#'#"7/9&

!"3)*3+0',*B*=))4),*!&+,*-"%#C*29)AA&)4'*
G%$"%#(&,'&IWXI=&%4#&!,%/&0$"1&,'&G4#<<,#5(&')>&,6&$&427#5/&*)*25$"&<"##&
$%%"$.%,)'=&>,%4&$&5$"7#&%#$1&)<&6%$<<&$'(&+)52'%##"6&4#5*,'7&%)&"2'&<$"1,'7=&
7")>,'7&$'(&#'+,")'1#'%$5&*")R#.%6&)'&M&6,%#6&$.")66&%4#&.,%/9&!)2"6#6&"2'&
1)6%&($/69&H4#&<$"1&"2'6&$&.$<Y&6#"+,'7&*")(2.#&7")>'&)'&6,%#=&$'(&
*$"%,.25$"5/&<).26#6&)'&*")+,(,'7&%"$,','7&$'(&#1*5)/1#'%&)**)"%2',%,#6&<)"&
1$"7,'$5,6#(&$'(&(,6$(+$'%$7#(&*#)*5#=&>4,.4&<)"16&$&6,7',<,.$'%&*$"%&)<&
%4#,"&,'.)1#9&>>>94##5#/<$"19)"792C&

!"3)*3+0',*B*6)/74)>3*5/##0.&+,*("%').C*D73:&59*
G%$"%#(&>,%4&$&Z)%%#"/&$>$"(&,'&QJJL=&%4#&7$"(#'&')>&4$6&[&*$"%;%,1#&

1#1-#"6&)<&6%$<<=&$'(&,'6*,"#6&*#)*5#&%)&7")>&<))(&$'(&#'7$7#&,'&4#$5%4/&)2%())"&#B#".,6#=&"2'','7&
.)2"6#6&<")1&7")>,'7&4#"-6=&%)&>,55)>&>#$+,'7\&>>>9%)>'$'(-",(7#9)"792CV7$"(#'V&

89/*"%)*:)<*
H4#&*")R#.%&,6&*")*)6#(&-/&%4#&<)55)>,'7&5).$5&7")2*6@&
&
!4",6%,$'6&H)7#%4#"&,'&!4#""/&8,'%)'&,6&$&*$"%'#"64,*&-#%>##'&!4#""/&8,'%)'&D$*%,6%&!42".4&$'(&G%&
D$"'$-$6&!42".4=&"2'','7&1$'/&#+#'%6&$'(&6#"+,.#6&,'&%4#&5).$5&!4#""/&8,'%)'&.)112',%/=&62.4&$6&/)2%4&
7")2*6=&*$"#'%&$'(&%)((5#"&7")2*6=&$'(&6).,$5&$.%,)'&*")R#.%6&62.4&$6&7$"(#','7&$'(&(#.)"$%,'79&
&
H"$'6,%,)'&!$1-",(7#&,6&$&7")2*&)<&+)52'%##"6&(#(,.$%#(&%)&."#$%,'7&$&+,-"$'%=&*")6*#")26&$'(&
626%$,'$-5#&<2%2"#&<)"&!$1-",(7#=&,'&%4#&<$.#&)<&%4#&%>,'&.4$55#'7#6&)<&*#$C&),5&$'(&.5,1$%#&.4$'7#9&

E0+4&.)*$0'()+*".'*3/0%5)3*/A*A0.'&.(*
S',%,$5&6,%#&6#%;2*&.)6%6&O$**")BP&
& ,'%#"'$5&<#'.,'7& ]QJJJ&
& $',1$5&4)26,'7& ]MJJJ&
& *$%4&#(7,'7V-#(6& ]QJJJ&
& 6#.2"#&6%)"$7#& ]QJJJ&
& 6##(6V*5$'%6& ][JJ&
& .)112',%/&%))56& ][JJ&
& *)5/%2''#5&^&6%$7,'7& ]XJJ&
&
_'7),'7&.)6%6&V/#$"&
& G%$<<& ]KJJJJ&
& :',1$5&<##(& ]XJJ&
& G##(6V*5$'%6& ]QJJ&
& `%,5,%,#6& ]KJJ&
& :(1,'V,'62"$'.#&#%.9& ]KJJJ&
& G,%#&#'4$'.#1#'%6&O#79&<"2,%&E%2''#5F=&(#1)'6%"$%,)'&7$"(#'6P& ]KJJJ&
&
02'(,'7&6)2".#6&
& ?)'$%,)'6=&,'.52(,'7&)*%,)'$5&#'%"/&<##6&$'(&$&E<",#'(6F&6.4#1#9&
& 3"$'%6@&G26%$,'$-5#&!,%/=&Z)%%#"/=&5).$5&-26,'#66#69&
& a$"%'#"6&O#79&!$"#&<$"1,'7=&#(2.$%,)'&$2%4)",%/P&
& b)52'%##"6&
& G$5#6&)<&*5$'%6&$'(&+#7#%$-5#6&
& !)2"6#&<##6&
& G*)'6)"64,*=&<)"&#B$1*5#&E$()*%&$&7)$%F\&

!/.+"5+*
,'<)c.$1-",(7#;.,%/;<$"19)"792C&

Ea")+,(#&$&1)"#&(,+#"6#&"$'7#&
)<&7"##'&6*$.#6&%4$%&.$%#"&<)"&
*#)*5#d6&6).,$5=&#(2.$%,)'$5&$'(&
*4/6,.$5&'##(6&$'(&.4$'7,'7&
5,<#6%/5#69&H4,6&,'.52(#6&.,%/&
<$"16&$'(&.)112',%/&
7$"(#'6999F&
!"#$%&'()*!&+,*!-./0&1*2"%34*"/'*56)/*
76"0)4*7+%"+)(,*899:;89<=*

Page 106



The Future of Cherry Hinton Hall 

Consultation on the Masterplan 

A consultation report for Cambridge City Council 

By Phil Back Associates Ltd 

September 2010 

Phil Back Associates 

Boston House 

212-214 High Street 

Boston Spa 

WETHERBY 

LS23 6AD 

Page 107



Cherry Hinton Hall Masterplan proposals 2010 

Summary and conclusions 

1. There is strong support for the objectives of the Masterplan.  Three quarters of 
respondents fully support the overall objective of the masterplan, which has to do 
with conserving the ethos and character of the park whilst improving its fabric, 
facilities, and biodiversity.  Almost everyone else is in partial agreement with this 
objective.

2. Full support for the stated objectives of the Masterplan for each area of the park is 
never less than 50% of the response.  There is especially strong support for the 
Masterplan proposals in relation to the wildlife of the park, the pond area, and 
improving services and facilities such as toilets, bins and dog bins, all of which attract 
full support from at last three-quarters of all those responding.  Support for the 
Masterplan’s objectives on footpaths and on the landscape of the hall is also strong. 

3. There is majority support, but more caution, in relation to the Masterplan’s proposals 
for the hall area and for the former propagation centre.  In each case, around half 
support the Masterplan objectives, and most of the remainder support in part. 

4. Support for the Masterplan’s proposals to achieve these objectives is also strong.  
Overall, just under half fully support the Masterplan, and 87% support at least part of 
the Masterplan. 

5. Support for the delivery envisaged by the Masterplan is highest in the pond area, 
where two thirds of respondents fully support the proposals, and on the footpaths, 
which are supported by over 60%.  Full agreement with the Masterplan is less 
evident in the hall buildings and the former propagation centre, but even here over 
40% fully support, and over 80% at least partly support. 

6. Outright disagreement with anything suggested by or contained in the Masterplan is 
very small.  The Masterplan appears to have captured, by and large, what people 
value about this site and what would be acceptable to them as a way of improving 
the site without damaging its current ethos and value. 

Page 108



7. The main area of difficulty with the Masterplan as it currently stands, and the one 
which may be giving rise to qualified acceptance of the Plan on the part of many 
people, is the proposal for a City Farm on the former propagation site.  This idea has 
strong support both from individuals and organisations, and attracts a good deal of 
positive comment, stressing the educational and cohesion benefits of such as 
scheme as well as its attractiveness as an additional feature of the park.  Advocates 
include several faith and charitable groups, and others working with communities of 
disadvantage.

8. Objectors to the City Farm are in a minority, but objection is much stronger than to 
any aspect of the Masterplan itself.  Objectors note the impracticability of the idea, its 
incompatibility with other uses of the space, and that it detracts from the Masterplan 
and the underlying ethos of the park that the Plan seeks to embody.  Objectors 
include the Friends of Cherry Hinton Hall, a voluntary group set up to promote the 
care and conservation of the park for local people and visitors alike. 

9. A second, less strongly voiced but nonetheless present, difficulty with both the 
Masterplan and the City Farm is the continuity of the Cambridge Folk Festival.  Folk 
festival-goers seek reassurance, rather than making outright objections. 

10. We conclude that the Masterplan has found wide acceptance and could be adopted 
on this basis.  However, the City Farm idea has strong support and cannot be 
ignored just because it does not feature in the Masterplan.   The Masterplan, 
nevertheless, has been developed by landscape professionals and its ideas and 
suggestions are tested against that professional understanding.  The City Farm idea 
has not been tested in that way, but the level of support for it, and the strength of 
objection, suggest that such a test should be undertaken.  We therefore recommend 
that a feasibility study should be undertaken, to see whether a City Farm is feasible 
within a reasonable footprint in Cherry Hinton Hall, and to determine what the effect 
of this on the Masterplan generally, and its underlying principles, would be. 

Phil Back 
Wetherby
September 2010

Page 109



Introduction and methodology 

Cherry Hinton Hall is an important public park in the east of Cambridge, centred on a historic 
former residence and incorporating the open parkland surrounding it.  The park provides an 
important local facility to residents in the heavily populated Cherry Hinton area of 
Cambridge, but also attracts a city-wide audience because of its attractiveness as a largely 
natural open space, and at certain times of year a national audience when it hosts major 
events such as the renowned Cambridge Folk Festival, and the Pink Festival. 

Cambridge City Council, which owns and manages the site, has been working for some time 
on improving the park, to deal with some longstanding problems, and to bring it to a standard 
that befits its role in the city’s pantheon of parks.  An initial consultation took place in 2008 to 
consider some options for the future of the site, and particularly focussed on an area of 
derelict land within the park where the City’s Propagation Centre formerly operated.  This 
and other feedback was then put to a specialist landscape architect, Robert Miles, who drew 
up a Masterplan to provide a picture of possible improvements to the park which would 
address the issues raised in the consultation and remain consistent with the Council’s 
existing open spaces strategy and values. 

This Masterplan was then put out for consultation using a short questionnaire, a copy of 
which is provided as an appendix to this report.  The questionnaire was made available in 
several ways:  copies were available from the Council directly; it could be downloaded from 
the Council website for completion; copies were made available at key events associated 
with the park, including the Pink Festival, the Folk Festival, and a local gala day; and the 
questionnaire was also available for completion online.  The masterplan was also available 
for viewing online and at the events.  The consultation was widely publicised in the local 
media, on the Council website, and also in a leaflet produced by the Friends of Cherry 
Hinton Hall and distributed to households throughout the area.  It was also promoted by the 
advocates of the City Farm on their website.  The response pattern, and the nature of those 
responses, suggest that the presence of the City Farm issue within the consultation is a 
major factor in people’s participation. 

A total of 290 completed questionnaires were received by the closing date.  On examination, 
two of these were found to be duplicates of other questionnaires, in that they contained the 
same information with (in one case) the same comments using the same wording, and (in 
the other) the same handwriting and personal details.  In each instance only one 
questionnaire has been admitted for analysis, leaving 288 eligible responses. These have 
now been analysed and the detailed results are presented in this report. 

Page 110



1 Respondent profile 

Respondents were asked to indicate whether they were responding as private individuals or 
on behalf of a group of some description.  Of the 288 replies, 247 identified themselves as 
private individuals, with 30 claiming to reply on behalf of a group or organisation, and 3 in 
some other capacity (local companies and a volunteer).  Many of those claiming to represent 
the views of a group did so either on behalf of the Friends of Cherry Hinton Hall, or on behalf 
of one of the organisations campaigning for a city farm at this site.   

The age of those responding is given here: 

Age-group Proportion of 
respondents

25 or under 4%
26-44 45%
45-64 37%
65-79 13%
80 or over 2%

The age profile of those taking part in this consultation is heavily weighted towards the 
middle age ranges, and focuses largely on people of working age.  The consultation has 
been less effective in reaching younger adults or teenagers.  Older people are much less 
likely to take part in consultation and the presence of a low proportion of elderly people is 
quite normal in a consultation of this type. 

The gender split of respondents is provided here: 

Gender Proportion of 
respondents

Male 38%
Female 62%

Women outnumber men in this consultation by three to two.  It is not uncommon for this to 
happen in consultation, but it does mean we need to explore any gender difference in 
people’s views rather than accepting the majority verdict outright. 

This table shows the proportions of respondents with children at home: 

Children Proportion of 
respondents

Children at home 40%
No children at home 60%

Two in five of those responding have children living at home with them.  Again, this is 
potentially an important dimension to be considered in evaluating the answers people give to 
the consultation. 

Page 111



We asked people to indicate their ethnic origin; the response is overwhelmingly white (95%), 
with a very small number of people from other ethnic backgrounds, amounting to 5% of the 
total.

We also asked about people’s disabilities: 

Disability Proportion of 
respondents

No disability 94%
Disability 6%

A small proportion of respondents have a disability that affects their use or enjoyment of 
open spaces, but the majority of respondents do not. 

Geography 

Most respondents provided a postcode, and this map shows how these are distributed. 

Although there are respondents from far afield, the greatest concentration of postcodes is in 
Cambridge itself, so most of those responding are reasonably local residents.  One 
respondent lives in Cleethorpes, but claims to visit family in the area on a regular basis. 

Page 112



The next map kooks more closely at the distribution of postcodes across the city itself: 

Respondents include a substantial proportion of people who live in the east and south of the 
city area, and there is a particular concentration around the site of the park (marked with the 
green tree).  There are also a large number of respondents in the south of the city generally, 
from the Romsey and Queen Edith areas.  Nevertheless people from other parts of the city 
also visit Cherry Hinton Hall, including residents of Trumpington and Arbury as well as those 
living more locally. 

Page 113



3 Visiting 

Those who responded as individuals were asked how often they visit the Hall, with these 
results:

Frequency of visiting Cherry 
Hinton Hall 

Proportion
of

respondents

Every day 14%

Once/twice a week 24%

Two/three times a month 21%

Once a month 11%

Once every 2-3 months 13%

Once or twice a year 14%

Less often 2%

Never visited 1%

Most respondents have a close relationship with the Hall.  One in seven visits every day, so 
the hall is a highly significant feature of their daily existence, and altogether two in five (38%) 
visit at least once a week, with three in five (59%) visiting at least once every two weeks. 

A quarter of respondents are less frequent visitors, using Cherry Hinton Hall between 3 and 
twelve times a year, and the respondent profile also includes a sixth of respondents (17%) 
who visit less often than that, including a very small number who have never visited.   

It is, of course, perfectly valid for those who visit rarely to comment alongside those for 
whom this is an everyday park; but it is also instructive to separate the view of frequent and 
occasional visitors to examine differences in perspective. 

The activities people engage in while visiting are listed here: 

Page 114



Activity Proportion
of

respondents

Walking 66%

Enjoy wildlife and nature 64%

Sit and relax 37%

Use the play area 35%

Attend events 29%

Play games or sports 14%

Exercise a pet 12%

Jogging/exercise 7%

Other activities 12%

The most popular activity these people engage in is simply going for a walk, and the park is 
certainly seen as a very attractive and suitable environment for this kind of exercise.  A 
similar proportion, again about two thirds, go the Cherry Hinton to enjoy the wildlife and 
nature the park offers; a mix of environments in the park means that this can include ducks 
and wildfowl, birds, small mammals and even an occasional deer or fox, and insect life in a 
variety of different habitats.  Whilst the natural world is often a strong pull towards an open 
space, it is surprising to find an urban park with such a high level of wildlife and nature 
interest.

Other activities lag some way behind these two in importance.  Over a third of people come 
to the Hall to sit and relax, and a similar proportion to use the play facilities in the park.  
Events in the park attract their own audiences and over a quarter of people say they visit the 

Page 115



hall for this kind of activity, notably the Folk Festival and the Pink Festival which coincided 
with the consultation period. 

Other activities are less popular with this group.  Participation in sports and games is more 
limited – just one in seven do this – and the landscape of the hall, and its formal sport 
provision, do not lend themselves to open air sport in the way that some of the city’s other 
parks do.  The proportion using the hall for exercising a pet seems low in comparison to 
other sites, and the small numbers visiting the site for jogging may be a commentary on the 
lack of a circular route, which means that joggers can really only pass through rather than 
spending time here. 

Page 116



4 The hall buildings 

The Masterplan proposals for the hall buildings are based on the idea that the hall should be 
restored to its former setting as a historic building within parkland.  The masterplan therefore 
focuses on improving the visibility of the building, making it a focal point visually for the site, 
and also restoring some of the formal Victorian layout at the front of the hall.  There are no 
proposals in the Masterplan that would affect the current use of the hall as an international 
school.

People were asked two questions here:  do they agree with the objective for this area, and 
secondly do they think the Masterplan proposals are a good way of delivering that objective?  
Their answers are summarised in this table: 

Proportion of respondents Response

Views on 
the

objective

Views on 
the ideas 

Yes, agree fully 56% 42%

Yes, agree partly 29% 41%

No, don’t really agree 8% 6%

No, don’t agree at all 2% 2%

Don’t know 5% 9%

N (=100%) 256 244

The objective of restoring the hall to its historic centrepiece role attracts a good deal of 
support.  Well over half of respondents agree fully with this as an objective, and 85% support 
this objective at least in part.  Only one in ten (10%) disagree with the objective stated here. 

Disagreement with the objective is mainly concentrated in the 26-44 age-group, where 
around 15% of respondents disagree – still a minority view.  Those who only agree partly 

Page 117



with the objective are also concentrated in the working age groups.  There are no significant 
differences between the views of men and women on this objective.  However, those who 
visit the hall most often are the most positive about the objectives. 

There is also strong support for the Masterplan as the way forward, although the views here 
are a little more cautious.  A total of 42% agree fully with the Masterplan, and altogether 83% 
agree at least in part that the Masterplan proposals for this area are sound.  Here just one in 
twelve (8%) dislike what is proposed in the Masterplan.  Again, though, the most frequent 
visitors are the most enthusiastic supporters of the Masterplan. 

Disagreement with the Masterplan ideas is scattered across all age and gender groups, but 
hesitant agreement is found in both the working age-groups and the 65-79s. 

Although there is a consensus of broad support here, it is helpful to look at people’s 
comments, both to see why they like these ideas and where the hesitancy in some support 
may be rooted. 

Supporters of the plans draw attention to the need to enhance the setting of the hall by 
making it more visible.  Although the hall is not a listed building, it is historic in nature and 
supporters see it as a definite asset to the park. 

“I!agree!that!the!building!is!lost!due!to!the!
planting!in!front!of!it...it!would!enhance!the!site!by!
making!it!more!visible.”!

Those who are more hesitant about their support have four main concerns that the Council 
needs to consider. 

The first is that some people like the present layout at the front of the hall, which consists of 
flower beds and established evergreens.  They enjoy and value this and would be sorry to 
see it passing.  It is also part of the enjoyment of a visit to the hall for some. 

“I!like![this!area]...the!
trees!are!used!a!lot!by!the!
children!to!hide!in.”!

“The!existing!flower!beds!and!seating!
area!is!a!nice!sport!to!sit!and!relax...I!
don’t!think!removing!this!area!...would!
be!of!any!real!benefit.”!

A second reason for more cautious support is a fear that “opening up” the view of the hall 
could result in the removal of trees.  It is not always clear from comments whether people 
are referring to the evergreens in the vicinity of the hall, or other trees around the site which 
might obscure the view of the hall, but several people are clearly concerned about this and 
need some reassurance on the point. 

Page 118



“The!objectives!are!fine,!
provided!not!too!many!
trees!are!lost,!or!if!trees!
are!lost!they!are!
replaced.”!

“I!do!believe!that!the!hall!
should!be!made!more!
visible...I!don’t!think!that!
any!large!established!
trees!should!be!
removed.”!

Some of those who are giving cautious support do so because they do not see the hall as a 
priority.  Although the Masterplan offers a coherent “whole site” approach, some people 
suspect that in reality the funds will not be available to deliver the whole project, and under 
these circumstances the hall is not the most important area where change is needed. 

“The!hall!is!possibly!the!
least!exciting!and!useful!
thing!in!the!site...of!little!
benefit!to!me!and!my!
family.”!

“Would!be!nice!to!see!it!
opened!up!a!bit...but!
[not]!a!major!priority!in!a!
time!of!economic!
stringency.”!

The fourth concern expressed by people concerns the future of the Folk Festival.  This 
seems to be a more general concern about the Masterplan as a whole, rather than the Hall 
proposals specifically, but some people take this opportunity to express worries that the 
masterplan will somehow damage, or eliminate, the Folk Festival from the site. 

Page 119



5 The former propagation site 

The former propagation site is a largely derelict area where the Council’s propagation centre 
once stood.  It could also be understood to include an area which is currently used as a 
small storage depot for the City Council.  This area is not at present accessible to the public, 
though it is visible to park users.  The Masterplan proposes to incorporate this area into the 
wider park, and makes the space into an events area, accompanied by a wildflower area, an 
orchard, and a community garden; there is also the possibility of creating a small catering 
facility, and toilets, in this area. 

People were asked firstly whether they agree with this use of the derelict space, and 
secondly whether they think the Masterplan proposals are a good way of delivering that 
objective.  Their answers are summarised in this table: 

Proportion of respondents Response

Views on 
the use of 

space

Views on 
the ideas 

Yes, agree fully 52% 43%

Yes, agree partly 35% 37%

No, don’t really agree 10% 13%

No, don’t agree at all 2% 3%

Don’t know 1% 4%

N (=100%) 246 238

As far as the overall objective is concerned, there is considerable support for the way the 
derelict space is used in the Masterplan.  Over half of those responding support this 
objective fully, and most of the rest support it at least in part.  In contrast, just one in eight 
people (12%) disagree.  

Page 120



Support arises in all age-groups, with full support accounting for at least half of the 
responses in all but the 45-64 age-group, and those who disagree very much in a minority 
across the board.  Men are a little more enthusiastic than women about the objectives.  
However, people with children, while supportive of the Masterplan, are more cautious and 
divide evenly between those who support fully and those who support partly.  The more 
frequent visitors are also more supportive than those who only visit occasionally; those who 
are more cautious about this part of the plan, and those who disagree, are mainly occasional 
or rare visitors to the park. 

The comment space helps in understanding these views, and comments in this area of the 
Masterplan tend to focus on specific aspects of the proposals which people either support or 
object to. 

The main area of comment is around a city farm proposal which emerged after the 
Masterplan had already been prepared.  Quite a number of comments question why this 
suggestion has been left off the Masterplan (which seems to be entirely because of the 
timing of the Masterplan preparation), while others conflate the suggestion of a community 
garden into a possible city farm, probably on a larger scale.  There are many other 
comments about the city farm proposal later in this report (when it is specifically raised in the 
questionnaire, and is discussed extensively in additional comment) but at this point a large 
number of those commenting are strongly supportive of the idea, drawing attention to the 
value of such a use of space as an educational as well as an entertainment resource, and to 
the added value of a unique attraction not available in other city parks. 

“A!city!farm!would!
enhance!sustainability!
and!also!be!a!great!
educational!resource.”!

The!city!farm...could!be!of!
great!interest!to!local!
families!and!to!the!
school,!and!would!
provide...a!unique!
element!to!the!park.”!

Others draw attention to the value of a City Farm as an all-year resource, in contrast to a 
community garden which might only be attractive in the spring and summer; there is also the 
repeated observation that the community garden is too small to allow any educational 
outcome, in contrast to the City Farm proposals which are on a more suitable scale. 

Page 121



Support
for the City Farm certainly dominates the discussion 

of this issue, but there are objectors to this idea too, though they 
are a minority view. 

“The!community!garden!
idea!is!too!small!to!be!
useful...the!City!farm!
would!make!a!better!use!
of!the!space.”!

“I!support!the!expansion!
of!this!idea!into!the!
bigger!concept!of!a!City!
Farm.”!

“I!do!not!want!anything!
that!resembles!a!farm!!!
Leave!it!flowers!and!open!
space.”!

“I!strongly!hope!that!the!
City!Farm!will!not!be!put!
[here]...Cherry!Hinton!
Hall!is!not!a!suitable!
place!for!this.”!

The City Farm is not the only issue, though, that people want to comment on.  The cafe idea 
certainly also attracts attention, and people who support it note the possibility of generating 
revenue from an outlet that could go back into the park, as well as providing an amenity that 
they would value.  There are several people, though, who are more sceptical, and who draw 
attention to the possibility of increased litter, and the encouragement of vermin. 

“A!cafe!or!tea!
room...something!that!is!
missing!in!the!park!and!
the!area.”!

“A!quality!cafe...is!
currently!the!real!missing!
point...something!that!
major!parks...offer.”!

The viability of a cafe is an issue, though, and might limit opening to summer only – unless, 
as someone points out, the City Farm draws a year-round audience who also need to be 
catered for.  Its location is also questioned, not least the potential for disturbing the wildfowl 
at this side of the park. 

The orchard and the wildflower area also have both supporters and detractors.  The orchard, 
while welcomed in some quarters, raises questions about illicit harvesting; a wildflower 
meadow, again welcomed by some, is seen as unnecessary by others given the proximity of 
genuinely wild natural areas nearby in the Gogs. 

Page 122



Aside from the suggested contents of this area, questions are raised about the financial 
viability and sustainability of the proposals, and the need to be sure that the Council’s 
resources are being deployed sensibly, and that the revenue cost of maintenance to the 
standard necessary can be sustained into the foreseeable future.  Security is also a concern 
for some, who draw attention to the vandalism and other security issues that have been a 
problem at this and other sites in the past; one commentator suggests that the City Farm 
might help here by providing a measure of informal oversight that is currently missing. 

Finally, there are questions raised under this heading about whether some of these plans 
(and perhaps particularly the City Farm idea) are compatible with the preservation of the 
Folk Festival and its spatial requirements. 

Page 123



6 The pond area 

The Masterplan for the pond area starts by recognising the current poor condition of this part 
of the park.  It includes proposals to clear away the litter and debris in this area, improve the 
quality of the water, and improve the adjoining seating area with new surfacing, bins and 
seating.  It also aims to accrete a place for sitting, relaxing, and play, including paddling. 

The questionnaire explores agreement or otherwise with this objective, and with the 
Masterplan ideas, and the results of this are shown below: 

Proportion of respondents Response

Views on 
the

objective

Views on 
the ideas 

Yes, agree fully 80% 64%

Yes, agree partly 18% 28%

No, don’t really agree 1% 3%

No, don’t agree at all 0% 0%

Don’t know 1% 5%

N (=100%) 251 241

There is almost universal approval of the overall Masterplan in this area.  Four out of five 
people agree with the objective here, and almost everyone else agrees to some extent; 
virtually nobody opposes the plan in this section of the park. 

Agreement ranges across all age-groups, and both genders, and is equally shared by those 
with children at home and those with none.  To the extent that there is caution about the 
Masterplan, though, it is focussed among the most frequent visitors to the park; but even 
there those who are only partly supportive are very much in a minority. 

Page 124



The Masterplan proposals receive more qualified support, but support nevertheless with two 
who agree fully for every person who does not, and very few who disagree at all with what is 
suggested.  Older and more frequent visitors are those most likely to raise questions about 
the ideas but are always in a small minority nonetheless. 

Comments on the pond area are generally very supportive of the Masterplan proposals and 
tend to reinforce them, rather than being critical.  A strong theme in the comments is that this 
area is essentially an area for wildlife, and wildlife’s needs should be the prime consideration 
in this area, or at least as important as the need to provide human recreation.  Wildlife 
encounter is, of course, one of the main activities people engage in as visitors to the park, 
and it is not surprising that people stress the significance of this. 

“The!wildlife!is!more!
important!than!making!it!
pleasant!for!people.”!

“Too!much!activity!in!
[this[!area!would!not!be!
in!the!best!interest!of!!the!
wildlife.”!

The Masterplan is not necessarily seen as threatening the primacy of wildlife, but sufficient 
attention is drawn to this dimension to alert the Council to the need to take a sensitive 
approach here.  Several specific issues are raised too, particularly the presence of rats 
which pollute the water, and which threaten nesting birds and their eggs, an apparent 
reduction in biodiversity in this part of the park in recent times, and the detrimental effects to 
both ducks and water of continual feeding with bread (though at least one person notes the 
impossibility of containing this problem in practice). 

Several people note the relatively recent arrival of play equipment in this part of the park, 
and most feel this is an inappropriate development in a natural space, and disturbs the 
established occupants of this part of the park.  Many who comment on this deprecate its 
presence, wanting it removed, or resited to the play area, but others welcome the sand play 
opportunity and say their children really enjoy this new space.   

There is also a view that children’s play in this area should be limited to less formal provision 
such as clambering over fallen trees, pond-dipping, playing pooh-sticks and other similar 
activities more compatible with a wild presence.   

“Pond!dipping!is!a!great!
idea...a!great!alternative!
to!normal!play!ground!
areas.”!

“As!long!as!the!current!
sand!play!area!
remains...a!great!area!for!
children.”!

The natural theme also carries through into a discussion about the balance between 
development of this area and leaving it as natural space.  Several people comment that, 

Page 125



whilst there may be a need to clear and clean in this area, it should not be “tamed” or 
“sanitised” as this would be to the detriment both of its wild inhabitants and the enjoyment of 
visitors.  This leads to several pleas not to overdevelop the pond area and its surrounds. 

“As!long!as!this!doesn’t!mean!
filling!the!place!with!concrete!
and!metal,!yeah.!!Find!beauty!in!
the!ruggedness.”!

“The!plans!look!rather!
overdeveloped...sweep,!
benches,!noticeboards...”

Page 126



7 The footpaths 

The Masterplan reconfigures the footpath layout in the park, aiming to link places together 
more effectively, resite paths to follow more natural routes, resurface some paths, and 
create a circular route within the park boundary. 

Our questions here focus on these objectives, and whether the Masterplan’s solutions are 
welcomed, and people’s answers are shown here: 

Proportion of respondents Response

Views on 
the

objective

Views on 
the ideas 

Yes, agree fully 70% 61%

Yes, agree partly 25% 28%

No, don’t really agree 3% 4%

No, don’t agree at all 1% 1%

Don’t know 1% 6%

N (=100%) 248 241

There is overwhelming support for the Masterplan’s objective here; over two thirds of people 
support the Masterplan’s goal fully, and almost everyone else has some sympathy with the 
aim.  Hardly anyone disagrees with what the Masterplan seeks to achieve here.  To the 
extent that there is any doubt, it tends to be among those who visit less often; objectors, 
though, are more likely to be frequent visitors. 

Agreement with the ideas put forward to achieve these aims is almost as strong as support 
for the ideas themselves, suggesting that the Masterplan has largely got this issue right.  
Here, such disagreement as there is tends to be in inverse proportion to the frequency of 
visiting.

Page 127



Comments on this question are almost uniformly supportive, with some additional 
observations.  There is wide support for the idea of improving surfaces, as the current 
surfaces can become muddy in adverse weather and this especially affects children and 
pets using the paths, and is particularly difficult for those using wheelchairs or pushing 
buggies.  However, some qualify this by asking that new surfaces should be consistent with 
a natural setting, rather than with urban footpaths, while others reserve judgment until they 
know what surfaces are proposed.  There are also comments requesting that some paths, 
such as those in woodland areas, be left as they are to be more in keeping with their 
surroundings. 

“It!would!be!good!to!see!
more!wheelchair"friendly!
paths...”!

“unsurfaced!paths!as!well!
as!the!paved!ones...you!
feel!as!though!you!are!on!
more!of!a!nature!walk.”!

The circular route idea finds some support, though not universally.  It may be noted, though, 
that few joggers seem to use the park at present. 

“Circles!are!good...people!
like!resolution.”!

“I!see!no!need!to!create!a!
complete!circular!walk.”!

The other issue raised by several contributors under this topic is the need for, and the 
problems that arise from, sharing pathways between cyclists and pedestrians, including 
those walking pets.  These uses are not irreconcilable, but do sometimes cause problems, 
which might be mitigated by making surfaces less muddy and splashy.  Some cyclists fear 
that may be in some way excluded or discouraged from using the paths if the Masterplan is 
implemented. 

“Please!ensure!cycles!are!still!allowed!
to!share!the!paths...many!
people...ride!through!the!park!on!
their!way!to!work!or!home.”!

“It’s!also!!important!to!remember!
that!the!park!is!used!as!a!through!
route.”!

Page 128



Page 129



8 Services and facilities 

Previous consultation on the park has indicated, among other things, a need for improved 
support for visitors.  The toilets have been especially criticised for poor condition, to the point 
that people of both genders find natural alternatives rather than use them, while seats, bins 
and other park infrastructure is tired or poorly located.  The Masterplan aims to make 
services like these work better for visitors, by renewing or relocating them. 

People’s agreement with this aim, and with the Masterplan’s suggested solutions, are shown 
here:

Proportion of respondents Response

Views on 
the

objective

Views on 
the ideas 

Yes, agree fully 77% 58%

Yes, agree partly 19% 31%

No, don’t really agree 2% 2%

No, don’t agree at all 0% 0%

Don’t know 2% 9%

N (=100%) 247 233

Support for this objective is overwhelming, indicating wide agreement with the earlier 
consultation’s conclusions that this is an aspect of the park that needs serious attention. 
Nearly four out of five respondents say they agree fully with the aim here, and almost all of 
the rest offer at least partial support; there are very few people who would disagree with 
what the Council wants to achieve here.  Those who are more cautious tend to be those who 
make less use of the park, but otherwise agreement is strong across the entire range of 
respondents.

Page 130



Nearly three in five people also agree fully that the Masterplan’s approach to this issue will 
deliver what is needed, and again most of the remaining respondents at least agree in part.  
People of working age tend to a little more scepticism, but remain in a minority of nearly two 
to one in comparison to those supporting fully.  Again, those who visit less frequently are 
those with greater doubt. 

Comments on this aspect of the Masterplan are generally supportive and agree that the 
existing services and infrastructure are inadequate and need addressing.  This is especially 
the case with the toilets: 

“The!toilets!are!horrible...the!floor!is!
covered!with!dirty!water!and!smells.”

“Dreadful,!dreadful!loos.!!Anything!
[would!be]!an!improvement!”!

Widespread agreement on the principle, though, conceals some difference of opinion on the 
location of toilets.  Some people want them to be sited close to the play area; others near the 
pond area – in both cases because of the need to get children to these facilities with the 
minimum delay.  This is also why some people want two sets of toilets, as is offered in the 
Masterplan as a possible option, though others think this is excessive for a park of the size 
of Cherry Hinton Hall, and see the present location as a suitable compromise.   

There are also repeated requests that any new toilets should include provision for baby-
changing, and be accessible to buggies, so that children do not have to be left outside. 

“Good!changing!facilities!for!infants!"!
babies!make!up!a!high!proportion!of!
park!users!”!

There is also widespread comment in support of new seating, though this should be 
additional to, rather than supplanting, what is already provided, and should be in keeping 
with the natural surroundings.  They could also be placed remotely from paths as well as 
beside them. 

“No!seating!should!be!added!east!of!
the!stream.”!

“Add!bins!and!seats,!but!please!do!it!
respectfully!to!the!park.”!

Other comments look for additional signage, but these seem to be attempts to use signage 
to address behavioural problems such as irresponsible dog management, flower-picking and 

Page 131



so on.  Signage is not noted for its effectiveness in this role, and a flurry of extra signage 
would seem likely to raise questions about urbanising a natural space.   

“I!think!the!noticeboards!by!the!lake!
detract!from!the!natural!feel!of!the!
park.”!

Page 132



9 The landscape 

The Masterplan starts from the premise that the Hall is a beautiful open space with some 
areas that are not as attractive as they could be.  Areas singled out for attention by the 
Masterplan include thinning out in the woodland area by the pond, and creating new and 
more natural planting in keeping with the informal setting and feel of the park. 

People’s views on this aim, and how well the Masterplan proposals address it, are shown 
here:

Proportion of respondents Response

Views on 
the

objective

Views on 
the ideas 

Yes, agree fully 70% 55%

Yes, agree partly 24% 34%

No, don’t really agree 5% 7%

No, don’t agree at all 0% 0%

Don’t know 1% 5%

N (=100%) 246 233

Enthusiasm for the objective is high, with over two thirds of people fully supporting the aim, 
and almost everyone else in at least partial support.  Very few people disagree with this 
objective, not even the person who notes that: 

“I!like!some!“not!attractive!as!they!
could!be”!areas!”!

Page 133



Support for the Masterplan ideas is more qualified, but well over half of those responding 
support the Masterplan fully, with most of the rest cautious rather than objecting.  Only a 
small proportion of respondents disagree with the Masterplan’s interpretation for the 
landscape.

In both instances, those limiting their support are mainly people of working age. 

Comments on these plans range across a number of issues, some of which have already 
been encountered in other contexts. 

A major concern expressed by people, and which limits their capacity to support the 
Masterplan fully, is that the park should not be over-sanitised or over-tidied.  These people 
take the view – expressed strongly in earlier consultation – that the park functions best as a 
natural space, or at least a space of contrasting landscape, and would therefore lose 
something precious if it were to become too managed a space. 

“It!would!be!nice!to!keep!some!bits!
more!wild.”!

“It!would!be!a!mistake!to!make!the!
park!too!tidy...[and]!a!pity!to!make!it!
too!’busy’.”!

Closely linked to this is the observation already noted that the park is a space shared by 
humans and wild creatures, and that it is therefore necessary for us to manage the space to 
allow continued enjoyment by wild creatures as well as humans.  To some extent this is a 
reflection of people’s concern to respect wildlife; but it is also an important part of the park’s 
aesthetic that it has areas that are not managed. 

The wildflower ideas attract more support under this heading, and there are some who 
particularly like the idea of using the space near the south-eastern gate for this purpose; 
there are still, though opponents of this idea who think other sites are either better, or 
already available.  There are also concerns to protect existing trees from damage or, worse 
still, removal. 

Many comments under this heading simply reinforce the approval already indicated, that the 
Masterplan is on the right track with its ideas here. 

Page 134



10 Wildlife 

The Masterplan’s stated objective for wildlife is that Cherry Hinton Hall should remain a 
haven for “appropriate” wildlife, including birds, wildfowl, small mammals and insects.  This is 
at least partly to provide an opportunity for adults and children to encounter creatures in a 
natural setting. 

Agreement with this objective, and the Masterplan proposals, is indicated here: 

Proportion of respondents Response

Views on 
the

objective

Views on 
the ideas 

Yes, agree fully 86% 54%

Yes, agree partly 12% 32%

No, don’t really agree 2% 7%

No, don’t agree at all 0% 1%

Don’t know 0% 6%

N (=100%) 250 233

Agreement with the objective is very strong, with six out of seven respondents supporting the 
objective fully, and almost everyone else supporting partly.  The overwhelming importance of 
the wildlife dimension of Cherry Hinton Hall is significant not only in the context of the 
Masterplan but also for any other proposals which might emerge; whatever is done with this 
space, people will be very intolerant of a development that impacts adversely on the wildlife 
of the park. 

As to the way the Masterplan addresses this issue, there is still strong support, with over half 
the respondents fully in agreement with the Masterplan, but a third of people only agree 
partly.  The comments on this issue help to clarify where people’s doubts arise. 

Page 135



One of the major issues is the balance between the park as a natural space in which wildlife 
lives, and the park as a place of entertainment for people.  Where and how this balance can 
be struck is not necessarily a point on which people agree, but several concerns are raised 
about this, based in part on past experience of the authority’s approach.  The play area in 
the vicinity of the pond is a prime culprit in this respect and is seen to have created 
disturbance to indigent wildlife. 

“Please!don’t!repeat!the!mistake!of!
the!play!area!around!the!pond.”!

“I!don’!think!having!lots!of!children!
around!the!pond!will!aid!the!wildlife.”

City Farm advocates see an affinity between their objectives and those of the Masterplan for 
wildlife, partly because it too offers encounters with animals. 

“The!City!Farm!idea!sits!really!well!
here,!allowing!for!more!structured!
encounters...as!well!as!partly!
domesticated!animals.”!

There are also concerns that the work of implementing the Masterplan will disturb the wildlife 
unless it is managed carefully; one or two people also draw attention to undesirable wildlife 
in the form of rats. The comments made about wildlife identify a wide range of species and if 
these are correct, (and whilst respecting the signage comments noted earlier) it would seem 
desirable to have some information at the entrance to alert visitors to the biodiversity of this 
park.

There is a lot of support in these comments, again emphasising how important this is to 
people, and suggesting the Masterplan handles this reasonably well. 

“As!someone!who!took!their!first!
paddle!in!the!brook,!with!ducks!and!
dragonflies,!yes!please!”!

Page 136



11 Sport and Play 

The Masterplan also examines the sport and play facilities on the western side of the park, 
keeping these much as they are but raising the possibility of improved changing, toilets and 
catering.

People’s views on this objective, and the way the Masterplan addresses it, are given below: 

Proportion of respondents Response

Views on 
the

objective

Views on 
the ideas 

Yes, agree fully 60% 47%

Yes, agree partly 31% 37%

No, don’t really agree 5% 4%

No, don’t agree at all 0% 0%

Don’t know 5% 12%

N (=100%) 243 227

There is support for the Masterplan’s aim here, with three in five respondents fully supporting 
this goal, and most others supporting at least partly.  Just 5% of respondents disagree with 
the objective; these are more likely to be regular or occasional visitors, with rare visitors 
more likely to disagree.  Older people have more reservations about the Masterplan goal 
here, but even so most support it fully.  People with children – who might be thought to have 
the biggest stake in this area of the park – are strongly supportive of the Masterplan, with 
over 70% fully supportive. 

As to the delivery, about half of respondents fully support the Masterplan proposals, and 
most of the rest partly support.  Disagreement is almost non-existent, but there are a 
substantial proportion of don’t knows on these issues, one in eight of the total.  People with 

Page 137



children at home are much more supportive of the Masterplan on delivery as well, and 55% 
support it fully, in comparison with 40% of those with no children; there are few don’t knows 
among those with children at home.   

Comments endorse the idea of keeping an area for sport and play, but also keeping it 
contained.  The opportunity is also taken to remind us that several people are disappointed 
that equipped play has been allowed to stray from its allotted place, as they see it. 

“This!makes!sense..I’m!not!sure!why!
play!facilities!were!put!on!the!bird!
island...I’m!amazed!it!was!allowed.”!

“I!agree!that!these!facilities!should!be!
kept!to!the!area!that!they!are!in!
now..large,!yet!discreet...I!like!it.”!

Whilst the Masterplan approach is broadly welcomed, there is little apparent interest in 
expanding sport and play provision at least in terms of space.   

“It!is!important!that!children!have!
somewhere...it!is!good!to!see!that!the!plans!
have!not!allowed![this]!to!intrude!on!other!
areas!of!the!park.”!

What sits within the space, though, is a different matter and several people would like to see 
a wider, or better, range of play opportunities for children of different ages within the existing 
boundaries of the play area. 

“The!playground!desperately!needs!
new!equipment!!!the!slide...still!has!
not!been!replaced...the!playground!
does!not!seem!complete!without![it].”

“I’d!like!to!see!some!more!varied!play!
equipment.”!

Other comments concern the suggestions of a cafe (mixed views, but several would 
welcome this) changing facilities (would be welcomed by parents of toddlers) and the 
desirability of relocating the new play equipment by the pond into the space allotted in the 
plan for children’s play – a move which would attract a good deal of support.  There are also 
comments, though, that ask that the number of structures in the park be kept to a minimum, 
to avoid it becoming over-developed.  There is also a suggestion that a trim track would 
complement the circular path route. 

Page 138



12 Overall 

The overall aim of the Masterplan was determined by the first phase of consultation; the 
retention of the character of the park, while improving its fabric, facilities and biodiversity.  
The Masterplan was also drawn up to keep, and even enhance, what people said they value 
most about the park, while tackling those things that were identified as less attractive. 

Having seen the detail of the Masterplan in each of eight different areas and issues, people 
were asked to comment on the overall objective, and the way the Masterplan tries to deliver 
this.

Proportion of respondents Response

Views on 
the

objective

Views on 
the ideas 

Yes, agree fully 76% 47%

Yes, agree partly 19% 41%

No, don’t really agree 3% 8%

No, don’t agree at all 0% 0%

Don’t know 1% 4%

N (=100%) 246 230

There is a strong agreement with the Masterplan objective (which was itself derived from 
consultation, emerging very strongly from the focus groups); three quarters of respondents 
agree fully with this aim.  Such uncertainty as there is arises among those aged 26-64, and 
among those with children at home. 

There is also agreement that the Masterplan delivers this, but it is more qualified, with about 
half of all respondents agreeing fully with the Masterplan approach, and a similar, slightly 

Page 139



smaller proportion agreeing in part.  The more qualified view comes particularly from those 
with children, and from adults under 45 years of age. 

The overall comments do spend much of their time summarising or reinforcing comments 
made earlier under more specific headings.  We therefore find comments again stressing the 
significance of wildlife, the need to remove the new play area, the problems of security, the 
need to keep new structures to a minimum, and so on.  There are also comments stressing 
how a City farm will complement the Masterplan and help to achieve the stated objective. 

There are some “new “ comments, nevertheless.  One notes that the Masterplan offers very 
little that is new to younger park users, which they deprecate.  Another suggests that the 

plan offers nothing for older people. 

There are concerns about how the 
implementation might affect the Folk 

Festival, and it is clear that festival aficionados will need some reassurance on this important 
aspect.  There are also more general concerns about the Council’s capacity to deliver the 
plan, or to afford to keep the site up to the standards the Plan is anticipating, especially at a 
time of financial stringency. 

“Space!for!older!people!to!exercise!would!
redress!an!imbalance!in!age!focus.”!

“Virtually!none!of!the!‘new!
money’...benefits!anyone!under!the!
age!of!16,!or!families...this!is!
shocking.”!

There are also some overall comments, some of which are negative but most of which are 
positive, encouraging, and supportive of the work done thus far. 

“This!is!a!well!balanced,!and!well!
thought!out!plan,!with!some!minor!
tweaks!only!required.”!

“The!plan!is!a!nonsense.”!

“The!initiative!and!the!ideas!are!very!
good!indeed...I!think!that!the!hall!will!
benefit!greatly.”!

“Well!done!to!everyone!involved!in!
this!project.”!

“Too!urbanised
contrived....a!b

...!planned...!
it!over!organised.”!
“The!plan!as!a!whole!is!a!wonderful!
project...local!people!should!be!
involved!as!much!as!possible!and!
encouraged!to!participate.”!

“Just!get!on!with!it!”

Page 140



13 Other ideas 

The Masterplan was drawn up using the results of earlier consultation with both local 
residents and local stakeholders; this included some discussion of ideas and uses for 
different areas of the park, and some of these found their way into the Masterplan after 
endorsement in that consultation.  The City Farm proposal had not emerged at that time, so 
it was never considered as part of the creation of the Masterplan; its inclusion as a possibility 
in this consultation is the first time it has been appraised in this way. 

However, we did not want this to be simply a discussion of one proposal, whatever its merits 
might be, and therefore invited people to indicate other ideas, prompting their discussion by 
mentioning the city farm and also an art space, and a project to help unemployed young 
people – two other ideas that had been suggested at different times. 

Whilst many people took the opportunity to discuss other ideas in this space, the main focus 
of discussion was on the city farm.  We have examined the comments people made and 
divided them according to whether they favour the city farm idea (this includes those who 
favour, but with reservations) or oppose it (including those who think it is a good idea, but not 
for this location.) 

A total of 187 respondents mention the City Farm in their answer to this question, and of 
these 131 (70%) are in favour of siting a City Farm at Cherry Hinton Hall, while 56 (30%) are 
against.  Support for the City Farm is thus at a similar level to support for some of the other 
elements in the Masterplan.  Unlike other elements of the Masterplan, however, the minority 
view is one of opposition, rather than caution. 

Those who favour the City Farm tend to be younger than the opponents.  Over 80% of 26-
44s responding to this consultation favour the farm, but just over a quarter of over 65s do so; 
older people are much more likely to oppose the idea.  There is no significant difference 
between the genders on this idea, but people with children are much more positive about the 
farm idea than those with no children, and so too are people with disabilities.  City Farm 
supporters include many who use the park frequently, but the most frequent park users are 
less supportive of the idea overall. 

Interestingly, farm opponents are stronger supporters of the Masterplan; those who favour 
the farm are more cautious in their support of the objectives the Masterplan is seeking to 
achieve.  This suggests a slightly different overall vision for the park on the part of farm 
supporters.

The farm proposal receives some backing, too, from local groups and organisations.  In 
addition to the group promoting the idea in the first place, the proposal is backed by some 
other local organisations including local faith groups and groups working with children and 
young people.  However, the Friends of Cherry Hinton Hall are firmly opposed to the idea. 

Some advocates of the City Farm are clearly talking about a community garden rather than a 
livestock facility, and some are also clearly thinking on a different scale to others.  
Nevertheless, there is plenty of common ground in the argument used to support these 
ideas.

Page 141



The advocates of a city farm draw attention to several perceived benefits.  The most 
commonly mentioned is the educational value of such a facility, particularly to children and 
young people but also to adults.  A City Farm would provide an opportunity for people to 
learn about animal husbandry and care, food production, agriculture, and even rural life in 
general.

“A!project!that!would!involve!all!
ages...ideally!located!close!to!a!large!
number!of...schools!.”!

“An!extremely!valuable!educational!
resource!for!both!children!and!
adults...nothing!like!it!exists!at!
present!.”!

These general educational benefits are expanded on by others to embrace some specific 
issues surrounding the production of food and the maintenance of a sustainable agricultural 
environment. 

“City!Farms...have!a!lot!to!teach!
about!biodiversity,!sustainability,!and!
working!the!land!ethically.”!

Alongside these educational benefits are substantial 
entertainment benefits; the City farm would not only educate, but would be an attraction its 
own right which would serve to increase the attraction of the park to local people, enable the 
park to offer a wider experience to the visitor, and draw a wider audience. 

“City!Farm...needs!to!be!
considered...looking!at!alternative!
ways!of!providing!food,!and!teaching!
people!about!where!their!food!comes!
from.”!

“It!would!be!another!attraction!and!
reason!for!people!to!visit!the!park.”!

“It!would!provide!a!facility!not!found!
elsewhere!in!the!city.”!

This aspect of the proposal is very often linked to children visiting the park, and many 
parents comment on how much their 
children would like it, and potentially learn 

“As!a!parent!with!small!children!I!
think!it!would!be!fantastic...easily!
accessible!by!bike!and!bus...it!would!
be!really!well!attended.”!

“Children!can!become!involved!with!
farm!life,!not!just!on!occasional!visits!
to!places!like!Wimpole.”!

Page 142



from it. 

A third dimension of the City Farm proposal is its potential to aid and support community 
cohesion.  Different proponents of the scheme address this in different ways; the City Farm 
could help to provide constructive activity for local young people who might otherwise be 
drawn into anti-social activity; it could provide an outlet for local unemployed people, 
especially young people; it could bring people from different ages and backgrounds together 
with a shared objective and responsibilities.  It would also be a cheaper option, and therefore 
more accessible, than Wimpole or other similar ventures further afield. 

“I’ve!seen!city!farms!in!London!and!
know!people!who!have!done!
voluntary!work!at!them!and!they!are!
very!valuable!to!their!community.”!

“An!opportunity!for!developing!a!
lifelong!interest!that!may!lead!to!
[young!people]!volunteering!and!
helping!their!local!community.”!

Some extend this idea of cohesion further and argue the therapeutic benefits of working 
with animals, for instance in the context of improved mental health. 

Those who oppose the farm do so on several different grounds.  There are several who like
the Masterplan as suggested, and who see a City Farm as obstructing the ideas in the 
Masterplan or compromising the overall objective of the Plan. 

“I!think!the!park!should!be!developed!
according!to!the!Masterplan...!
additional!facilities!would!take!up!
more!space...leaving!less!space!for!
the!facilities!in!the!Masterplan.”!

“[the]!Plan!is!good...no!sheep!or!farm!
please!!

The spatial issue is one echoed by others, who see difficulty in accommodating a City Farm 
within the Hall without damaging the ethos of the park or the other aspects that make it 
attractive.  Some also draw attention to the fact that the Masterplan does not indicate what 
the space requirement of the farm would be, nor of how it might interact with other uses of 
the neighbouring space. 

Page 143



“I!have!seen!little!detail!about!how!
the!two!concepts![farm!and!park]!are!
to!be!fully!integrated.”!

“Without!knowing!what!it!will!look!
like,!how!can!anyone!have!an!
opinion?”!

Other comments are directed at the perceived impracticalities of a City Farm, or at least a 
City Farm in this location.  People here are concerned about the compatibility of a farm, with 
its associated impact, with the other uses of the site on an everyday basis and at festival 
times.  Some dismiss the idea; others accept many of the arguments in favour, but make 

suggestions of other sites that would be more 
suited to such a use.   

“An!extremely!impracticable!idea...do!
not!ignore!the...experiences!of!such!
farms!that!have!suffered!closure!
because!of!foot!and!mouth,![etc.]”!

“Farm!is!a!barmy!idea!–!smell,!noise,!
traffic!would!all!conflict!with!basic!
ethos!of!the!space.”!

Some opponents disagree with the cohesion argument; they see a farm as essentially aimed 
at children and young people, and offering them very little, at some cost to a space they 
cherish.  Others also disagree with the educational argument, suggesting that a City farm will 
not be a real farming environment and will not provide the insight being claimed for it. 

The City Farm debate really dominates this question to the exclusion of other ideas, but 
some are suggested.  The art space has both supporters and detractors, but really attracts 
little interest either way.  There are a handful of comments suggesting stronger integration of 
the hall building, by making the inside of the building a resource within the park – a museum 
gets some support, but so do other uses.  The cafe is also a welcome suggestion and one 
reason why some people like the City Farm is that they see potential for this to make a cafe 
viable.

The main area for additional comment, though comes from Folk Festival-goers, who are very 
concerned and anxious about how the Masterplan generally, and the City farm specifically, 
might affect their festival. 

Page 144



Understanding usage, needs, and improvements 
at Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

 
 
 
A research report by Phil Back for Cambridge City 
Council 
 
January 2009 
 
Phil Back Associates 
Suite S6, Boston House 
214 High Street 
Boston Spa 
WETHERBY   
LS23 6AD 
 
phil@philback.co.uk  

Page 145



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  2   

1 Background and objectives 

 

Cherry Hinton Hall is a large landscaped park in the south of Cambridge, sited on 

Cherry Hinton Road close to the city but also in close proximity to the village area 

of Cherry Hinton itself.  The park was originally laid out as an estate surrounding 

the Hall, a substantial detached house in the centre of the park which was built in 

the Victorian era as a private residence.  Cherry Hinton Hall was acquired by 

Cambridge City Council in 1937. 

 

Under Council ownership, the site has functioned primarily as a local park, 

although it is also used for some high profile events, most notably the annual folk 

festival, which has taken place at the park for more than forty years.  The Hall 

building has been let to an independent school, whilst the lodge cottage at the 

main gates is occupied by a Council employee as a tenant.  Behind the Hall, a 

small depot building, yard, and propagation centre were constructed ; the depot  

building has since been let to the Cambridge Regional College, while the depot 

itself has recently been closed down (although some items remain stored on the 

site).  The propagation centre was closed in 2007 and its glasshouses were 

demolished, leaving a large area in the centre of the park that is currently 

unused. 

 

This research began as a project to explore future uses for the former 

propagation centre site, but early on it was realised that the site could only really 

be appreciated and appraised in the context of the wider park, and that people’s 

interest would be in the park as a whole rather than simply on possible uses for 

the former propagation area.  The scope of the project was therefore broadened 

out to look at the park as a whole, and the results entirely justify this approach, 

we believe. 

 

 

The objectives of the study were: 

Page 146



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  3   

 

· To examine how people utilise the park, and to see which groups of 

people are well served, and which are less well served, by the park as it 

currently stands; 

 

· To examine which facilities in the park require improvement to meet the 

needs and expectations of those who use the park for different purposes; 

 

· To explore possible future uses of the former propagation centre, and to 

gauge public and stakeholder interest in a range of alternative 

possibilities; 

 

· To present the results of consultation to the Council and to indicate where 

possible preferred options for improvement or change in the park, its 

services and facilities. 

 

Page 147



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  4   

2 Methodology 

 

We saw the objectives of this study as requiring us to consult both with the 

general public in the vicinity of the park, and also with key stakeholder groups 

and organisations who either use the park themselves, or have some 

professional relationship with it. 

 

To ensure public participation, we set up two focus groups, one for parents of 

younger children (those of an age to use the play facilities provided on the site) 

and one for other park users, regardless of age, who use the park more generally 

rather than the play facilities.  A professional recruiter was asked to recruit ten 

people for each of these groups, which were held in the local primary school 

early in December 2008; in addition, two other people who had already 

expressed an interest in the park were invited to the second group.  To ensure 

that the meetings included ordinary people as well as anyone with a specific “axe 

to grind“,  a cash incentive of £35 was paid to each person who attended the two 

public focus groups. 

 

Alongside this, we also 

 

· Held a focus group-type discussion with stakeholders invited from a list 

supplied by the City Council (no incentive was paid for this, as people 

attended as a corollary of their job, or their representative function); 

· Met individually with other stakeholders unable to attend this discussion; 

· Met with elected members representing the two wards which encompass 

the site and its immediate surroundings; 

· Liaised with the CHYPPS team to ensure their consultation work and ours 

were properly integrated and that they did not conflict or overlap. 

 

Attendances were as follows: 

 

Page 148



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  5   

Group Committed to 

attend 

Actually 

attended/met with 

Stakeholders 15 14 

Residents with children 10 8 

Other park users 12 9 

 

 

The report that follows explores the views of all those who took part.  Equal 

weight is given to each respondent, and quotations are anonymised in 

accordance with the undertaking given to those taking part.   

 

The groups followed an agreed discussion outline which is included as an 

appendix to this report.  However, the facilitator allowed the discussion to flow in 

the direction of the agreed objectives and not all tasks were necessary or 

undertaken by all three groups.  Stimulus was provided to the groups in the form 

of a large map, and cards that allowed people to identify particular parts of the 

site for discussion.  Conversations with individuals tended to be more free flowing 

and exploratory and did not follow any particular structure, although we ensured 

that the key issues were discussed.  Themes emerging from the discussions 

have been identified, both the big picture of the park as a whole and the more 

detailed picture of specific areas or issues relating to the park. 

 

We are grateful to all those who took part, and for their contributions, which are 

welcomed. 

 

Page 149



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  6   

3 The park as a whole 

 

Cherry Hinton Hall is outlined in the site plan below, and can be viewed on 

Google 

Earth.

 

 

Page 150



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  7   

 

 

 

The park lies in a largely urbanised area and is bounded to the south by a main 

road.  The eastern and western boundaries are largely the back gardens of 

adjoining residential properties, with a small stream lying between the park and 

property on the northern and north eastern edges.  An allotment area to the north 

of the site is not part of Cherry Hinton Hall, but provides a green link to other 

parts of the city’s open space. 

 

Although people feed back on specific areas of the park that they use or feel 

strongly about, there are also a number of comments about the park as a whole.  

These help to set a context in which improvement or modification can be set. 

 

 

 

Page 151



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  8   

3.1 Value 

 

As with other open spaces in the city, this is a very popular and highly valued 

site.  Although people have little difficulty in identifying improvements they would 

like to see, they also stress a very positive view of the site as a whole. 

 

 

 

 

 

Aspects that are valued include the undulating landscape, the open space, the 

mature trees (and their autumn colours), the facilities available for play and 

recreation, and the presence of a large recreational space in a busy urban 

context. 

 

3.2 Heritage 

 

The heritage value of the site is an important dimension.  Although the park lacks 

the long-term history of other more central parks in Cambridge, people are 

making a lot more of Cherry Hinton Hall’s heritage value than of the other, 

perhaps more historically significant sites.  This is especially well seen in the 

escorted guided tours offered by one local person who explains the history and 

natural value of the site to visitors.   Cherry Hinton Hall has only existed in its 

present form since 1837 but the site was previously occupied by Netherhall 

Manor, and even in its present incarnation its various uses as a family home, as 

an army training location, and as a home for evacuees are of interest as well as 

historic consequence.  There has also been a locally organised archaeological 

exploration on the site, involving schoolchildren, which unearthed Roman finds 

as well as more recent ones.  

 

“You can see how much we love our 
park, can’t you?” 

Page 152



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  9   

However, the park does not respond especially well to this heritage aspect, and 

interpretation and information for visitors about the heritage and natural history of 

the park is very limited. 

Page 153



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  10   

4 A closer look at the park, area by area 

 

This section looks at different parts of the park in turn, and explores what people 

do in these spaces and how (if at all) the areas could be improved or enhanced.  

The areas are in some cases vaguely drawn but in general are defined in terms 

of the way space is utilised by visitors.  The areas are annotated on this version 

of the site map, though boundaries are of course blurred. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pond 
area 

Woodland 

Southern 
area 

Central 
buildings 

North 
side 

South western 
corner 

Play area 
Tennis 
courts 

Page 154



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  11   

4.1 The pond area 

 

The eastern side of the site includes a significant amount of space given over to 

ponds, created by managing the flow of water along the brook that flows through 

this part of the site.  The water area takes the form of a U-shaped pond, but one 

arm of the U is much less easily accessed and seems to be little used.  The 

layout of the ponds and watercourses has also created a small island area which 

historically was used as a bird reserve but which has now become very badly 

overgrown.  The access to this area is difficult, but a damaged fence means this 

part of the site is not secure and there is anecdotal evidence of inappropriate use 

of this part of the area.  A bridge crosses the stream at the north end of the 

western pond and leads into the woodland area and to the rest of the pond 

space; the stream and bridge lend themselves to the eternally popular activity of 

Poohsticks.   

 

The ponds are colonised by insects, fish, and a variety of wildfowl including 

mallards, moorhens, geese, and swans, all of which breed on the site.  There is 

evidence, though, that nests and eggs have been damaged, and that young 

chicks may have been taken by predators; foxes and herons have both been 

observed in this area. 

 

Immediately west of the pond area is a widened, surfaced space that is used as 

a platform for feeding the ducks, and also for activities such as pond dipping.  

This area has benches and bins, and is popular with young people as a space for 

hanging out or meeting friends.  The space also forms part of the north-south 

path network on this side of the park. 

 

This area is one of the park’s focal points in terms of use, and clearly for many a 

visit to the park is incomplete without an opportunity to feed the ducks – an 

activity which seems to appeal to a wide age range. 

 

Page 155



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  12   

 

 

 

 

Some people would like to see more ducks and wildfowl (or a variety of species), 

but others say there are enough already; similarly, some see the ducks as 

needing to be fed while others note that the ducks are often quite fat and don’t 

take as much interest in being fed.  The area also has squirrels and other 

mammals, and people also feed the squirrels and come to this area to enjoy 

contact with nature; a kingfisher is known to have been resident on the Cherry 

Hinton brook for many years.  Also present, but much less loved, is a population 

of rats who may be encouraged by the presence of litter. This is more of a 

concern because children are sometimes allowed to paddle in the pond. 

 

There is more agreement on the condition of the pond area, which is seen as 

quite run down and littered, a situation which is exacerbated in the autumn when 

falling leaves congeal in the pond and make it both shallow and stagnant.  This 

seems to be a particular problem in the eastern, less visited arm of the pond.  

One specialist stakeholder suggests that a water management plan is needed to 

protect water quality and to prevent unwanted parasites. 

 

The former bird reserve is seen as badly overgrown. 

 

 

 

 

The pond area is also popular as a site for picnics in summer.  A small barbeque 

area is provided but does not seem to be well used and is thought to be badly 

sited.  Benches beside the pond are popular, and some people sit there to enjoy 

birdsong and conversation; the pond side benches are also used as a meeting 

place by younger park users.  The latter are however blamed for much of the 

“You’re never too old to feed the ducks.” 

“The pond area is sad and neglected, but 
it has so much potential.” 

Page 156



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  13   

litter in this area, and there are reports of some anti-social behaviour, including 

throwing stones at the ducks.  In addition, dog owners allow their dogs to run 

freely in this area and this is seen as incompatible with protecting the wildlife.  A 

more structured approach to the ecology of this area would be welcomed. 

 

Although this comment comes from several places, the anti-social activity does 

not stop others from using the pond area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Some people have become so exercised about the condition of this part of the 

park that they have organised an informal clean up, removing large numbers of 

cans and plastic bags that they suspect have blown in from unemptied, 

overflowing bins. 

 

In spite of its condition, though, this is an area people value greatly and use 

extensively – not least because they are encouraged to do so by the events 

organised by the Council (pond dipping, for example) and by local people (such 

as historical re-enactment for children). 

 

 

 

 

“We come this way a lot of the time, and 
it’s just nice to have the trees and the 
ducks…it’s a lovely site.” 

“When I’ve had a stressful time, and I’m 
pulling my hair out, I go up there and sit 
down…for some peace.” 

Page 157



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  14   

4.2 The woodland 

 

The north-eastern corner of the park is given over to woodland, and rough paths 

run through this area.  The woodland has not been well managed, however, and 

presents a scrubby, overgrown appearance that diminishes its attractiveness.  

Nevertheless, it is still valued for the opportunities it gives for natural recreation 

and encounters with birds and occasional mammals, even including muntjak 

deer.  Users tend to combine pond and woodland visits so many of the 

comments about the pond area also apply to the woodland. 

 

Access in this area tends to be muddy at times, and the paths are badly 

deteriorated and damaged by cycling or motorcycling.  Lighting is limited and 

makes the area feel a little threatening after dark. 

 

The perception is that it’s good to have a wild and natural area but that this one is 

badly managed and neglected, and as a result is badly run down.  The CHYPPS 

project (see Section 7.3) would address this but awareness seems to be quite 

confined at present to a small group of people in the know. 

 

 

4.3 The north side 

 

The northern area of the park is largely grass interspersed with trees, and is 

bordered with mature trees.  There are several entrances into the park in this 

area, which borders a local but well-used footpath along the northern edge of the 

site. 

 

This part of the park is largely free space with no particular role, but it is the area 

most used for sports and games (in fact almost all the informal sport activity 

seems to take place in this locality) and is also used for picnics and for exercising 

Page 158



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  15   

pets; there is a lot of space here where dogs can run freely.  It is also an area 

people tend to pass through on their way to another part of the park. 

Sports played here include cricket, football, rounders and frisbee, but there are 

no markings or goalposts, and the ground is undulating, so sport is inevitably 

informal in nature.  The presence of trees is also problematic for those wanting to 

play sports, as they tend to interfere with free play. 

 

A striking feature of the consultation is the limited use of this park for jogging and 

exercise.  People do walk in the park, but relatively few see or encounter joggers, 

perhaps because there is no perimeter path or other circular route within the 

park; joggers tend to run through the park, rather than running in it.  There is 

some interest in providing more support for exercise and fitness, but this is 

tempered by the possibility that it might be misused. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

On the edge of this part of the park, near to the building cluster, is a small toilet 

block.  This receives very negative comment and the toilets are generally 

condemned for being in very poor condition. 

 

 

The toilets are also highlighted as being too far from the play area, so that 

parents have to round up all their children in order to take one to the toilet.  

Parents would not allow their children into the toilets unsupervised, for fear they 

would touch something contaminating, and also report occasional “funny 

“My grand-daughter says the park needs 
something like that [a trim trail].” 

“For emergency use 
only!” 

“I use the wood…the 
toilets are beyond a 
joke.” 

Page 159



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  16   

characters” hanging around.  Moreover, the toilets are not always open when 

they might be expected to be, and whilst the natural alternative of using the 

undergrowth is acceptable to some, it is not an acceptable option for the vast 

majority of adults, especially women.  The lack of adequate toilets may in 

practice limit access to the park and shorten the length of time people spend 

there.  This certainly seems to be the case for parents with babies, who are 

emphatic that they would not take their offspring into these toilets.  There is no 

disabled toilet, but some visitors are aware that the hall has a toilet which 

disabled visitors can use (at certain times only); this information is not prominent 

on the site. 

 

The annual folk festival makes extensive use of this part of the park, and not 

everyone welcomes this, since it closes the park to everyday users at the start of 

the school summer holidays and forces them to go elsewhere.  The festival is 

also seen as damaging the site, although closer examination of these comments 

suggests that people have long memories of one bad summer rather than 

recalling persistent damage.  The noise is also noticed, but does not seem to be 

especially problematic; there are however suspicions that damage is done to the 

pond area, and that wildfowl are persecuted, during the festival. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.4 The tennis courts 

 

On the western side of the park is a hard surface tennis court – a fairly recent 

addition to the facilities here - which seems to be well used and in demand.  

“You have to admit, though, that it [the 
Folk Festival] is beautifully 
organised…there’s never any trouble.” 

Page 160



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  17   

There are no equipment hire facilities so users have to come prepared, and this 

means that impromptu games are not possible. 

 

Nevertheless the courts are well used in summer, and people report long queues 

to use them in summer holiday time.  There is also a view that other sports 

opportunities should be provided for those who prefer to play other hard surface 

games such as basketball. 

 

 

 

 

 

4.5 The playground 

 

A large part of the western side of the park is allocated to children’s play.  The 

area is partly enclosed against dogs, and includes a range of play opportunities 

and equipment.  Two small paddling pools are provided (these close for the 

winter), and there is also fixed play equipment aimed at toddlers, infants and 

primary age children, whilst a short zipline and a limited combination of rustic 

play units offers something for older children.  There is no specific provision here 

for teenagers however. 

 

The play area includes some picnic benches and other seating, and also 

incorporates a new cycle rack which does not appear to be well used.  There is 

also a kiosk-type structure which does not seem to be used at present but which 

guards the entrance to the enclosed area, and which houses water pumps and 

filters for the paddling pools.. 

 

The range of equipment and the age-range being catered for here are both 

praised.  Some children find some equipment difficult to use but this seems to be 

because they are trying to use equipment that is designed for older children.  On 

“In summer the queues can be 
horrendous.” 

Page 161



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  18   

the other hand, the provision for toddlers and very young children is seen as 

insufficiently imaginative and children get bored quite quickly with this.  There is 

very little provision made for children with disabilities and parents of such 

children are critical of this shortcoming. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The older children’s equipment is very popular and the zipline especially so, in 

spite of its relative shortness and lack of significant challenge.  There are 

sometimes queues to use some equipment, and the provision is good enough to 

attract visitors from well beyond the typical catchment of a play area.  This does 

not seem to be resented at all, though, by local residents. 

 

 

 

 

 

The play area is also known to be a popular hang out area for teenagers and this 

can sometimes lead to graffiti damage, although the problem does not seem to 

be especially pervasive. 

 

Although the play area is popular and seen as well-equipped, there are 

nevertheless aspirations for improvement.  The paddling pools are very popular 

and well-used, but as a consequence they quickly become dirty and grubby.  

Some parents would like to see changing facilities – albeit basic ones – provided, 

and this would probably be essential if those with cultural sensitivities to 

changing are to be accommodated.  The play area is a significant distance from 

the car park for those arriving with children and picnic luggage, and there is 

“The smaller area is a bit rubbish for 
younger children…very basic.” 

“We’ve got people coming from miles 
away because it’s a lovely place to come.” 

Page 162



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  19   

insufficient seating for parents and for picnics, so some would like to see it 

relocated, but there is no strong lobby for this. 

 

Although the primary purpose of this area is play, it must be noted that a large 

number of people use the play area as a place for socialising.  Children meet and 

make friends here, whilst parents use the opportunity of the play space to sit and 

chat with friends.  This social dimension is almost as important. 

 

Changes people would like to see include a more challenging set of equipment 

and opportunities for older children, and better provision for the very young.  

There is also significant interest in catering facilities for this area of the park – an 

interesting result given that catering is not a particularly prominent priority in 

terms of city parks generally.  There is particular enthusiasm for providing 

sport/play space for teenagers in the form of multi-use games area, and those 

who have seen these elsewhere think this would a welcome addition at Cherry 

Hinton, although not everyone we spoke to would support this. 

 

 

4.6 The southwestern corner 

 

This area includes a car park, a small recycling centre, and the main entrance, as 

well as an area of grass with extensive tree cover. 

 

Although there are several entrances to the park, the main entrance is a wide 

driveway leading off Cherry Hinton Road and giving access to the central 

buildings and also to a small car park in the south western corner.  The car park 

appears quite busy and evidences the fact that a significant proportion of visitors 

come to the park by car.  There are marked parking spaces, but no specific 

provision for cycles.  The car park incorporates a mini-recycling site. 

 

Page 163



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  20   

 

Looking towards the main entrance in the south-western corner 

 

The main entrance is gated, and a secondary gate is sited so as to enable 

access to the car park but not beyond this point.  This second gate has 

historically been secured at dusk but this no longer seems to be the case.  There 

are noticeboards at the main entrance but these are primarily used for events 

advertising and give very little or no information about the park itself.  There are 

no visible notice boards with emergency contact details, or with information for 

visitors about the attractions on offer here. 

 

Next to the main entrance is a small cottage, formerly the gatekeeper’s lodge, 

which is now occupied by a council employee as tenant.  Again, historically this 

person had a defined role in relation to access to the central buildings, but this no 

longer seems to be the case. 

 

Page 164



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  21   

There is a bus stop outside the main gate with regular and frequent services to 

Cherry Hinton and the city centre. 

 

This area seems to be used mostly for walking through, rather than stopping in.  

Tree cover means that the grass is poor and often muddy, making this a difficult 

area to play in, but the area is popular on hot days when it provides extensive 

and welcome shade from the sun.  The area is viewed positively but is not well 

used, and the benches see limited use only; some people feel unsafe because 

views are restricted and the area feels quite secluded, in spite of its location.   A 

tree sculpture in this area is very well liked.  Dogs are walked in this area so it is 

subject to contamination by dog poo at times. 

 

 

 

 

The car park is well used and there is evidence that even local people use their 

cars to get here.  Nevertheless it is usually relatively easy to find spaces and 

there is no strong pressure for more car parking space; residents note that it is 

easy to park on-street within easy walking distance. 

 

 

 

 

 

The recycling centre is however poorly situated and causes noise and (from time 

to time) anti-social behaviour disturbance to nearby residents, who are primarily 

older people in supported housing.   

 

The information boards are seen as inadequate and missing an opportunity to 

describe the facilities in the park (especially for first time visitors) and the natural 

“A lot of the people using the 
park….don’t really need to drive there.” 

“If you was a woman on your own you are not 
going to sit in the middle of a wood…even with the 
dog I don’t feel safe there.” 

Page 165



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  22   

history of the site – particularly the identification of trees, and the birds to be seen 

in the park. 

 

 

4.7 The central buildings 

 

A cluster of buildings occupies the centre of the park.  These include the hall 

itself, now occupied by an independent school who also utilise part of the 

immediate grounds of the hall as outdoor educational space.  The college is not 

accessible to the general public, although there is evidence to suggest that its 

toilet facilities are sometimes used by visitors with disabilities.  In front of the hall 

is a small formal garden planted out with shrubs and flowers and sheltered by a 

tree border. 

 

The former hall, now accommodating an International School 

Page 166



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  23   

There is also a single storey building formerly used as a council depot, which is 

now used by the Cambridge Regional College as a centre for employment 

training for young people, and this is accessed by a wide driveway bordered on 

the opposite side by a small compound used for storing small park-related items 

such as  goalposts and other accessories.  Behind the depot is the former 

propagation site, the glasshouses having now been removed to leave a large, 

flat, but unkempt area that is out of keeping with the beauty of its surroundings.  

Two poly-tunnel structures remain on this site and are being used for storage of 

small quantities of plants, apparently kept in reserve against damage to current 

floral displays elsewhere in the city.  The propagation site is bordered by a large 

and dense hedge which obscures it from general view; however, although this 

area would technically not be accessible to the public access is easy during the 

day when the depot is open. 

 

 

Page 167



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  24   

The former propagation site, showing the current surfacing and the remaining 

polytunnels. 

 

The only public part of this area is the floral garden in front of the main hall.  This 

is generally liked and seen as well maintained, in spite of its contrast with the 

more natural landscape surrounding it.  Some residents would like to see more 

planting, but there is a mixed view about this; some think this would increase the 

attractiveness of the park, whilst others value the “natural” and wild nature of the 

site away from the central buildings.  Wild flowers would therefore be more 

acceptable as planting than formal borders. 

 

Residents have very little to say about the buildings themselves.  It is not 

surprising that the hall building and its environs are accepted as part of the 

landscape but even the depot and the former propagation centre attract little 

unprompted comment and seem largely to be seen as part and parcel of the site. 

 

4.8 The southern area 

 

The southern side of the park, between the hall and Cherry Hinton Road, is 

largely grass interspersed with many mature trees, and with a border of mature 

trees along the road side itself.  In spite of its proximity to a significant local road, 

noise disturbance does not seem to be a prominent issue here.   

 

Use of this area is primarily for walking and sitting, rather than for more active 

pursuits, and residents said they were able to shut out the road noise to enable 

them to enjoy a pleasant walk in this area, among the trees and landscape.  A 

small number use it for playing sports or running but the area does not especially 

lend itself to this type of activity.  This area is generally more sedentary and 

ambulatory, in spite of ambient noise, and the improvements needed here focus 

on provision for seating.  People have also noticed how well the trees planted 

Page 168



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  25   

after the 1987 hurricane have thrived, and how they are renewing the tree screen 

that used to exist in this area. 

 

There is one entrance in the southeastern corner, and this part of the park 

borders closely on to the back gardens of adjacent housing, some of which have 

gates from their own gardens into the park.  This area gets very little use other 

than from some people passing through.  The area is seen as too near the road 

and the houses, and has little to cause a visitor to stop and look at anything; it is 

really an entrance to the park at the moment, rather than a part of the park itself.  

Residents think it should have something in it that would encourage visitors to 

pause there or to go there specially. 

 

 

 

 

The area is shaded and (in spite of its proximity to housing) this gate is not as 

well used as others. 

 

“It’s just a not much 
going on kind of 
area.” 

Page 169



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  26   

5 The former Propagation Centre 

 

One of the main areas of interest in this consultation was the possible re-use of 

the former propagation centre.  Those consulted were allowed to make their own 

observations about this space, , but were also invited to react to some 

suggestions put to them which would help them to think more broadly about 

possible uses for the space.  It was explained to participants that none of these 

ideas had any particular status and that these were not in any sense to be seen 

as firm proposals for reuse of the space.  The suggestions can be grouped 

around particular themes as follows: 

 

5.1 Arts 

 

There is a close affinity between Cherry Hinton and the arts.  This derives not 

only from the festivals, but also from the sculptures that have at times been 

placed around the site using fallen trees, and from the prominence of arts and 

cultural life in the Cambridge community generally.  Some of the suggestions 

involved using the propagation centre space for arts, either as open air exhibition 

space or for the provision of an informal gallery for local artists, or performance 

space.   

 

There is some interest in this as a possibility, especially among residents with 

arts interests, but it has to be said that there is more enthusiasm for the 

preservation of the space as outdoors, rather than for a building to house arts 

activity.  It was noted, for instance, that indoor performance space would 

increase vehicle traffic and require extra roads and parking.  It is also noted that 

the Junction, not far away on Cherry Hinton Road, is doing this already and a 

facility here might compete.  That said, there was a lot more enthusiasm for using 

Cherry Hinton Hall generally as a showcase for outdoor public art, as at the 

Yorkshire Sculpture Park near Wakefield, rather than confining arts activity into a 

single building or space. 

Page 170



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  27   

A bandstand is mentioned but a more multifunctional outdoor performance space 

could also be possible.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

One resident suggests a graffiti wall but this idea is not at all popular with others.  

There is greater enthusiasm for other, more positive participation in arts, 

encouraging people to be creative and providing space for that. 

 

5.2 Buildings 

 

Several of the ideas put forward for the space used a building of some form.  

This could be a community centre, an arts space, a space that could be used for 

training or employment, or space for catering.   

 

As with the arts proposal, there is a mixed view about placing a building on this 

space.  Although it would not be completely unacceptable or impossible to do 

this, the idea was received only luke-warmly and with significant reservations.  At 

best, there would need to be some extensive consultation, with possible designs, 

before a green light could be seen to have been given. 

 

The exception to this rule is in the area of catering.  There is enormous 

enthusiasm for the idea that part or all of a building could be given over to a café 

type operation offering teas and coffees, baking and so on to visitors, and even 

after being challenged as to the commercial viability of such an operation 

enthusiasm remains strong.  One person wondered whether this could be done 

“I think the whole 
impression of Cherry 
Hinton is very 
outdoor, very natural.” 

“Art could be used in 
many forms…there is 
not enough art and 
creativity going on.” 

Page 171



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  28   

within the existing structures rather than creating more, but still liked the idea of a 

café nevertheless. 

 

A community centre to complement existing facilities is a reasonably popular idea 

but as with other building related suggestions there are doubts as whether this is 

the right place.  People would seem to prefer the improvement and expansion of 

facilities at the Village Centre rather than here in the park. 

 

The idea of using the space to provide supported learning and work for 

vulnerable people is welcomed in principle, but there are significant doubts about 

running such a project in a space of this kind.  Whilst some are enthusiastic up to 

a point, there is no conviction about this idea at present, and there are concerns 

about the creation of vehicle movement within the park to transport materials in 

and out. 

 

The main issue about a building is its visual appearance.  Any building on this 

space would need to be constructed so as to create a sense of civic pride and 

community ownership, according to one stakeholder, and it is hard to argue with 

this position. 

 

 

 

 

 

The issue is also raised about the value of retaining the existing council facilities 

– the depot and the college building – in the centre of a beautiful landscaped 

park.  At least one resident would like the area available for improvement to 

encompass not only the propagation site but also the depot area generally, and 

this would have the support of at least one elected member too. The depot 

represents a hazard to tenants in the college, and is being used as a “bit of a 

dumping ground” by City Services. 

“So long as anything doesn’t look 
like a Travelodge…and you are 
not using [existing] green space.” 

Page 172



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  29   

5.3 Play space 

 

Suggestions about using the area to provide play space receive some support.  

The idea of landscaping the area to provide natural, mixed-surface play space 

with mounds, boulders, and sand was welcomed as good idea, although some 

wondered whether such a facility ought to be placed nearer to the existing play 

area so that parents could keep an eye on their children.  It is seen as offering 

something complementary to the existing formal play area. 

 

A hard surface facility such as a BMX track, skateboard or similar area was also 

generally welcomed and parents of teenagers thought this would be very popular 

with their children, in spite of the risk.  Adventure play was also a possibility, 

although there are concerns about erecting what might be a visually obtrusive 

structure in this space, and again concerns that it might be better located near 

the existing play facilities so that supervision could be provided from parents. 

 

A multi-use games area is a very popular suggestion, especially if it could be lit 

with lighting shut down at specified times of night.  Not everyone is familiar with 

the MUGA concept but there is widespread agreement about the need to provide 

constructive facilities for teenagers, who are seen as a neglected group in terms 

of park users, and a group that can be problematic if they are not distracted.  

One stakeholder, however, would oppose this idea as visually intrusive and noisy 

for local neighbours, and points out that there are such facilities nearby anyway. 

 

 

 

 

The school would like to extend its playground into the propagation site. 

 

An indoor play facility was not at all popular, however, and the feeling is that 

there is already enough provision of this type. 

“I think that [a MUGA] 
is a well good idea.”.” 

Page 173



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  30   

 

5.4 Parks and gardens 

 

One option for this space is simply to return it to its former place as part of the 

general area of the park.   This would be welcomed as compensation if other 

parts of the site were to be re-used for other activities such as play or sports, but 

otherwise was not especially welcomed; there is a sense that people would feel 

this is a missed opportunity for improvement and enhancement of the park, and 

that there is already plenty of free open space. 

 

  

 

 

Planting would be welcomed by some, but others feel this is not a good use of 

this space and suggest that formal planting is already sufficient, and informal 

planting could take place elsewhere on the site.  There is some interest in 

planting of a sensory nature but again it is questionable whether this space would 

be the best place to site such a facility.  One person suggests that the area could 

be used to provide a maze. 

 

 A picnic or barbeque area has support but it is noted that people manage to do 

this already without needing extra help or dedicated space. 

 

There is little affection, for the dense Leylandii hedge that currently screens this 

area and whatever else happens, it would probably be a popular move to remove 

or replace this with something more in keeping with the park surroundings. 

 

5.5 Combinations 

 

There is some enthusiasm for not using the whole space for a single purpose.  

The Folk Festival would like to see the space providing a hard surface which they 

“It would be a bit dull.” 

Page 174



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  31   

desperately need for vehicles and generators, but see the possibility in other 

uses for that hard surface for sports provision.  An art gallery/café would not be 

incompatible with the multi-surface play idea, in the eyes of at least one resident.  

There is a feeling that we should not see this space as providing one single 

opportunity for enhancement.  Bringing the depot site into the mix would open up 

even further possibilities for combinations of activity and one stakeholder 

suggests that a Masterplan for the site should be considered. 

Page 175



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  32   

6 General observations 

 

In addition to site specific comments, many people make general observations 

that apply to the whole park, and these have been grouped into broad themes. 

 

6.1 Paths 

 

Footpaths around the site tend to be through routes and do not offer an easy 

circular walk around the park.  They include some rough surface paths through 

the grassed areas and some trail-type paths in the woodland areas.  Both are 

criticised for being muddy and at times unpleasant to use; the woodland trails 

come in for particular criticism, and are off limits for people with wheelchairs or 

heavy buggies.    

 

 

A typical Cherry Hinton path 

Page 176



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  33   

 

Wheelchair users find the paths difficult, and the grass impossible to negotiate 

properly.  The path network does not seem to follow desire lines, in that there is 

no link between the gate in the northwestern corner and anywhere else in the 

north of the site, and no easy way of getting from the pond to the northwestern 

area without using the grass – which is what people in general do. 

 

 

 

 

There is a pinch point at the main entrance where pedestrians, motorists and 

cyclists are all competing to use the same space. 

 

Some residents are keen to see tarmaced paths but others are horrified at such a 

suggestion, and point out that a park on a wet day is bound to be muddy in 

places.  Any solution needs to address the problem of standing water on the path 

surfaces, and their safety in icy conditions. 

 

 

 

The Folk Festival would like to realign the path running north-south past the 

toilets to prevent it being damaged by the essential placing of the festival’s 

broadcast stage across it. 

 

6.2 Dogs 

 

At present, dogs run freely throughout the park, apart from those parts of the play 

area that are fenced off.  There are no prohibitions on dogs using the wildfowl 

areas, for instance, and no designated areas for dog walking.  Dog bin provision 

“That path there is 
really bad – it’s 
always muddy” 

“You only have to sidestep a few puddles and that’s it, you’re  
going to come home caked in mud most of the time.” 

Page 177



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  34   

is limited and is generally seen as inadequate for a site that is extensively used 

to exercise pets.  Parents of young children complain that dogs frighten their 

children by running up to them, whilst those concerned about the wildfowl feel 

that dogs should be prohibited from disturbing the birds, especially when they are 

sitting on their nests. 

 

Some residents would like to see designated areas for dogs, so that they could 

then avoid using these spaces.  One resident does not visit at all because she is 

afraid of dogs. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6.3 Seating 

 

Although there is a scattering of benches across the site, the provision of seating 

is generally viewed as inadequate.  Existing benches vary in both quality and 

aspect, whilst the overall numbers of benches are insufficient and their locations 

are not always ideal.  The play area in particular needs more benches, and there 

is a need for picnic tables which not only support picnics but also provide 

opportunity for face to face chatting and conversation at all ages. 

 

Some people worry that providing seating invites trouble from young people, but 

others recognise that seating meets many needs, not just those of the young, 

and that young people also need space to meet and socialise.  One stakeholder 

would like to see shelters provided as well as seats, so that young people have 

somewhere to go in poor weather. 

 

 

“My son is autistic…he’s 
very wary of animals and if a 
dog goes up to him he just 
throws a fit.” 

Page 178



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  35   

6.4 Maintenance 

 

There are mixed views on maintenance, with some comments that the park is 

well cared for but others criticising areas like the emptying of bins or the cleaning 

of the paddling pools, and the cleaning and maintenance of the pond areas, both 

within and around the water.  The Folk Festival generates several maintenance 

related comments and is criticised for causing surface damage (this seems to 

relate to one particular incident a few years ago) but it has also been noticed that 

the imminent arrival of the Folk Festival causes a flurry of maintenance to take 

place to smarten the site up for its more special guests. 

 

 

 

 

Elected members report feedback from residents on the quality of maintenance, 

which needs to be improved.  There are also regular but limited complaints about 

the Folk Festival, and some are not convinced that the festival has done enough 

to restore the area damaged some years ago.   

 

Members also point out that this a damp site due to the presence of underground 

water near the surface, and that this tends to increase potential for surface 

damage.  Remedies such as filling collapsed areas need to be taken as early as 

possible after the festival to give them a chance to settle before the next event. 

 

Tenants do not currently do maintenance at all outside their own curtilages, but 

the school has expressed an interest in greater involvement in the park generally. 

 

6.5 Cycling 

 

There is limited provision in the park for cyclists, although cyclists use the park 

extensively.  Mostly, though, this seems to be for passing through rather than for 

“It’s embarrassing when I take people 
round sometimes…it looks awful.” 

Page 179



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  36   

visiting as such.  A new cycle rack has been provided close to the play area but 

awareness of this is negligible and inspection suggests that it has received very 

little use.  There is, on the other hand, no cycle rack in or near the car park where 

visitors might expect to find one. 

 

There is also little evidence of conflict between cyclists and pedestrians using the 

paths. 

 

6.6 Safety and security 

 

The picture here is somewhat unclear.  There does not seem to be an enormous 

anti-social behaviour problem in the park at any time, but nevertheless residents 

are wary of using the space after dark.  There are reports of incidents around the 

pond, some graffiti around the play area, and some noise and anti-social 

behaviour linked to the recycling site, however, and much more serious security 

incidents have plagued the central buildings, with several burglaries taking place 

in a short space of time.   

 

This problem now seems to have been resolved, with the arrest and conviction of 

the perpetrators, but security remains a concern for those using the central 

buildings especially after dark.  Nevertheless both the school and the college are 

looking into CCTV as a crime prevention and security measure; they note that 

the cost of this would be much higher than an informal arrangement to close the 

gate after dark, to prevent van access.  Low level lighting and bollard lighting 

have been considered but ruled out. 

 

It is also unclear whether or not the park closes at dusk.  Traditionally the 

occupier of the cottage would close at least the secondary gate after dark, 

preventing vehicle access, but this has been less reliable recently and seems 

now not to happen – perhaps because of the difficulty of having tenants working 

after dark in the buildings.  A lack of adequate lighting on the paths to the 

Page 180



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  37   

buildings exacerbates fears about personal safety when crossing the park after 

dark, and also encourages staff and visitors to the buildings to use their cars for 

access.  Most people would support a general improvement in lighting in the 

park, and are not convinced by arguments about keeping the place dark so that 

(for instance) the sky can be observed.  It is also noted that having lights doesn’t 

mean they have to be on throughout the hours of darkness. 

 

Police interest in the park is largely responsive and low key, moving kids on and 

dealing informally with issues as much as possible.  The park is not seen as a 

problem site by police now that the burglaries have been tackled. 

 

There is at present no information on site about emergency support or contact 

numbers. 

 

6.7 Community involvement 

 

Although there is at present no constituted friends’ group for this park, there is 

already some community involvement as evidenced by the informal clean up of 

the pond organised by concerned local residents.  Some of those taking part in 

the consultation expressed interest in being involved in practical ways on the 

future of the park and this suggests that there would be potential for setting up a 

friends’ group to support the Council in its management of the site and to act as a 

liaison between the different interest in the park and the local community.  The 

Cambridge Preservation Society has expressed an interest in helping to establish 

a Friends’ group here. 

 

The school teaches gardening as part of its curriculum and has expressed an 

interest in working on the floral garden area.  There are also possible linkages 

between the college’s horticultural courses, the school, and the grounds.  

However, the school does not want to use the former propagation centre site for 

its proposed allotment. 

Page 181



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  38   

 

Although the watercourses in the park are managed by the City Council, 

Cambridge Water would also have an interest in any improvement scheme, 

especially one that might have a bearing on water quality.   

 

There are also plans to develop a green pathway network linking areas of the city 

with nearby countryside such as Limekiln Close Nature Reserve, and beyond into 

the Gog Magog hills, and Cherry Hinton Hall would fit very well into this network, 

albeit with some realignment of paths and entrances.  The Cambridge 

Preservation Society is taking an active interest in these proposals. 

 

 

Page 182



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  39   

7 Stakeholder interests 

 

Like other major open spaces in the city, Cherry Hinton Hall is used for some 

significant events during the course of the year.  There are also some existing 

commitments affecting the park which need to be taken into account when 

considering improvement.  Event stakeholders and other influencing factors are 

set out here. 

 

7.1 The Folk Festival 

 

One of the most significant uses of Cherry Hinton Hall is its hosting of the annual 

Cambridge Folk Festival, a high profile music event which attracts a large 

audience into the park and an even larger audience through national broadcast 

coverage on BBC Radio 2.  This event takes place in late July every year over a 

four day period, and the park is closed for other uses during the festival itself; 

some areas of the site are closed to allow for setting up and breaking down 

before and after the event.  Access to the park during the Festival requires 

purchase of a ticket. 

 

The Folk Festival is an important event artistically, and in terms of the city’s 

profile in the music community, but it also has a significant impact on the local 

economy, especially in Cherry Hinton itself.  In addition, the organisers claim that 

the festival makes a substantial financial surplus which is used to support other 

arts and entertainments activities over the course of the year, and which also 

provides general revenue for the authority. 

 

The event is attended by around 14,000 people in total, although the site 

capacity limits ticket sales to 10,000 maximum on any one day.  Visitors include 

local people but the festival attracts a national, and even an international, 

audience.  These figures suggest that a large proportion of visitors attend over 

the full weekend, and although a large number of visitors camp in the park and 

Page 183



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  40   

use the catering, drinks and other services offered by concession stands, the 

impact on the local economy is nonetheless significant.  Local people comment 

anecdotally that Cherry Hinton village shops benefit significantly from the influx of 

people looking for food, catered meals and alcohol, and other services, and the 

garage on the opposite side of Cherry Hinton Road also seems to do well from 

the presence of large numbers of people nearby.  This impact has not been 

quantified in financial terms but must be substantial, and a significant contributor 

to maintaining the current level and variety of services available in Cherry Hinton.   

 

The event nevertheless presents significant logistical problems, and these 

include the need for parking; the car park on site holds very few vehicles, and 

vehicles (other than essential services) are banned from the park for safety 

reasons.  Existing parking arrangements involving the use of nearby school and 

open space sites will require revision in the next few years as a local school site 

is redeveloped.  In addition, the space available for production vehicles such as 

Outside Broadcast vehicles, electricity supply vehicles, artists’ and concession 

holders’ vehicles is limited and this is a pressure point for the organisers. 

 

Restoration of the site after the festival is recognised as a key responsibility and 

significant effort has been put into minimise litter and to restore the site from the 

inevitable (but heavily weather dependant) surface damage caused by large 

numbers of people.  The festival organisers suggest (and local people tend to 

confirm) that their presence leads to improvements on the site, with maintenance 

regimes being stepped up as the site is prepared, and repairs set in hand 

immediately after the event.  However, local people still comment on surface 

damage and this seems to link back to a previous year (2000?) when the 

weather was exceptionally bad, and from which some people think the site has 

not fully recovered even now. 

 

Electricity supply to the festival comes from generators which are acknowledged 

as causing both noise and pollution, and which are demanding in terms of space.  

Page 184



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  41   

There is a substation on the site but it is inadequate as an alternative supply 

source without a significant upgrade.  Water is polypiped around the site from the 

central buildings; waste is partly drained into mains sewers and partly stored for 

removal. 

 

 

7.2 Other events 

 

Cherry Hinton Hall also hosts an annual Pink Festival, organised by a local 

voluntary group as a celebration of the city’s gay and lesbian diversity but 

promoted as an open public event for general attendance and enjoyment.  

Although this is a large scale event, it does not present the technical and 

logistical complexities of the Folk Festival and its one-day, non-residential nature 

means that its adverse impact on surfaces or facilities is much more limited. 

 

 

7.3 Lottery funded improvements 

 

Cambridge City Council has already, through its CHYPPS team, secured 

National Lottery funding for two improvements at Cherry Hinton Hall.  These 

have already been consulted on separately and commitments have been made 

to proceed with these alterations; we were careful in the consultation not to invite 

people to comment specifically on the plans, as these are already approved (in 

fact, as is shown elsewhere in the report, people’s views would tend to support 

what is planned). 

 

One of the improvements is in the former bird sanctuary, where it is envisaged 

that the area would be set aside as a breeding area for wildfowl, protected by its 

isolation (it is an island) and by adequate security and limited access.  The site 

would also be used as a natural play site for small and carefully managed groups 

Page 185



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  42   

of children and young people.  Implementation of this plan awaits the outcome of 

tree examination and a health and safety assessment but will take place shortly. 

 

The other scheduled improvement is the creation of play trails in the woodland 

area, starting near the bridge, to encourage further use of the natural space and 

to make it more attractive to users.  This plan provides new benches and a 

refreshed barbeque area as well as improved surfaces and accessibility, and 

woodland interpretation.  The plans also include a “secret trail” with hidden 

sculptures and natural play equipment sited sensitively between the trees.  

Consultation on this plan restarts in January 2009 and culminates in a workshop 

event in the Spring. 

Page 186



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  43   

8 Conclusions and recommendations 

 

1 This is a valued site and should be treated as such.  There is no 

evidence to support wholesale change in a park that is valued and 

used by local people and also by those coming from much further 

afield.  Nevertheless, there is also strong support for changes to 

certain aspects of the park, and little evidence of the “protect at all 

costs” attitudes that characterise other parks in Cambridge.  On the 

whole, people welcome the Council’s interest in their park and look 

forward to improvement. 

 

2 A consideration that has existed throughout this study is the 

relationship between the needs of the once-a-year folk festival and the 

everyday needs of local residents.  Mostly, these interest coincide, in 

that both see value in a site which offers a pleasant and enjoyable 

natural environment, well maintained and easily accessed, and with a 

range of features and facilities for visitors. Generally there is an 

acceptance of the folk festival, albeit grudgingly because it closes the 

park and makes a bit of noise, and a recognition of the importance of 

the event for the local economy.  The issues the Folk Festival raises 

are largely around damage, and this seems to relate to historic rather 

than current activity, and there is evidence that maintenance improves 

in the park as a result of the festival. 

 

3 The Festival would like to use the propagation centre space as a hard 

surfaced space for parking broadcast vehicles and power generators.  

The Festival considers this essential but it is not clear whether the BBC 

has a long term commitment to broadcasting the event, or whether 

improvements to the power supply on the site could obviate the need 

for generator equipment.  This should be investigated further. 

 

Page 187



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  44   

4 The most enthusiastically received option for reusing the former 

propagation centre is to provide a MUGA or similar games area for 

teenagers.  This would be widely welcomed, but has influential 

opponents as well.  One possible solution that might address the 

concerns of objectors, and also address the Folk Festival’s needs, is to 

provide an informal hard, or dirt, surface which could be used for 

imaginative ball games, perhaps with goals or hoops at each end, or 

could have temporary and removable BMX or skateboard facilities, but 

which would also be robust enough to take the Folk Festival’s vehicles 

when needed.  It is unlikely that a MUGA surface to Sport England 

standards would be robust enough to bear the weight of the Folk 

Festival’s requirements, so a MUGA would not be a solution to this 

conundrum even if its fences and lights could be removed to allow 

vehicle access. 

 

5 A building would not be universally welcomed on the propagation 

centre site, but there would be interest in a facility that offered a café to 

visitors.  It may be helpful to undertake a quick visitor study to 

ascertain the commercial viability of such a venture and the feasibility 

of making this available commercially as a concession (or even 

allowing the Friends Group to manage it as a fundraising activity).  Any 

building would have to be much more carefully designed than the 

existing college facility to ensure that it added to the visual amenity 

rather than compromising it. 

 

6 Use of the propagation centre site for social or economic purposes, 

such as those suggested in the consultation, is not recommended.  

Although this would be in keeping with both the last use of the site, and 

the activity of the college next door, this does not seem to have the 

public support it would need, and is not really in keeping with the site 

as a whole. 

Page 188



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  45   

 

7 Use of the space for play has supporters, especially for rough-and-

tumble type play involving mounds, mixed surfaces, and other “natural” 

features such as boulders to climb.  However, there is a view that play 

should be located close to existing play facilities rather than here. 

 

8 Returning the propagation centre to the park generally is not a popular 

option and would be seen by many as a missed opportunity to do 

something constructive with the space to meet genuine local need. 

 

9 Although there is little awareness of the lottery funding allocated to 

improvements in the pond and woodland areas of the park, this 

consultation would tend to support the planned improvements, at least 

in terms of clearing and tidying a neglected area and improving paths 

and amenity in this part of the park.  The lack of community awareness 

of these plans, though, should be noted and tackled. 

 

10 Action is needed to protect wildlife from predation and persecution.  

Whilst some predation, such as by herons, would be difficult to 

eliminate, wildfowl nests should be protected from foxes, from dogs, 

and from human disturbance.  Activity to recreate the former bird 

reserve as a protected area might well address all these concerns. 

 

11 The pond and watercourses require attention.  An ecological study 

should be undertaken to ensure that water and water’s edge habitats 

are free from contamination, and action should be taken to remove rats 

from this area.  The knowledge that children may be paddling in the 

pond should alert the Council to its potential liabilities for illness and 

injury, particularly in the form of disease from contaminated water, and 

a programme of testing should be put in place.  It may be necessary to 

erect warning signs. 

Page 189



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  46   

 

12 There is great interest in the wildfowl and other wildlife in the pond and 

woodland area, but no interpretation that would heighten awareness 

and enjoyment; some interpretation is planned as part of the CHYPPS 

programme but this should extend into the general public realm as 

well. 

 

13 The initiative taken by local people to clean up the pond is welcomed 

but presents issues to the council – why was such action needed, and 

was this a safe thing for the public to do?  At the very least it calls 

water maintenance into serious question and this needs to be reviewed 

urgently.  We understand that Active Communities is currently 

undertaking a study of watercourses under their control, and this one 

should be brought closer to the top of the priority list. 

 

14 The toilet block should be closed and demolished and replaced by 

something fit for purpose, clean and hygienic.  If possible, the toilets 

should be relocated closer to the play area, although it is recognised 

that mains sewerage may prohibit this.  New toilets should incorporate 

facilities for visitors with disabilities. 

 

15 Play provision for younger children is limited and should be improved 

with a wider, more imaginative and more challenging play focus.  The 

provision for older children should also be improved and a better, more 

exciting zip line would be welcomed.  

 

16 Maintenance is repeatedly identified as an area where the council is 

underperforming.  This comes across in the pond and woodland area, 

in the toilet facilities, and in the upkeep of the paddling pools, as well 

as in general grounds care.  There is a perception that the park gets its 

best maintenance in preparation for the folk festival, and that this is 

Page 190



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  47   

provided by the festival rather than as part of a routine maintenance 

programme. 

 

17 More seating, and seating of better quality, is required in the play area 

and in the park generally. 

 

18 Notice boards providing information for visitors and offering emergency 

contact details are needed at the main entrance and at the play area. 

 

19 The existing car park is adequate and should not be expanded.  

However, the recycling facility is not needed in a park context and 

should be resited to another location outside the park.  Residents in 

houses bordering the car park area should be told that this is being 

done. 

 

20 Pathways require improvement and new surfacing sensitive to the 

surrounding environment should be considered.  The request of the 

folk festival to realign the north-south path west of the depot could be 

considered within this path improvement.  Better lighting is needed on 

the main paths, especially the one leading to the central buildings.  

Tenants do not at present feel safe leaving work at night. These lights 

should not remain on all night, however. 

 

21 Consideration should be given to the removal of all depot activity from 

this site; there seems little justification for retaining a depot store here 

in the middle of an attractive public park.  The space occupied by the 

depot store should be brought into the mix for possible reuse alongside 

the former propagation site.  The remaining polytunnels should be 

removed. 

 

Page 191



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  48   

22 The floral garden in front of the hall should be opened up and made a 

more attractive feature of the park with a mix of plants providing 

seasonal colour.  The offer from the school to assist with this area 

should be considered as part of a wider community engagement plan 

for the site. 

 

23 There is scope for wildflower planting, or for spring bulbs, in the south 

eastern corner of the site and along the northern edge, but planting 

should be limited and should not intrude on the essentially parkland 

character of the site. 

 

24 The potential of the park as a location for public art should be 

considered, and artwork commissioned for specific sites within the park 

to promote accidental and serendipitous encounters with public art. 

 

25 Better locations should be sought for cycle parking, and more 

information provided so that cyclists are aware of these facilities. 

 

26 The heritage value of the site, and its place in the history of the local 

community, is significantly understated and this should be remedied 

both by improving information about the park on the Council’s website, 

and in other literature, and by the provision of interpretative material at 

key locations such as at the main entrance or close to the hall.  Local 

historians should be invited to contribute to this process as part of the 

Council’s commitment to community engagement. 

 

27 There is sufficient enthusiasm for the site to justify the creation of a 

Friends Group and the Council should follow up on this to enable such 

a group to be formed.  The support offered by the CPS should be 

noted in this context.  Formation of such a group should take place 

Page 192



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  49   

before a decision is made on the vacant site, to enable resident 

involvement and to prevent any appearance of a fait accompli. 

 
 

 

Phil Back 

Wetherby 

January 2009 

Page 193



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  50   

Appendix:  Action planning 

 

This section of the report summarises, in bullet form, the various action points 

raised in the consultation and identified in discussion with the City Council.  For 

convenience, these are divided into two sections:  the first, those which can be 

acted on immediately, with little or no further discussion and with little or no 

resource outside existing budgets and contracts, and the second, those areas 

where action may require further thought, consultation or even negotiation before 

any definitive action can be taken.  The purpose here is to enable those changes 

which are relatively easy, and which have little strategic consequence, to be 

addressed without waiting for the more difficult decisions to be taken. 

 

 

Immediate or quick actions 

Action Report section Notes 

Signage and interpretation – improve the 

information and interpretation available to 

visitors 

3.2, 4.6 Possible activity 

for a Friends 

Group 

Repair damaged fence in wildfowl area 4.1 May be 

addressed in 

Chypps project 

Protect nests and other sensitive sites 

from predators and from human/canine 

disturbance 

4.1 May be 

addressed in 

Chypps project 

Remove rats from site 4.1  

Test water quality and take action if 

required 

4.1 Active 

Communities 

programme 

under way but 

priorities may 

Page 194



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  51   

need to be 

changed 

Remove or resite barbecue area 4.1 May be 

addressed in 

Chypps project 

Constitute Friends Group and set terms of 

reference to include 

Clean up and site management 

Interpretation and information 

Consultation on future, more difficult 

actions 

 

Numerous, but 

especially 6.7 

Several people 

from initial 

consultation 

interested in this 

Address woodland management issues 4.2 May be 

addressed in 

Chypps project 

Ban motorcycling and ensure path 

surfaces are brought back to required 

condition 

  

Refurbish and renew toilet block 4.3 Neither quick nor 

easy, but a high 

priority with 

universal support 

Relocate the recycling centre off site 4.6  

Improve the numbers and locations of 

seats 

4.8, 6.3  

Remove the Leylandii hedge 5.4  

Improve traffic flows at the main entrance 

and ensure personal safety for all users 

6.1  

Improve general routine maintenance on 

the site, and address ground water 

drainage and collapsed areas 

6.4  

Page 195



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  52   

Install a cycle rack where it will be useful – 

near the entrance 

6.5  

Explore arrangements for closing the 

gates to ensure the needs of tenants and 

visitors are properly met. 

6.6  

Improve lighting, especially on main 

access routes to the central buildings 

6.6  

Raise awareness of existing plans for the 

woodland and pond area 

 Chypps already 

have an event 

planned for this 

 

 

 

More thinking required 

Issue Report section Notes 

Are the toilets sited well for those who use 

them?  Should they be moved, or are 

additional, child friendly toilets needed near 

the play space?  How are people with 

disabilities to be addressed in toilet 

provision? 

4.3  

Is it possible to provide equipment hire 

facilities for city park opportunities like tennis 

and other courts? 

 Possible 

activity for 

Friends Group? 

How can facilities in this park be improved 

for people (adults as well as children) with 

disabilities?  

4.5, 6.1  

Can basic changing facilities for the paddling 

pool be provided? 

4.5  

Should dogs be banned from some parts of 4.6  

Page 196



Cherry Hinton Hall 
 

Phil Back Associates  53   

the site? 

What could make better use of the south-

eastern corner? 

4.8  

Is the propagation centre space big enough 

to accommodate a variety of uses?  Could it 

house both an arts space and a “sports” type 

space which could also serve the Folk 

Festival? 

5  

Is the depot space really needed?  Does it 

have to be here? 

5.2  

A cafe may not be viable as a formal 

concession, but the Friends Group might like 

to provide it as a revenue raiser and social 

opportunity.  A model exists for this. 

5.2  

The park doesn’t meet the needs of younger 

people terribly well, but addressing those 

needs may increase take up by a group that 

can be disruptive to other park users and 

neighbours.   

6.3  

Would a technical upgrade to the existing 

substation be a feasible alternative to the 

use of noisy, polluting generator equipment 

during events? 

7.1  

 

Page 197



Page 198

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix E – Estimated Costings for Cherry Hinton Hall Masterplan 
Proposals

Part 1:Hard and Soft Landscape Masterplan Objectives 
1. Buildings Total (£)
(a) New Public Toilets / Café (similar to Gonville Place), inc. 
demolition of old toilet block and architects fees. 300,000
(b) New Kiosk by the lakes, inc. 2 toilet cubicles. 80,000
(c) New underground foul waste tank, 3 phase pump and 150mm
pumping main to Cherry Hinton Road  (Used by Folk Festival). 20,000
(d) New paddling pool pump house. 
Removal of old building and replacement over existing pits and
Pumps. 20,000
2. Fencing, Seats & Benches 
(a) Removal of majority of old depot fence and hedge. Reuse 
some fencing along new secure area boundary. Chipping old 
privet hedge on site. 7,500
(b) Park Benches 
Allow 20 seats at £1,000. 20,000
(c) Bandstand – semi circular. 12m base. 4,200
(d) Circular paved area by the Lakes Kiosk 22m diameter. 
‘Plastic’ boardwalk and ‘plastic’ dipping platform. 8,000
(e) Fibre deck paths with 150x50mm concrete kerbs. Extra thick to 
highway standard. 
310 linear metres    2.5m wide 
700 linear metres   2 m wide 162,000
(f) Carstone paths – 1.5m wide, 625 linear metres. 40,625
(g) New Tarmac path – 2m wide footpath standard only. But in low 
area – includes making up surrounding area with soil. 4,000
3. Soft Landscape 
(h) Special pre-cast recycled stone curved seating, circular area 
by Lake Kiosk. 

20,000

(i) Dredging the lakes. Enlarge central island. New timber piles 200,000
(j) Trees & landscaping 75,000

Total:                        961,325.00
10% Contingencies:    96,132.50
Overall Total (£):          1,057,457.50

Part 2: Service Depot Buildings – desirable changes
1. Visitor Centre Total (£)
(a) New Visitor Centre, approx 24m x 10m. 2 storey inc. toilets, 
kitchen, heating, clock tower, large double oak gates, pair iron 
gates. Demolition of Atcost building. 430,000
(b) Remove old depot concrete. New bays, tarmac etc. Work not 
determined.

20,000

        Total:     450,000 

Grand Total (Parts 1 & 2):    £1,507,457.50 

Page 199



Page 200

This page is intentionally left blank



Cambridge City Council Item

To: Executive Councillor for Arts & Recreation  

Report by: Head of Streets & Open Spaces 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Community Services Scrutiny 
Committee

14/10/2010

Cambridge Allotments – A Management Policy  
Key Decision 

1. Executive summary

1.1 Cambridge Allotments – A Management Policy (Management Policy) 
was previously considered at Community Services Scrutiny 
Committee on the 12th March 2010.

1.2 The Management Policy highlights the value and role of those 
allotments managed by the Council in contributing to corporate 
Medium Term Objectives and the guiding principles of the Cambridge 
Environmental Framework.1 It provides the Council with a strategic 
approach to the management of its allotment assets.  

1.3 Allotments are an important asset to the City of Cambridge, providing 
a wide range of benefits to local communities and the environment. 
They are valuable green sustainable open spaces, which benefit 
wildlife and provide recreational activity that offers healthy exercise, 
and social contact at a low cost. They are also readily accessible to 
those members of the community who find themselves socially or 
economically disadvantaged. 

1.4 Background research for this Management Policy identifies key 
national, regional as well as local influences and gives clarity on the 
complexities of managing allotments.  By understanding these key 
requirements, the Council will prioritise service needs, improvements 
and investments by allocating available resources. 

1.5 A Review of Allotment Provision (Review of Allotments) was 
completed this year by the City Council and Ashley Godfrey 
Associates, and was used to inform this Management Policy. 

                                           
1 Cambridge Environmental Framework 
http://intranet.ccc.local/suscity/policies/Cambridge%20Environmental%20Framework.pdf 

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 14

Page 201



Report Page No: 2 

1.6 The Review of Allotment Provision, has given the City Council a 
clear, and up to date, picture of the city’s allotments, looking not only 
at how much space it has have, but also at what the City Council 
needs to do now, and in the future, to safeguard and improve 
allotment provision as the City grows. 

1.7 Consultation was approved by the Executive Councillor to determine 
the degree of support for the Management Policy; recommendations 
and objectives.  This report details the feedback from respondents, 
and provides evidence of a broad support for the recommendations 
and objectives contained within the Management Policy. 

2. Recommendations

2.1 The Executive Councillor is recommended to: - 

a) Approve the Management Policy and its recommendations; 
b) Instruct Officers to develop an action plan to deliver the 

Management Policy’s objectives, with a priority focused on 
addressing supply and demand; 

c) Instruct Officers to develop further the Allotment Management 
Procedures; and 

d) Approve the allocations policy for new provision in major growth 
sites.

3. Background 

3.1 Community Services Committee approved a report on the 12th March 
2010 Cambridge Allotments – A Management Policy which set out 
what Cambridge City Council wants to achieve from its allotment 
provision in the City. It considered future needs and detailed how this 
would be achieved and the resources that will be required to 
implement the recommendations and objectives. 

3.2 The Management Policy was approved for consultation; and Officers 
were instructed to obtain feedback on the recommendations and 
objectives contained within it. 

3.3 Allotments and allotment gardening feature in several other 
Cambridge City Council strategies and plans including the Parks 
Asset Management Plan 2010-2014, the Open Space and 
Recreation Strategy and the Cambridge Local Plan 2006. 

3.4 There are over 1,300 allotment plots in Cambridge, on 23 different 
sites, throughout the city. Overall, around one in twelve plots are 
uncultivated at the moment. The waiting lists for allotments add up to 
a total of over 500 names.  

Page 202



Report Page No: 3 

3.5 Even though we know that some people are on the list for more than 
one site, there is clearly an unmet demand for plots. 

3.6 The City Council owns 22 allotment sites, and manages eight of 
these directly; allotment associations manage the remainder.  

3.7 The City Council has reduced the size of its standard plots so as to 
make more space available for people, and to try and reduce the 
waiting list; this policy has been quite effective, and most of the 
associations have also done this.  

3.8 The City Council is responsible for regulation on its own sites, whilst 
allotment societies manage their sites under an agreement with the 
Council.

3.9 Site quality varies quite widely. Some sites have good water supply, 
but some others do not. Some have high cultivation levels, but a few 
have derelict plots. Just over half of all plots have a shed, but this 
also varies widely from one site to another. Larger sites may have 
communal sheds and some sell gardening supplies. 

3.10 Most sites have little or no provision for disabled people. People with 
disabilities would have problems getting into some sites, and also 
getting around sites once inside them.   

3.11 Partnership working between the City Council and Allotment 
Associations, sharing responsibilities through devolved management, 
has contributed significantly to increasing the level of participation in 
allotment gardening throughout the City and to the delivery of the 
wider benefits that the City Council regards as important.  Local 
communities have an important stake in the future for allotments, 
ensuring they managed efficiently and effectively 

3.12 The aim is to create management policies that will maximise the use 
allotments and the contributions they can make.   

4. Consultation Feedback and Findings

4.1 A questionnaire including a summary of the Management Policy was 
sent to stakeholders on the 1st September. The questionnaire was 
made more widely available on the City Council website as a 
downloadable form and as an online version.  A display with 
questionnaires was present at the Town and Country Show held on 
Parkers Piece on the 18th & 19th September. The consultation closed 
on the 24th September. 

Page 203



Report Page No: 4 

4.2 The Council consulted on the following: - 
!"the need to meet both current and future demand; 
!"improvements to the quality of provision; 
!"improvements to the management and administration of 

allotment sites; 
!"safe and secure allotment sites; 
!"sustainable practices; 
!"promotion of allotments; and 
!"an allocation policy for allotments on growth sites. 

4.3 A total of 85 responses where received of which 8 were from 
organisations.   The number of responses is low compared to an 
earlier consultation associated with the Review of Allotments where 
60% of the 1600 plot holders questioned replied.    This low response 
is considered to be a reflection that the Management Policy correctly 
interpreted the findings from the earlier Review of Allotments.
Consultation has shown that the Management Policy is supported. 

4.4 Demand
Evidence from the Review of Allotments suggested; waiting lists are 
long, and are growing, and new housing will only increase demand 
(while also reducing the available land for new allotments).  

Consultation results would support the following actions: - 

That the Council: - 
!"Protects existing sites from development; 
!"Looks at underused open space to see if it is suitable for 

turning into new allotments; and  
!"Actively looks for new allotment sites. 

The City Council can maximise the use of existing allotment sites, by 
!"Speeding up the re-allocation of unused or abandoned plots 

There is some but limited support for reducing the plot size for new 
plots, from the traditional 10 rod plot to 5 rods for instance. 

4.5 Quality
The Review of Allotments and consultation have provided helpful 
feedback on allotment quality, detailing that poorly maintained sites, 
with unused or unkempt plots, are not only unsightly but increase 
dereliction and encourage vandalism.  

It is also important that allotments are accessible to everyone, 
including people with disabilities.   

Page 204



Report Page No: 5 

The Consultation has shown that it is important to ensure sites are 
both welcoming and accessible by: - 

!"Making entrances welcoming, with good signs and notice 
boards, and keeping them clear of rubbish (94% of respondents 
agree)

!"Improving access into sites, and within sites (80% of 
respondents agree) 

!"Working with allotment groups and tenants to clear up unsightly 
and neglected areas  (96% of respondents agree) 

!"Improving maintenance of sheds, fences and other boundaries 
(94% of respondents agree) 

!"Improving water supplies (86% of respondents agree) 
!"Providing communal composting facilities (79% agree), and  
!"Encouraging the removal of non-compostable waste (99% of 

respondents agree) 

There was however opposition to making improvements for safe and 
secure parking. 

4.5.1 Consultees believe that it will be helpful to have a quality standard for 
our allotments, which will help everyone to know what’s expected, 
and will mean that we can be held to account when sites fall below 
this standard.   (74% of respondents agree).  However, the point is 
also made that this should not be a tick-box exercise to promote 
homogeneity, but rather a minimum acceptable standard that allows 
a diverse and varied use of sites within defined quality boundaries. 

4.6 Management
The consultation has shown that the City Council should ensure that 
it provides the best possible service for tenants, within the limits of 
our budgets. Our management service should be at least as good as 
other local authorities with allotment teams. It is recommended that: - 

New procedures are introduced that: - 
!"make it clear what is required of allotment tenants (86% of 

respondents agree); 
!"improve rent collection and the application of concessions (67% 

of respondents agree); 
!"manage waiting lists and reallocate vacant plots more efficiently 

(88% of respondents agree); and 
!"deal with enforcement of rules and take action when things go 

wrong (86% of respondents agree). 

Page 205



Report Page No: 6 

Evidence from the consultation would support the view that the City 
Council can make more progress if officers work more closely with 
tenants by: - 

!"Improving communication and consultation with allotment 
associations and with individual tenants; 

!"Have a regular forum where officers’ and associations’ can 
meet to discuss issues; 

!"Offering to delegate site management, under a formal 
agreement, to allotment associations where possible; 

!"Creating more opportunities for tenants and associations to get 
involved in site management, and in the way we run the service 
generally;

!"Providing a new tenancy agreement, and make this easy to 
understand, so that everyone understands their rights and 
responsibilities.

4.7 Allocations Policy for new provision Growth Sites
Consultees considered a new policy for allocating plots on sites 
derived from housing growth areas. It is recommended that this 
would give priority, for up to 8 years, to residents of the development, 
and if demand exceeds supply, we can reduce the size of plots to try 
and give everyone who wants an allotment some space. If there is 
vacant space, we may allocate it to residents of other areas on a 
temporary basis, which will allow us to prioritise local residents in 
these areas for the first eight years.  The allocations policy is detailed 
at Appendix A. 

There is support for the principle of giving priority to local people in 
new housing areas, but respondents are less enthusiastic about 
reduced plot sizes, and especially about temporary allocations to 
others – though neither of these approaches attracts outright 
opposition, views are more guarded. 

4.8 Safety and security
One major concern raised during the research for this Management 
Policy was safety and security of sites. Consultation has shown 
support for the following:- 

!"Carrying out a safety and security check on each site every 
year;

!"Liaising with police and community safety staff to alert them to 
problems on sites; 

!"Keeping sites free from dog fouling, and ensuring dogs are kept 
under control; 

!"Providing guidance to tenants on the keeping of livestock, to 
make clear what livestock are permitted on site, and what 
standards of care are expected; and 

Page 206



Report Page No: 7 

!"Promoting best practice in health and safety on all the sites. 

4.9 Sustainability
The Review of Allotments highlighted an obligation to ensure that 
what we do today does not harm the environment or waste natural 
resources. It’s especially important that allotments provide examples 
of good practice in this area, so it is recommended that the City 
Council: - 

!"Encourage natural methods of pest control, and “green 
manures”;

!"Encourage organic gardening to protect the soil; 
!"Reduce the need for mains water by encouraging rainwater 

collection and storage; and 
!"Promote better ways of dealing with organic waste, and 

recycling or reusing other waste. 

4.10 Promotion
There are researched and documented benefits of working an 
allotment include better diets, more exercise, social opportunities, 
and a better understanding of nature, and allotments also provide 
open space and space for wildlife to thrive. It is recommended to: - 

!"Promote and advertise the benefits of allotments more widely; 
!"Provide information on methods of gardening, to help people 

make more of their allotments; and 
!"Promote “garden sharing”, where people are encouraged to 

offer parts of their own gardens to growers (this would help 
people who can’t manage their gardens, for instance). 

.
4.11 Priority Areas

Respondents to the consultation where asked to detail two aims of 
the Management Policy that would make the biggest positive 
difference.  The following table details the responses. 

Managing and meeting demand 82%
Improving sustainability 32%
Improving our management and 
enforcement procedures 

26%

Improve site quality 24%
Improving safety and security 16%
Promoting the benefits of allotment 
gardening more widely 

8%

4.12 Conclusions
There is broad consensus and support for the Management 
Policy.The main priority for the Management Policy should be to 
consider solutions to overcome supply and demand issues.   

Page 207



Report Page No: 8 

5. Implications

5.1 Financial Implications 
The provision of allotments and monies towards allotments is only 
formally required in the urban extensions.  It would not be permissible 
in terms of the parameters of the existing policy documents and the 
Planning Circular 05/05 Planning Obligations for monies for informal 
open space to be used to support allotment provision or improvement 
within the City. 

A review of the funding criteria for Environmental Improvements is 
being considered by the Executive Councillor for Climate Change 
and Growth. 

The Management Policy considered funding at paragraph 6.9 
onwards

5.2 Staffing Implications
 None currently identified 

5.3 Equal Opportunities Implications 
 A stage one equality impact assessment is being undertaken, and 

results will be reported at Committee. Access issues at some sites 
have already been noted and the policy seeks to address this issue. 

5.4 Environmental Implications 
 Allotments make a contribution to sustainability by promoting and 

facilitating composting, and can be managed in ways that 
demonstrate sustainable practices such as rain water collection, the 
use if green technologies e.g. composting toilets, and the reuse, 
recycling or reclamation of waste products 

5.5 Community Safety Implications 
None

6. Background papers

These following background papers were used in the preparation of this 
report:

!"Brief for the Review of Allotment Provision 
!"Review of Allotment Provision by Ashley Godfrey Associates, 

January 2010 

Page 208



Report Page No: 9 

!"Report by Phil Back Associates on the Management Policy 
Consultation 2010 

!"Allotments Guide Supplement – Local Government Association 3rd

March 2010 
!"Cambridge Allotments – A Management Policy 

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Allocations Policy for New Provision 

8. Inspection of papers

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: Alistair Wilson
Author’s Phone Number: 01223 - 457000
Author’s Email: Alistair.wilson@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 209



Page 210

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A - Draft allotments allocation policy for growth 
sites

1. Principles

1.1 Priority for allotments will be given to residents of that growth 
site until twelve years after the completion of that site.   

1.2 Residents in later stages of the build out of the growth site 
should not be disadvantaged by all plots having already been 
allocated.

1.3 The majority of the allotment site should be fully cultivated 
throughout the development of the growth site. 

1.4 If actual demand for allotments exceeds supply, the sizes of 
plots let will be adapted and opportunities explored to 
provide more allotments.  

1.5 Any surplus supply should be offered to ‘non growth site’ 
applicants on a temporary basis. 

1.6 Allotments will be managed in accordance with the approved 
Allotments Management Policy. 

1.7 In the absence of an allotment society, the City Council or 
successor will be responsible for allocation. 

1.8 This allocation policy shall be kept under review and revised 
as appropriate. 

2 Allocation Policy (see definitions below)

2.1 Only applicants living on the growth site will be allocated 
plots on a permanent basis until 12 years after the 
completion of the growth site.

2.2 During the build out of the growth site, the following 
procedure will be followed in February of each year: 

a) The appropriate proportion of the allotment site will be 
allocated on a permanent basis. This annual supply will 

Page 211



be calculated as defined below. If the actual demand 
exceeds the annual supply, permanent allocations will be 
made after a ballot on 1st February.

b) Any applicant from the growth site failing to achieve a 
permanent allocation through the ballet shall be given a 
temporary allocation if available, by further ballot if 
necessary.

c) Applicants from the growth site unsuccessful in two 
previous ballots for a permanent allocation will be given a 
permanent allocation, without the use of a ballot. 

d) Priority can be given to Community Group applications 
linked with the growth site without ballot, either as a 
temporary or permanent basis. 

e) Applicants not from the growth sites will be given 
temporary allocations if there are vacancies on the site 
after all the allocations have been made to residents of 
the growth site. 

f) If there are vacancies on the site, applicants after 
February will be given a temporary contract until the 
following February.

2.3 For the first 8 years following completion of the growth site, 
permanent allocations will be given to residents of that site 
as plots become available. If necessary, a waiting list shall 
be set up. On 1 February of each year, if there are vacancies 
on the site after all the allocations have been made to 
residents of the growth site, temporary allocations will be 
made to non-residents. Residents of both Cambridge City 
and South Cambridgeshire will have equal access to the 
waiting list. 

2.4 After 12 years from the completion of the growth site, 
allocation is open to all. It may be appropriate to vary this on 
a site by site basis if this is justified, for example there could 
be a separate policy on the allotments provided in 
association with University key workers to take into account 
that the residents will generally be on short term tenancy 
agreements.

Page 212



3 Definitions

Growth Sites – Trumpington Meadows, Clay Farm, Glebe 
Farm, Bell School, NIAB and NIAB Extra, North West 
University, and Cambridge East.
Completion – Date of completion of last dwelling. 
Potential  Demand – Number of Properties still to be 
completed within the growth site / Years of anticipated future 
build out = Potential applicants per year. 
Actual Demand – Number of residents seeking allotment 
plots each year. 
Annual Supply – Area of allotment site remaining / Years of 
anticipated build out from that time = Available area per 
annum.
Temporary Allocation – Allocation for a period up to the 1st

February on the following year.  
Permanent Allocation – an allocation until such times as 
the applicant surrenders their plot. This can be an allocation 
of full, half or any proportion of an allotment plot; 
Allotment Society – a collective of allotment holders usually 
a constituted group administering the allotment site, under 
licence.
Community Group – a collective of residents linked with the 
growth site with a constitution with stated aims and 
objectives.

Page 213



Page 214

This page is intentionally left blank



Item xx 
Page 1 of 5 

Project Appraisal and Scrutiny Committee Recommendation 

Project Name Kelsey Kerridge Climbing wall project – 
Additional funding request 

Committee Community Services 

Portfolio Arts & Recreation 

Committee Date 14th October 2010 

Executive Councilor Councilor Rod Cantrill 

Lead Officer Ian Ross 

Recommendation/s

Financial recommendations –

The Executive Councillor is asked to; 

!" Approve an additional £30,000 funded from Formal Open 
Space S106 contributions for this scheme, which is already 
included in the Capital Plan (SC452), subject to resources 
being available to fund the total cost of £90,000. 

!" There are no additional revenue implications. 

1 Summary 

1.1 The project 

Approval to grant S106contributions to fund the installation of a 
climbing wall at Kelsey Kerridge Sports Hall was given March 
2010.

A revised project to include the additional feature of a large 
bouldering facility at a further cost of £30,000 is now proposed. 

Target Start date November 2010 

Target completion date December 2010 

1.2 The Cost 

Total Capital Cost £ 90,000 

C:\DOCUME~1\BURGE1G\LOCALS~1\TEMP\XPGRPWISE\AB PA - KELSEY KERRIDGE ADDITIONAL 
FUNDING.DOC

Agenda Item 15

Page 215



Item xx 
Page 2 of 5 

Capital Cost Funded from: 

Funding: Amount: Details:

Reserves £ 0 N/a

Repairs & Renewals £ 0 N/a

Section 106 £ 90,000 Formal Open Space 

Other

Revenue Cost – met by Kelsey Kerridge

Year 1 £0

Ongoing £0

1.3 The Procurement 

Kelsey Kerridge Sports Hall Trust has tendered the above works 
and is looking to award the works to “Zig Zag Climbing walls”.
Capital Project Appraisal & Procurement Report 

1.4 What is the project?

The previously approved project was to provide a new climbing 
wall and overhang in Kelsey Kerridge. Approved funds totalled 
£60,000 from S106 Formal Open Space contributions. 

The project remains the same as the previous report, but a new 
feature of a bouldering facility is being added at a cost of £30,000 
to make best use of the space available and provide a diverse 
climbing experience.

New regulations about the size of crash mats mean that the multi-
use space within the climbing wall room is now required for the 
larger crash matting and a smaller, unusable space is left. 

To make best use of this space a bouldering wall facility has been 
added to the project and additional funds of £30,000 are requested 
to fund this additional and unique facility for Cambridge. 

C:\DOCUME~1\BURGE1G\LOCALS~1\TEMP\XPGRPWISE\AB PA - KELSEY KERRIDGE ADDITIONAL 
FUNDING.DOC Page 216



Item xx 
Page 3 of 5 

1.5 What are the aims & objectives of the project? 

Main objective is to extend and update the climbing wall provision 
within the Kelsey Kerridge Sports Hall to maximise the potential of 
the facilities. 

This contributes to the Council’s Vision for: 
!" ‘A city which is diverse and tolerant, values activities which 

bring people together and where everyone feels they have a 
stake in the community 

!" A city which draws inspiration from its iconic historic centre 
and achieves a sense of place in all of its parts with 
generous urban open spaces and well designed buildings.’ 

1.6 Summarise the major issues for stakeholders & other 
departments?

The current facilities, although usable, are not very demanding, 
offer little advanced climbing experience, are very dated compared 
to other indoor climbing facilities, and are below the expectation of 
sports and leisure facilities today.

Disabled provision and access to this facility will be enhanced 
allowing a range of disabled users that would otherwise not be 
able to access the experiences of climbing and bouldering. 

1.7 Summarise key risks associated with the project  

Loss of facilities for Cambridge residents 
!" the current indoor provision is dated and unchallenging to 

regular users. Attendance and usage figures for current 
facilities within the Kelsey Kerridge centre have declined and 
some local climbing clubs are choosing to travel to facilities 
outside of Cambridgeshire to participate in their sport.  

!" If not updated and enhanced within the next couple of years 
this migration of existing users and clubs could lead to the 
demise of the sport within the City. 

Repayment of S106 contributions 
!" there is the possibility that funds may be returned if this 

project is not delivered. 

C:\DOCUME~1\BURGE1G\LOCALS~1\TEMP\XPGRPWISE\AB PA - KELSEY KERRIDGE ADDITIONAL 
FUNDING.DOC Page 217



Item xx 
Page 4 of 5 

1.8 Financial implications 

a. Appraisal prepared on the following price base: 2010/11

b. Submitted designs upto the cost of £90,000 

1.9 Capital & Revenue costs 

(a) Capital £ Comments

Building contractor / works

Purchase of vehicles, plant & 
equipment
Professional / Consultants 
fees

IT Hardware/Software 

Other capital expenditure 90,000 Grant to KK 

Total Capital Cost £90,000

(b) Revenue £ Comments
Existing provision £0
Future maintenance - £0
Total Revenue Cost £0

1.10 VAT implications 

There are No VAT issues. 

1.11 Other implications

There are no other implications. 

1.12 Estimate of staffing resource required to deliver the 
project

Staff resources will be from the Recreation team, to monitor the 
progression of works and onsite H&S checks. 

1.13 Identify any dependencies upon other work or projects 

There are no other dependencies on this project.

C:\DOCUME~1\BURGE1G\LOCALS~1\TEMP\XPGRPWISE\AB PA - KELSEY KERRIDGE ADDITIONAL 
FUNDING.DOC Page 218



Item xx 
Page 5 of 5 

1.14 Background Papers 

!"Previously approved project appraisal
!"New design and provision from Zig Zag climbing walls

1.15 Inspection of papers 

Author’s Name Ian Ross 

Author’s phone No. 8638

Author’s e-mail: Ian.ross@cambridge.gov.uk 

Date prepared: 17/08/2010

C:\DOCUME~1\BURGE1G\LOCALS~1\TEMP\XPGRPWISE\AB PA - KELSEY KERRIDGE ADDITIONAL 
FUNDING.DOC Page 219



Page 220

This page is intentionally left blank



Item xx 
Page 1 of 5 

Project Appraisal and Scrutiny Committee Recommendation 

Project Name Cambridge Canoe Club extension 
project – Additional funding request 

Committee Community Services 

Portfolio Arts & Recreation 

Committee Date 14 October 2010 

Executive Councilor Councilor Rod Cantrill 

Lead Officer Ian Ross 

Recommendation/s

Financial recommendations –

The Executive Councillor is asked to; 
!" Approve an additional £35,000 funding from Formal Open 

Space S106 contributions for this scheme, which is already 
included in the Capital Plan (SC441), subject to resources 
being available to fund the total cost of £210,000. 

!" There are no additional revenue implications. 

Procurement recommendations -

The Executive Councillor is asked to:
!" Approve the carrying out and completion of the revised 

procurement. 

1 Summary 

1.1 The project 

The project appraisal for the updating, extension and expansion of 
the Cambridge Canoe Club building on Sheeps Green (owned by 
the City Council but let to the Canoe Club) was approved October 
2009.

The project remains the same as the previous report, but the 
procurement exercise identified a shortfall in the existing budget 
provision and approval is sought for addition funding to secure the 
external capital grant and deliver the project.

C:\DOCUME~1\BURGE1G\LOCALS~1\TEMP\XPGRPWISE\AB PA - CANOE CLUB ADDITIONAL FUNDING.DOC

Agenda Item 16

Page 221



Item xx 
Page 2 of 5 

Target Start date October 2010 

Target completion date April 2011 

1.2 The Cost 

Total Capital Cost £ 210,000 

Capital Cost Funded from: 

Funding: Amount: Details:

Reserves £ 0 N/a

Repairs & Renewals £ 0 N/a

Section 106 £ 115,000 Formal Open Space 

Other
£ 80,000 
£ 15,000 

British Canoe Union grant 
Cambridge Canoe club 

Revenue Cost – 

Year 1 No additional revenue cost 

Ongoing No additional revenue cost 

1.3 The Procurement 

A fully tendered procurement exercise was undertaken to submit 
pricing for building works based on architectural drawings and fit-
out specifications. These tenders all came back at around (but not 
in excess of) £210,000 for the project.  

Procurement previously approved totalled £160,000, funded 
£80,000 from formal open space S106 funds and an £80,000 
capital grant from the British Canoe Union. 

Building contracts have not been awarded until the additional 
funds required are approved. 

C:\DOCUME~1\BURGE1G\LOCALS~1\TEMP\XPGRPWISE\AB PA - CANOE CLUB ADDITIONAL FUNDING.DOCPage 222



Item xx 
Page 3 of 5 

Capital Project Appraisal & Procurement Report 

1.4 What is the project?

The project, as per the previous appraisal approved October 2009, 
is to extend the Cambridge Canoe Clubhouse, improving changing 
facilities to accommodate the increasing membership and better 
cater for disabled users. 

Replacing and extending the north end of the clubhouse will permit 
a disabled changing facility, two large changing rooms (male and 
female), a parent & child changing room, and two toilets. The 
layout will also free up space to create better equipment storage. 

Consent has been granted by Planning and Building Regulations 
for the works proposed. 

A 30 year extension to the lease with the Canoe Club has been 
agreed.

1.5 What are the aims & objectives of the project? 

Main objective is to extend and update the provision within the 
Canoe Club on Sheeps Green to support the Council’s Vision: 

‘A city which is diverse and tolerant, values activities which 
bring people together and where everyone feels they have a 
stake in the community.’ 

1.6 Summarise the major issues for stakeholders & other 
departments?

The main issues for the Canoe Club are that works be done 
outside of the Canoe season if at all possible.

1.7 Summarise key risks associated with the project  

There is the risk that if not approved and delivered the grant of 
£80,000 from the British Canoe Union will be lost and an 
opportunity of joint working and outside funding for investment into 
Cambridge clubs and City Council owned properties will be lost. 
The building works are proposed to start as soon as possible after 
contract award in October and ground conditions and river levels 
may have a significant impact upon the time line for delivery of this 
project over the winter period.

C:\DOCUME~1\BURGE1G\LOCALS~1\TEMP\XPGRPWISE\AB PA - CANOE CLUB ADDITIONAL FUNDING.DOCPage 223



Item xx 
Page 4 of 5 

Footings and ground works need to be constructed and set before 
the possibilities of floods and the wetter weather disrupts the site. 

If further S106 funding is not allocated there is the possibility that 
funds from this section of S106 contributions, which are well 
catered for, may have to be returned, due to non-funding of viable 
projects.

1.8 Financial implications 

a. Appraisal prepared on the following price base: 2010/11

b. Submitted designs upto the cost of £210,000 

1.9 Capital & Revenue costs 

(a) Capital £ Comments

Building contractor / works 199,000 S106 & BCU funded 

Purchase of vehicles, plant & 
equipment
Professional / Consultants 
fees 11,000 S&P Architects 

IT Hardware/Software 

Other capital expenditure 

Total Capital Cost £210,000

(b) Revenue £ Comments
Existing provision 0
Future maintenance -
Total Revenue Cost 

1.10 VAT implications 

There are No VAT issues on the capital procurement of this project 
as the City Council is the main applicant for the British Canoe 
Union grant. 

C:\DOCUME~1\BURGE1G\LOCALS~1\TEMP\XPGRPWISE\AB PA - CANOE CLUB ADDITIONAL FUNDING.DOCPage 224



Item xx 
Page 5 of 5 

1.11 Other implications

There are no other implications. 

1.12 Estimate of staffing resource required to deliver the 
project

Staff resources will be from the Recreation team, to monitor the 
progression of works and onsite H&S checks. 

1.13 Identify any dependencies upon other work or projects 

This project is dependent upon the dedicated S106 funds being 
available for the project, the award from the British Canoe Union 
and funding from Cambridge Canoe Club. 

1.14 Background Papers 

!"Previously approved project appraisal

1.15 Inspection of papers 

Author’s Name Ian Ross 

Author’s phone No. 8638

Author’s e-mail: Ian.ross@cambridge.gov.uk 

Date prepared: 17/08/2010

C:\DOCUME~1\BURGE1G\LOCALS~1\TEMP\XPGRPWISE\AB PA - CANOE CLUB ADDITIONAL FUNDING.DOCPage 225



Page 226

This page is intentionally left blank



Cambridge City Council Item

To: Executive Councillor for Arts and Recreation 

Report by: Debbie Kaye, Head of Arts & Recreation 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Community Services Scrutiny 
Committee

14/10/2010

Wards affected: All Wards 

CAMBRIDGE CORN EXCHANGE REVIEW
Key decision 

1. Executive summary

On 25th June 2009, the Council approved a report by the Director of 
Community Services that highlighted recommendations for improvements to 
the operation and management of the Corn Exchange. Discussion at two 
officer/member working parties over the autumn period this year has further 
informed future direction and approach. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 To approve the approach and detailed actions highlighted in section 3.5 
of this report relating to governance, management, staffing, programming, 
marketing, and facility improvement.

3. Background 

3.1 In June 2009 the then Executive Councillor for Arts and Recreation, 
Councillor Julie Smith, took the following decisions: 

!"To agree to retain management of the Corn Exchange in-house with 
operational and efficiency improvements. 

!"To set up a member/officer working party to consider the detailed 
recommendations for improvements outlined in appendix 1, section 
1.8 of the report. 

!"To request that the working party draw up an action plan to deliver 
changes, to be brought back to Community Services Scrutiny 
Committee for a final Executive Councillor decision. 

!"To accept the conclusions from the catering review that the daytime 
café facility is not viable, and to remove the café facility when drawing 
up the specification for the re tendering of the catering contract.

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 17

Page 227



Report Page No: 2 

                                           

3.2 The appendix referred to is the report by consultants RGA Ltd, and the 
recommendations related to governance, management, staffing, 
programming, marketing, catering and facilities. The RGA report made 36 
individual recommendations, some strategic and some relating to 
operational matters.

3.3 In January 2010, the Council appointed a consultant with extensive 
experience in the management of cultural venues and activities as the 
interim Head of Arts and Entertainments. Part of his remit was to review and 
reflect upon the recommendations of the RGA report and prepare an initial 
action plan.

3.3 The Council has since restructured its senior management team, and 
the interim head of service, and the new Head of Arts and Recreation have 
worked together to propose an approach to deliver short and medium-term 
service improvement. 

3.4 Two working party meetings were arranged1 for members of Community 
Services Scrutiny Committee and representatives of other political parties to 
consider the original recommendations and the views of both the interim 
and new head of service.  The approach now proposed takes into account 
discussion held at both meetings. 

3.5 The recommended approach is outlined below under the original 
headings suggested by RGA Ltd. 

3.5.1 Governance 
!"In the medium term, the Corn Exchange will continue to be directly 

managed by the Council 
!"A Project Management Board comprising the Head of Service, 

Director of Customer and Community Services and the Executive 
Councillor for Arts and Recreation will be established to oversee 
service improvements, set targets and monitor performance 

!"A Performance Advisory Panel comprising elected members, officers 
and possibly external expertise will be established to enable oversight 
of cultural activity in relation to the Corn Exchange, and other arts 
venues grant aided by the council 

!"Strategic relationships with organisations such as Arts Council East, 
and important local providers will be strengthened and others explored 

!"Ongoing work on the Council's arts strategy will consider the role and 
direction of future cultural activity at the Corn Exchange 

1 6th September 2010 and 22nd September 2010 

Page 228



Report Page No: 3 

3.5.2 Management 
!"The Corn Exchange and Guildhall Hall's operations will be run as a 

stand-alone business unit within the arts and recreation service. The 
new in-house management structure will be identified as part of a 
restructure of the arts and recreation service. 

!"The restructure proposals will be brought forward under the Council's 
management of change policy in November 2010. It is anticipated that 
full implementation will be completed by July 2011. 

!"A clear and strategic three-year business plan with SMART income 
targets will be produced, overseen by the project management board

!"Clearer arrangements for financial management will be put in place. 
Cost centre management will be reviewed and a profit and loss 
account developed that directly links to the Council’s accountancy 
system.

3.5.3 Staffing 
!"The new structure will focus on delivering improvements throughout 

the Corn Exchange and Guildhall Halls business; also strengthening 
line management arrangements and creating service teams across 
the arts and recreation section.  

!"The restructure will provide for specialism where this is needed, 
consider combined functions where this is beneficial to the business, 
and highlight opportunities for better investment in people 

!"The restructure process will consider opportunities for efficiencies, as 
well as service improvements.  

3.5.4 Programming and marketing. 
!"A vision for programming policy will be developed  
!"This will be informed by research into audience development and 

improved strategic relationships with other providers and partners.   
!"The new policy will focus on improving the business, retaining quality 

and diversity, and a refreshed approach to marketing and branding. 
!"The project management board, in conjunction with the programme 

advisory panel, will oversee programming policy. 

3.5.5 Catering 
Recommendations in the June 2009 scrutiny report to withdraw   
daytime catering arrangements have already been fully implemented 
and other major improvements to the bar area made. 

3.5.6 Facilities 
!"A comprehensive asset management and improvement plan will be 

prepared for both the Corn Exchange and the Guildhall Halls. 
!"The business plan will consider how investment in routine and major 

capital improvements (for example, to air quality, sound and lighting 

Page 229



Report Page No: 4 

systems, also an energy audit) can be delivered in the short, medium 
and longer term

!"The Council will consider how strategic relationships and/or 
partnerships can potentially contribute to facility improvements 

3.5.7 Timescales 
!"The review of the Corn Exchange will be implemented in a two phases 

over 2.5 years.
!"Phase 1 will deliver organisational and financial restructure and will be 

completed by the summer of 2011.
!"Phase 2 will focus on improved service delivery and performance and 

will be completed by March 2013 

4. Implications 

4.1 Financial 
It is expected that the restructure will deliver savings.  However, it is not 
possible to quantify an exact amount at this stage 

4.2 Staffing 
The restructure will follow the council's management of change policy. Staff 
will be briefed on the approach and the policy in early October. Early 
engagement with both Unison and GMB unions has taken place. 

4.3 Equal Opportunities  
The final restructure proposals will be informed by an equality impact 
assessment

4.4  Environmental 
An energy audit is identified as a priority within the three-year business plan 

4.5 Community Safety 
There are no community safety implications 

5. Background papers 

The following background papers were used in preparing this report: 
!"Review of the Cambridge Corn Exchange (June 2009): Richard 

Gerald Associates Ltd (RGA) 
http://www.cambridge.gov.uk/public/councillors/agenda/2009/0625cs/18_1.pdf

!"Corn Exchange Review Report (June 2009): Liz Bisset, Director of 
Community Services 
http://www.cambridge.gov.uk/public/councillors/agenda/2009/0625cs/18.pdf

!"Minutes of Community Services Scrutiny Committee (June 2009) 
http://www.cambridge.gov.uk/public/councillors/minutes/2009/0625CS.pdf

!"Feedback from working group meetings 

Page 230



Report Page No: 5 

6. Appendices 

None

7. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: Debbie Kaye
Author’s Phone Number: 01223 - 457000
Author’s Email: debbie.kaye@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 231



Page 232

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 MInutes
	5 Seymour Court Scheme Approval
	Appendix 1 â•ﬁ Seymour Court Scheme Finance
	Appendix 2 - Seymour Court
	Appendix 3 - Project Appraisal and Scrutiny Committee Recommendation
	Appendix 4 - Seymour Court Project Key Milestones

	6 Private Sector Leasing (PSL) Procurement
	7 LAA Performance Report 2009/10: Community Wellbeing Partnership
	9 Review of Safer City Grants
	Appendix A - Safer City grant scheme  Applications 2007 10

	10 LAA Performance Report 2009/10: Cambridgeshire Children's Trust board
	11 LAA Performance Report 2009/10: Safer and Stronger Partnership
	12 Contracts for the supply of production Services to the Folk Festival in financial years 2011-2013
	13 Proposals for the improvement and enhancement of Cherry Hinton Hall
	Appendix A - Masterplan
	Appendix B - City Farm Proposal
	Appendix C - Consultation on the Masterplan 2010
	Appendix D - Understanding usage, needs, and improvements at Cherry Hinton Hall
	Appendix E - Provisional Master Plan Estimates

	14 Cambridge Allotments â•ﬁ A Management Policy
	Appendix A - Draft Allotment Allocations Policy

	15 Project Appraisal - Kelsey Kerridge Climbing wall project: Additional funding request
	16 Project Appraisal - Canoe Club extension: Additional funding request
	17 Cambridge Corn Exchange Review

